University of New Mexico UNM Digital Repository

Biomedical Sciences ETDs

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

5-1-2012

Prenatal Alcohol Exposure Effects on NMDA Receptor Subunit Composition and Function in the Mouse Dentate Gyrus

Megan Brady

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/biom_etds

Recommended Citation

Brady, Megan. "Prenatal Alcohol Exposure Effects on NMDA Receptor Subunit Composition and Function in the Mouse Dentate Gyrus." (2012). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/biom_etds/48

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Biomedical Sciences ETDs by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

Megan Brady

Candidate

Biomedical Sciences

Department

This dissertation is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication:

Approved by the Dissertation Committee:

Kevin K. Caldwell, Ph.D.

Andrea Allan, Ph.D.

Diane Lidke, Ph.D.

Daniel Savage, Ph.D.

C. William Shuttleworth, Ph.D.

Prenatal Alcohol Exposure Effects on NMDA Receptor Subunit Composition and Function in the Mouse Dentate Gyrus

by

Megan Brady

B.S. Biochemistry, Marquette University, 2002

DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy Biomedical Sciences

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

May 2012

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Kevin Caldwell. Thank you for believing in me, supporting me and guiding me through such an important part of my career. I have learned so much from you, both about science and about life. Your enthusiasm for science and learning has inspired me and, at times, kept me going through the rough patches. You have made this journey an incredible experience.

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Andrea Allan, who provided additional guidance with development of the animal model and for statistical analyses, and C. Fernando Valenzuela, who welcomed me into his lab and taught me the methods for the electrophysiological studies performed in this dissertation. Your knowledge and support was invaluable throughout this project. In addition, I would like to thank the other members of my Dissertation committee – Dr. Diane Lidke, Dr. Dan Savage, and Dr. Bill Shuttleworth. Your continual support, thoughtful discussion, and dedication were instrumental in the development and completion of this project.

I am sincerely grateful to Sabrina Samudio-Ruiz, former Caldwell lab member, for her continued support throughout my dissertation work. You taught me how to work in a lab, and even after leaving the lab, you have been there for guidance and support. I would also like to thank Ebany Martinez-Finley, David Leonard, Samantha Goggin, and Matt Labrecque for helping take care of my animals, assisting with experiments, and offering scientific advice.

I would also like to thank the Shuttleworth lab members, both past and present, for accepting me into their lab meetings, and the Valenzuela lab, for accepting me into your lab for the electrophysiological experiments. I am extremely grateful for your advice, thoughtful insight, and encouragement throughout this process.

I would like express my appreciation to the faculty and staff of the Neuroscience Department for their support and enthusiasm, and for fostering an environment that promotes the development of scientific thought. I would particularly like to thank Charles LeBlanc for his assistance with my fellowship application and Buz Tyler for technical support thoughout my graduate studies.

Lastly, I would like to thank my family and friends for supporting me throughout this process. Thank you for sharing in my enthusiasm when things were going well, and for understanding and listening when they weren't.

PRENATAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE EFFECTS ON NMDA RECEPTOR SUBUNIT COMPOSITION AND FUNCTION IN THE MOUSE DENTATE GYRUS

By

Megan Brady

B.S. Biochemistry Marquette University, 2002

Ph.D. Biomedical Sciences University of New Mexico, 2012

ABSTRACT

Moderate prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) in humans leads to learning and memory impairments later in life. The range of physical, behavioral, emotional, and social dysfunctions that are associated with PAE are collectively termed fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD). It is estimated that approximately 12% of women consume alcohol at some time during their pregnancy and as many as 5% of children born in the United States are impacted by PAE. Extensive research has shown that even moderate maternal drinking (1-2 drinks per day) is, in some individuals, associated with cognitive and behavioral deficits.

Existing models for PAE have been useful in studying the effects of moderate exposure, including its effect on hippocampal learning and memory; however, these models often include factors, such as stress or malnutrition issues, that can confound results. To date, most studies on the behavioral consequences of PAE have focused on overall hippocampal-dependent behavioral deficits, withouth attempting to determine whether the impairment may be attributed to altered functioning of a subregion (e.g. the dentate gyrus) of the hippocampus. In contrast, biochemical and electrophysiological studies have identified dysfunctions in the hippocampal subregions. In the dentate gyrus, long term potentiation (LTP), which is considered to be a cellular mechanism of learning, is impaired in animals prenatally exposed to alcohol, as is *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor (NMDAR)-dependent activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK 1/2), which is important for LTP. This dissertation tested the hypothesis that PAE leads to impairments in dentate gyrus-dependent learning and memory, which is associated with NMDA receptor – dependent LTP deficits and NMDA receptor subunit composition alterations in the dentate gyrus.

A limited access PAE model in mice was developed, producing moderate ethanol intake in dams with no evident effect on litter size, pup weight, dam food and water intake, maternal weight gain, or maternal care. In addition, although PAE mice exhibited no differences in spontaneous locomotor activity compared to controls, they did demonstrate hippocampal-dependent fear conditioned learning deficits, similar to those seen previously in the literature. They also exhibited deficits in a delayed non-match to place (DNMP) task that was dentate gyrus-dependent, indicating that PAE does produce dentate gyrus impairments. Further studies using electrophysiological techniques found that PAE mice had deficits in NMDAR-dependent LTP in the dentate gyrus, as well as a reduced contribution of GluN2B-containing receptors to NMDAR-dependent field recordings. Biochemical subcellular fractionation and immunoblotting experiments found that, compared to controls, PAE mice had increased C2⁻-containing GluN1 and GluN3A subunits and decreased GluN2B subunit levels in the synaptic membrane fraction isolated from the dentate gyrus. These results indicate that PAE does indeed produce a dentate gyrus-dependent deficits in learning and memory, and this deficit is likely due to alterations in synaptic plasticity that result from changes in the NMDAR subunit composition at the synaptic membrane. These studies provide the basis for several future studies that aim to explore the impact of PAE on the control of NMDAR levels, trafficking, and function.

Acknowledgements	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
Table of Contents	vii
List of Figures	X
List of Tables	xii
1. Prenatal alcohol exposure and the Dentate Gyrus	1
1.1 Prenatal alcohol: incidence in human populations	1
1.1.1 Effects of PAE in humans	2
1.1.2 Effects in animal models	3
1.2 Prenatal alcohol exposure affects the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus	4
1.2.1 The Dentate gyrus – Anatomy and function	6
1.2.2 Development of the Dentate Gyrus	10
1.2.3 Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on the dentate gyrus	10
1.3 Summary	11
2. NMDA Receptors and LTP in the Dentate Gyrus	12
2.1 Long term potentiation (LTP) is the cellular mechanism for learning and memory	12
2.2 The NMDA Receptor	14
2.2.1 The NMDA receptor: general information	14
2.2.2 NMDA receptor expression during development	16
2.2.3 Localization and trafficking of the NMDA receptor	17
2.3 NMDAR, learning and memory, and LTP	22
2.3.1 NMDAR and learning	22
2.3.2 NMDAR and LTP	24
2.4 The Effects of PAE on LTP and the NMDA Receptor	29
2.4.1 The Effects of PAE on the NMDA Receptor	29
2.4.2 Effects of PAE on LTP	31
2.5 Summary	32
3. Research rationale, hypothesis, specific aims	33
3.1 Hypothesis	34
4. A Limited Access Mouse Model of Prenatal Alcohol Exposure that Produces	
Long-lasting Deficits in Hippocampal-dependent Learning and Memory	37
4.1 Introduction	40
4.2 Methods and Materials	41
4.2.1 Animals	41

Table of Contents

	42
4.2.3 Blood ethanol concentration measurements	43
4.2.4 Litter size and offspring weight	44
4.2.5 Characterization of maternal care	44
4.2.6 Locomotor activity	44
4.2.7 Delay fear conditioning	45
4.2.8 Trace fear conditioning	45
4.2.9 Delay non-match to place spatial memory	46
4.2.10 Statistical Analysis	48
4.3 Results	49
4.3.1 Ethanol consumption and BEC levels	49
4.3.2 Food and water consumption	50
4.3.3 Offspring weight and litter size	53
4.3.4 Maternal care	53
4.3.5 Locomotor activity	53
4.3.6 Delay fear conditioning	54
4.3.7 Trace fear conditioning	55
4.3.8 Radial Arm Maze	56
4.4 Discussion	58
5. Moderate Prenatal Alcohol Exposure Reduces Plasticity and Alters NM	DA
Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	64
Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	64
 5.1 Introduction	64 66 67
 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Materials and Methods 5.2.1 Prenatal alcohol exposure paradigm 	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Materials and Methods 5.2.1 Prenatal alcohol exposure paradigm 5.2.2 Electrophysiological Recordings 5.2.3 Synaptic and extrasynaptic fraction preparation and immunoblotting of NMDA rec subunits 5.2.4 Sample collection and data analysis 5.3 Results 5.4 Discussion 6.1 Summary of Findings 6.2 Interpretation and Significance of Results 6.2.1 Significance of the NMDA receptor subunit alterations and LTP deficit 	
 Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Materials and Methods 5.2.1 Prenatal alcohol exposure paradigm 5.2.2 Electrophysiological Recordings 5.2.3 Synaptic and extrasynaptic fraction preparation and immunoblotting of NMDA rec subunits 5.2.4 Sample collection and data analysis 5.3 Results 5.4 Discussion 6.1 Summary of Findings 6.2 Interpretation and Significance of Results 6.2.1 Significance of PAE model 6.2.2 Significance of the NMDA receptor subunit alterations and LTP deficit 	

6.5 Summary	
Appendix A: Supplemental Data	
Abbreviations Used	
References	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 The hippocampus and associated pathways
Figure 1.2 The Dentate Gyrus
Figure 4.1. Average ethanol consumption
Figure 4.2. Correlation of blood alcohol concentrations (BECs) to the amount of ethanol consumed by
female mice
Figure 4.3. Food and water consumption by saccharin (SAC) control group and ethanol (EtOH) drinking
group before and during pregnancy
Figure 4.4. Effect of prenatal ethanol exposure on locomotor activity
Figure 4.5. Effect of prenatal ethanol exposure on contextual fear learning and memory
Figure 4.6. Effect of prenatal ethanol exposure paradigm on trace fear learning and memory
Figure 4.7. Effect of prenatal ethanol exposure paradigm on a delayed non-matching to place radial arm
maze (RAM) task
Figure 5.1Moderate prenatal alcohol exposure (MPAE) impairs N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR)-
dependent long term potentiation (LTP) and reduces GluN2B-containing NMDAR contribution to
fEPSPs in the dentate gyrus72
Figure 5.2. Method and characterization of subcellular fractionation technique74
Figure 5.3. Moderate prenatal alcohol exposure (MPAE) leads to alterations of N-methyl-D-aspartate
receptor (NMDAR) subunit levels in the synaptic fraction of the dentate gyrus
Figure 6.1. Model of PAE effects on NMDAR subunit composition and LTP in the dentate gyrus90
Figure A1. PAE alters the association of mGluR5 and GluN2B with PSD-95 in the hippocampus
Figure A2. Dose response of mGluR5/GluN2B association as measured by co-immunoprecipitation
following hippocampal slice activation with 0, 25, 50, and 100µM NMDA114
Figure A3. Semiquantitative immunoblotting analysis for mGluR5 levels in the dentate gyrus from SAC
and PAE animals115
Figure A4. Linear range determination in TxP fractions for GluN1, GluN2A, GluN2B, and PSD-95116
Figure A5. LTP protocols

gure A6. A number of LTD protocols were tested in <i>in vitro</i> slices from naïve animals in the MPP-DG	
pathway1	18
gure A7. The ratio of GluN2A/GluN2B in the synaptic membrane in PAE animals in increased1	19
gure A8. PAE does not alter NMDAR subunit mRNA levels in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus.	
1	21
gure A9. NMDAR subunit levels are altered in a crude synaptosomal membrane fraction from the	
dentate gyrus of PAE animals1	22
gure A10. Basal synaptic transmission is unaltered in PAE mice1	25
gure A11. Prenatal alcohol exposure does not significantly alter NMDAR subunit levels in the	
extrasynaptic fraction1	26

List of Tables

Table 4.1	Maternal Care and Offspring Data from Two to Four Different Breeding Rounds	
Table A8.	1 Primers used for RT-PCR study	120

1. Prenatal alcohol exposure and the Dentate Gyrus

1.1 Prenatal alcohol: incidence in human populations

In both humans and laboratory animal models, exposure to alcohol during development has been shown to cause a multitude of dose-dependent effects on the structure and function of the central nervous system, with the extent of damage being dependent on the pattern and chronicity of the exposure and the stage(s) of development during which it occurs (Queen et al., 1993; Miller, 1996; Goodlett and Johnson, 1997; Kelly and Richards, 1998; Sood et al., 2001; Savage et al., 2002; Mooney and Miller, 2009). Additionally, the effects of prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) on the brain display regional variability (Guerri, 1998; Willford et al., 2004), with the hippocampus being particularly sensitive to the damaging effects of the exposure (Berman and Hannigan, 2000; Hamilton et al., 2003; Sakata-Haga et al., 2003; Sluyter et al., 2005). The range of physical, behavioral, emotional and social dysfunctions that are associated with PAE are collectively termed fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) (Kelly et al., 2000; Streissguth and O'Malley, 2000). It is estimated that use of any alcohol during pregnancy is about 12% (Floyd et al., 2009), with the incidence of newborns displaying prenatal alcohol-related damage as high as 5% in the United States (May et al., 2009). While heavy and binge (five or more drinks in a single episode) patterns of drinking during pregnancy are associated with the development of the most severe form of PAE, termed Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (FAS) (Jones and Smith, 1973; Clarren and Smith, 1978), extensive research shows that even moderate maternal drinking (1-2 drinks per day) is, in some individuals, associated with cognitive and behavioral deficits, often revealed only

under stressful or challenging conditions (Streissguth et al., 1990; Streissguth et al., 1994; Willford et al., 2004).

1.1.1 Effects of PAE in humans

As mentioned above, the effect of PAE on humans depends on the amount and the timing of the exposure. Children diagnosed with FAS must have confirmed maternal alcohol exposure, evidence of a characteristic pattern of minor facial anomalies, evidence of prenatal and/or postnatal growth retardation, and evidence of deficient brain growth or abnormal morphogenesis (Hoyme et al., 2005). However, as implied by the term spectrum disorder, there is a range of deficits, and severity, for those with PAE, which are classified as partial FAS and alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder (ARND) (Mattson et al., 2011). These diagnoses, which typically involve moderate PAE (MPAE), often also exhibit neurodevelopmental abnormalities, although not as severe as those seen in FAS. Studies on children and adolescents have found moderate PAE may lead to decreased IQ scores, attention deficits, verbal and non-verbal learning and memory impairments, working memory deficits, and executive function impairments (Streissguth et al., 1994; Richardson et al., 2002b; Willford et al., 2004; Mattson et al., 2011). In addition, one study using MRI to study the corpus callosum in PAE adults and controls found higher variability in the size, volume, and shape in PAE adults (reviewed in (Chen et al., 2003)). These, and other studies, indicate that PAE can have long-lasting effects on brain structure and function in humans, even when exposure is considered moderate.

1.1.2 Effects in animal models

1.1.2.1 <u>Animal models of prenatal alcohol exposure</u>

Animal models are useful tools to determine the mechanisms and outcomes of PAE, given that their physiological responses to alcohol are similar to those seen in humans (Hannigan and Abel, 1996). When designing an animal model of PAE, several factors need to be taken into consideration, including the age of exposure, the species used, the frequency and duration of exposure, and the method of administration (Thompson et al 2009). Existing rodent models for PAE employ various lengths and routes of administration, as well as a range of ethanol doses (Costa et al., 2000; Cudd, 2005). One of the more widely used PAE models uses ethanol-containing liquid diets, which limits food and water consumption (Berman and Hannigan, 2000). Ethanol is added to the diet, typically accounting for either 18% or 35% of the total caloric intake. Another commonly used method of administration is intragastric gavage, where the dams, or occasionally the pups, are intubated with ethanol solution (Berman and Hannigan, 2000). These methods commonly target the first and second trimester equivalent of human pregnancy in the rodents, although gavage can also target the third trimester equivalent. Although these methods often achieve moderate to high blood ethanol concentrations (BECs), they often elicit maternal stress and malnutrition, which may confound the results (Ward and Wainwright, 1989a; Slone and Redei, 2002). A newer model of PAE, which involves voluntary oral consumption of a sweetened ethanol solution, limits maternal stress and malnutrition issues (Allan et al., 2003).

Another important consideration when interpreting results from PAE studies are the BEC levels achieved. As mentioned above, intragastric gavage and liquid diet achieve moderate-to-high BECs, whereas voluntary oral consumption reaches low-tomoderate BECs. Studies have shown that the timing during gestation of PAE, the level of BECs reached, and the chronicity of exposure influences the severity the damage that is produced (Goodlett and Johnson, 1997; Guerri, 1998; Sood et al., 2001; Mooney and Miller, 2009). These factors must be considered when comparing results from different PAE paradigms.

1.1.2.2 <u>Behavioral effects of PAE in animal models</u>

Similar to the clinical presentation of PAE in humans, PAE causes a wide range of impairments in animal models, where PAE has been shown to be associated with increased learned helplessness, depression (Carneiro et al., 2005; Caldwell et al., 2008), increased seizure activity (Bonthius et al., 2001), increased ethanol consumption and preference (Barbier et al., 2009), and decreased sensitivity to the sedative effects of ethanol (Boehm et al., 2008; Barbier et al., 2009) in the offspring. In addition, PAE has been shown to produce spatial learning deficits in several tasks, including spatial alternation tasks (Incerti et al., 2010), Morris water maze (Richardson et al., 2002a; Christie et al., 2005; Savage et al., 2010), trace fear conditioning (Hunt et al., 2009), and contextual fear conditioning (Allan et al., 2003; Savage et al., 2010), all of which are hippocampal-dependent.

1.2 Prenatal alcohol exposure affects the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus

Although it was initially believed that *in utero* exposure to alcohol damaged all portions of the brain equally, later studies showed that certain regions of the brain, especially the hippocampal formation, are more vulnerable to the effects of prenatal

alcohol(Guerri, 1998; Berman and Hannigan, 2000; Chen et al., 2003). Previous studies have shown that pre- and post-natal alcohol exposure can reduce cell numbers (Guerri, 1998), alter receptor levels and binding (Savage et al., 1991; Galindo et al., 2004; Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2010), affect neurotropic factors essential for normal brain development (Caldwell et al., 2008; Miki et al., 2008), and impair hippocampal-dependent learning and memory (see above).

The hippocampal formation, which is considered part of the limbic system, consists of the hippocampus, dentate gyrus, subiculum, presubiculum, parasubiculum, and entorhinal cortex (reference). The hippocampus is divided into regions that are classified as the cornu ammonis (CA) fields (CA1, CA2, CA3); many investigators also include the dentate gyrus as part of the hippocampus. The hippocampus is generally considered a trisynaptic circuit, with the major input received from the entorhinal cortex, synapsing onto the dentate gyrus via the perforant path. The dentate gyrus sends afferents to the CA3 region via the mossy fiber pathway, and the CA3 synapses onto the CA1 region via the Schaffer collaterals. The CA1, in turn, sends the main hippocampal output back to the subiculum and entorhinal cortex, thus forming a loop (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1 The hippocampus and associated pathways.

Although considerable attention has focused on the function of the Schaffer collaterals – CA1 pathway in learning, and the effects of PAE on this region of the hippocampus, less research has focused on the effect of PAE on the dentate gyrus, which plays an important role in hippocampal function.

<u>1.2.1 The Dentate gyrus – Anatomy and function</u>

The dentate gyrus is the site of efferent input into the hippocampus. It consists of three major layers – the molecular layer, the granule cell layer, and the hilus, or polymorphic layer (Figure 1.2). The hilus consists of several cell types, including the mossy cells, which are glutamatergic and form the commissural/associational connections (commissural projections not found in the primate brain), and the pyramidal basket cell, which are GABAergic interneurons that play a role in feedback inhibition. The granule cell layer primarily contains the dentate granule cells, which are the primary cells of the

dentate gyrus. These cells have an elliptical cell body, and are densely packed into this layer (Amaral et al., 2007b). These cells form the blades of the dentate gyrus, the suprapyramidal and infrapyramidal blades, located above and below the pyramidal cell layer of the CA3, respectively (Amaral et al., 2007b).



Figure 1.2 The Dentate Gyrus

The granule cells project their dendrites into the molecular layer, receiving the major excitatory input of the dentate gyrus, and the hippocampus, from the entorhinal cortex. The molecular layer consists of three subsections – the inner molecular layer, the middle molecular layer, and the outer molecular layer. The outer two molecular layers receive inputs primarily from layer II of the entorhinal cortex, with the medial entorhinal cortex extending to the middle molecular layer to form the medial perforant path (MPP), and the lateral entorhinal cortex extending to the outer molecular layer to form the medial perform the lateral

perforant path (LPP) (Witter, 2007). These pathways, while both generally considered glutamatergic, have other distinct receptor expression and electrophysiological properties, allowing them to signal differently to the granule cell layer (Witter, 2007). The inner third molecular layer receives its inputs from cells located in the hilus, primarily the mossy cell, which are immunoreactive for glutamate (Soriano and Frotscher, 1994). Although the molecular layer primarily consists of dendrites from the granule cells and hilus cells, as well as axon projections from the entorhinal cortex, the molecular layer also contains neurons, primarily the molecular layer perforant path-associated cell (MOPP), which are immunoreactive for GABAergic markers and likely provide inhibitory control of granule cells (Amaral et al., 2007a).

The dentate gyrus is believed to play several roles in the hippocampus, one of which is pattern separation, or the ability to produce separate representations of different, but similar, places (Kesner, 2007). The idea that the dentate gyrus plays a role in this function comes from its anatomy. Pattern separation may be facilitated by the sparse connections that the dentate gyrus granule cells make with the CA3 pyramidal cells via the mossy fibers. There is a low probability that any two CA3 neurons will receive mossy fiber inputs from a similar subset of dentate gyrus cells (Rolls, 1996). A critical role for the dentate gyrus in spatial learning has been demonstrated in studies showing that lesions of the dentate gyrus result in deficits similar to those produced by complete hippocampal lesions in spatial tasks (Walsh et al., 1986; Tilson et al., 1988). To determine the dentate gyrus' more specific role in pattern separation, a delayed non-match to sample task was designed to test discrimination between two similar spatial locations (Gilbert et al., 2001). Animals with dentate gyrus-specific lesions showed

impairments in this task compared to controls, implicating the dentate gyrus in pattern separation. Another study found that minimal changes in the shape of an environment can alter correlated activity patterns among place-modulated granule cells in the dentate gyrus, implicating the role of the dentate gyrus in pattern separation (Leutgeb et al., 2007).

The dentate gyrus is also one of two locations in the adult brain that exhibit adult neurogenesis, which occurs in the subgranular zone (SGZ), at the border of the hilus and dentate granule cell layer. This region contains stem cells that can proliferate and differentiate to give rise to new neurons. These neurons migrate into the granule cell layer and integrate into the existing circuitry, extending axons to the CA3 region (Stanfield and Trice, 1988) and initially having lower thresholds for long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD) (Schmidt-Hieber et al., 2004), considered to be important for learning and memory. Neurogenesis is regulated by a number of factors, including hormones, neurotransmitters, age, and exercise (reviewed in Parent, 2007). Although the functions of adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus are unclear, several studies have shown that it plays a role in learning and memory. Disruption of neurogenesis via irradiation has been shown to disrupt learning in a dentate gyrus-specific delayed non-match to place radial arm maze pattern separation task (Clelland et al., 2009). In addition, stimulation of adult neurogenesis, either by environmental enrichment or by genetic manipulation, has been shown to improve learning (Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2005; Sahay et al., 2011)

9

1.2.2 Development of the Dentate Gyrus

In humans, the dentate gyrus, similar to the rest of the hippocampus, begins development in the 13th-14th weeks of gestation, and continues after birth (Seress et al., 2001); in the rodent, development begins around embryonic day 13.5 (E13.5) and continues into the postnatal period (Li and Pleasure, 2007). At about E13.5, precursors migrate from the ventricular zone to the dentate notch, where they then form the suprapyramidal, then the infrapyramidal, blades of the dentate gyrus by about postnatal day 4 (PD4) (Frotscher et al., 2007; Li and Pleasure, 2007). Precursors also remain in a secondary proliferation zone which will later become the subgranular zone and the site of adult neurogenesis. Interestingly, afferents from the entorhinal cortex arrive in the region before the dentate granule cells form laminations, indicating that these afferents act independently of the target.

1.2.3 Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on the dentate gyrus

As mentioned above, PAE has been shown to have severe consequences on the function of the hippocampus, with most studies having focused on either the hippocampus as a whole or the CA1 region of the hippocampus. However, some studies have examined the effects of prenatal alcohol on the dentate gyrus. Impairments in adult neurogenesis after pre- or post-natal alcohol exposure have been reported. Choi *et al.* (2005) reported that moderate PAE reduced the neurogenic response to an enriched environment, but diod not alter the initial number of proliferating progenitors. Klintsova et al. (2007) showed that an early postnatal binge alcohol exposure (PD 4-9) reduced the number of mature neurons in the adult dentate gyrus. Similarly, several, but not all, studies have reported pre- and postnatal alcohol exposure decreases in overall cell

number in the dentate gyrus (reviewed in Gil-Mohapel et al., 2010). LTP has also been shown to be impaired in the dentate gyrus *in vivo* in rodents prenatally exposed to alcohol (Sutherland et al., 1997; Titterness and Christie, 2010; Varaschin et al., 2010). PAE has been associated with reductions in mGluR5 receptor number and function in adult rats (Galindo et al., 2004) and decreased extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK 1/2) phosphorylation after *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor activation in adult mice (Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2009).

1.3 Summary

PAE has a relatively high incidence in the US population, with estimates as high as 5%, and can cause significant deficiencies in offspring, even at moderate exposure levels. The dentate gyrus, which is important for pattern separation learning and is the site of adult neurogenesis, is particularly vulnerable to PAE, with studies showing neurophysiological and neurochemical alterations in dentate gyrus after *in utero* ethanol exposure. The mechanism behind these alterations, however, has yet to be determined, and is the focus of study for this dissertation.

2. NMDA Receptors and LTP in the Dentate Gyrus

2.1 Long term potentiation (LTP) is the cellular mechanism for learning and memory

LTP is the long-lasting, activity dependent increase in synaptic strength (Santos et al., 2009). The traditional form of LTP, or classical LTP, is N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor-dependent, occurs postsynaptically, and can be elicited throughout the brain, including in the dentate gyrus. LTP undergoes three main stages: LTP induction, LTP expression, and LTP maintenance (reviewed in Malenka and Bear, 2004). LTP induction occurs immediately after the stimulation protocol. Activation of the α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor by glutamate leads to postsynaptic depolarization, relieving the Mg²⁺ block of the NMDA receptor and allowing for the influx of Ca^{2+} into the cell. This Ca^{2+} acts as a second messenger, via regulation of the levls/activity of a number of downstream signaling molecules, such as protein kinase A (PKA), protein kinase C (PKC), cAMP, and calcium-calmodulin activated kinase II (CaMKII), which allows for the next stage of LTP, LTP expression. Signaling molecules generated during LTP induction lead to increased AMPA receptor trafficking to the surface, as well as phosphorylation of AMPA receptors already present; these events, in turn, lead to an increase in postsynaptic response to glutamate and, thus, potentiation. These changes would be short lived, however, if not for the third stage of LTP, LTP maintenance. During LTP maintenance, PKA, PKC, cAMP, and CaMKII go on to activate other signaling molecules, such as extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2(ERK1/2) and cAMP response element binding protein (CREB), which, in turn, translocate into the nucleus to regulate gene transcription. In addition, these signaling molecules may regulate localized protein translation in the dendrite. New protein synthesis and gene transcription are required for LTP maintenance, and result in a number of long-lasting changes to the spine, including cytoskeletal reorganization (Malenka and Bear, 2004).

As mentioned, LTP is believed to be the cellular basis for learning and memory, and several recent studies have supported this notion. Studies have demonstrated that inhibition of the signaling cascades that are necessary for LTP result in learning impairment. For example, when a dominant-negative form of PKA is expressed in mouse hippocampus, LTP is impaired, as is memory consolidation in a one trial per day water maze task (Malleret et al., 2010). α -CaMKII autophosphorylation has been shown to be increased by learning paradigms (Rodrigues et al., 2004). Similarly, mutant mice that have α -CaMKII subunits that are unable to undergo autophosphorylation experience deficits in passive avoidance learning (Irvine et al., 2005). A role for PKC in LTP is supported by the demonstration that PKC is activated in hippocampal cells during associative learning (Olds et al., 1989), transfection of a constitutively active catalytic domain of PKC in the dentate gyrus of aged rats improved performance in the Morris water maze relative to controls (Zhang et al., 2009), and PKCy knockout mice exhibit deficits in fear conditioning (Weeber et al., 2000). Further studies have tried to relate LTP directly to the process of learning. LTP induction in the dentate gyrus has been shown to disrupt acquisition of new spatial memories, but not of already-established memories (McNaughton et al., 1986; Moser et al., 1998); evoked potentials recorded in vivo from the dentate gyrus during an operant training protocol found a significant increase in population spikes over the course of training compared to non-training controls (Skelton et al., 1987); and in vivo recordings of field extracellular postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs) in the CA1 demonstrated an increase in slope after inhibitory avoidance training but not in controls (Whitlock et al., 2006). These data indicate that synaptic plasticity, particularly LTP, is an important aspect of learning and memory; however, there is some evidence that spatial learning may occur without LTP (Saucier and Cain, 1995).

2.2 The NMDA Receptor

2.2.1 The NMDA receptor: general information

As mentioned above, activation of the NMDA receptor is important for classical LTP, at least in part due to its Ca^{2+} -permeability, which allows for activation of the downstream signaling molecules responsible for LTP. NMDA receptors are critical components of excitatory neurotransmission and plasticity in the mammalian central nervous system (Cull-Candy et al., 2001). NMDA receptors are cation channels, which in addition to being permeable to Ca^{2+} are permeable to Na^{+} and K^{+} ; opening of the channel leads to membrane depolarization (Hardingham and Bading, 2003). Additional features of NMDA receptors include the presence of a voltage-sensitive Mg²⁺ block of the ion channel, the requirement of a co-agonist, glycine, their sensitivity to endogenous Zn^{2+} modulators (e.g., and polyamines), relatively ligands and slow activation/deactivation kinetics, and the ability to interact with various intracellular signaling molecules (Cull-Candy et al., 2001).

Functional NMDA receptors are heteromeric tetramers composed of two obligatory GluN1 subunits along with modulatory GluN2 (A-D) or GluN3 (A-B) subunits (Cull-Candy et al., 2001; Ron, 2004; Paoletti and Neyton, 2007). Each subunit consists of a large extracellular N-terminus; three hydrophobic transmembrane domains (TM1, TM3, and TM4) and a transmembrane segment (TM2) making a loop within the membrane and which contribute to the formation of the channel pore; and an intracellular C-terminal tail, which plays a role in intracellular signaling (Cull-Candy et al., 2001). Eight isoforms of the GluN1 subunit have been identified, arising from alternative splicing of a single gene. These splice variants arise from three different splice sites, producing three different cassette inserts: the N1 cassette, located in the N-terminus, and the C1 and C2/C2' cassettes, located in the C-terminal tail (Al-Hallaq et al., 2001). In contrast, GluN2 and GluN3 subunits are encoded by six separate genes (Paoletti and Neyton, 2007). Although NMDA receptors are conventionally believed to form diheterotetramers (e.g., GluN1/GluN2A), there is evidence that NMDA receptors can exist as triheterotetramers incorporating two types of NR2 subunits- i.e., GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2B (Thomas et al., 2006; Paoletti and Neyton, 2007). Initially, it was estimated that approximately two-thirds of the GluN2A-containing and GluN2Bcontaining NMDA receptors on the surface of hippocampal cells are associated as GluN1/GluN2A or GluN1/GluN2B diheterotetrameric complexes and the remaining onethird are associated as triheterotetrameric complexes of GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2B (Al-Hallaq et al., 2007); however, a recent study, using electrophysiological techniques, determined that triheterotetramers may constitute the primary NMDAR subtype at adult hippocampal synapses (Rauner and Kohr, 2011). This difference in diheterotetrameric vs. triheterotetrameric may play a large role in determining the functionality of the receptor at the synapse.

2.2.2 NMDA receptor expression during development

The expressions of the different NMDAR subunits vary throughout development, and have been primarily characterized in rodents. GluN1 subunit expression begins around E14, peaking in the third postnatal week and then decreases to adult levels (Laurie and Seeburg, 1994; Paupard et al., 1997). The expression of the different splice variants, although exhibiting variations across different brain regions, generally does not change through development. The GluN1-1a (corresponding to the splice variant containing the N1, C1, and C2 cassettes), GluN1-2a (corresponding to the splice variant containing the N1 and C2 cassettes), and GluN1-4a (corresponding to the splice variant containing the N1 and C2' cassettes) are the most abundantly expressed GluN1 splice variants in the hippocampus (Paupard et al., 1997).

The GluN2 subunits exhibit differential expression in the brain throughout development (Ewald and Cline, 2009). At about E14, GluN2B and GluN2D expression begins at low levels, peaking at around PD7, with GluN2B expressed at higher levels than GluN2D in the hippocampus. GluN2D expression eventually decreases to very low levels in the adult hippocampus. Around the first postnatal week, expression of GluN2A in the hippocampus begins, peaking in the third postnatal week and gradually declining to adult levels. GluN2C is primarily expressed in the cerebellum, peaking at PD12 and is expressed at high levels throughout adulthood.

Electrophysiological recordings have also confirmed developmental changes to GluN2 subunit levels, focusing primarily on the developmental switch between GluN2B and GluN2A subunits. The GluN2A subunit confers lower glutamate sensitivity, faster decay times, and lower open probabilities to the NMDA receptor compared to the GluN2B subunit, while GluN2B has been shown to have a longer current duration and contribute more to the Ca^{2+} load (Lau and Zukin, 2007). During development, the expression of primarily GluN2B-containing NMDARs leads to longer decay kinetics in electrophysiological recordings, which gradually shorten with age due to the increased expression of GluN2A (Cull-Candy et al., 2001; Ewald and Cline, 2009).

GluN3 subunit levels change dramatically over development. GluN3A is expressed at low levels in the embryo, peaking early in the postnatal period and decreasing into adulthood, while GluN3B levels are low postnatally and increase into adulthood (Henson et al., 2010). These expression profiles are seen in many regions of the brain, including the hippocampus. Interestingly, the GluN3A subunit has been shown to form heterotrimers with GluN1 and GluN2 subunits, leading to reduced Mg^{2+} sensitivity, reduced Ca^{2+} permeability, and alterations in open probabilities and decay kinetics (Henson et al., 2010), which may alter the function of NMDARs during development.

2.2.3 Localization and trafficking of the NMDA receptor

The NMDA receptor is trafficked to the surface in several different manners, typically dependent on the subunit composition of the receptor. Initially, it was believed that each GluN1 splice variant expresses an endoplasmic reticulum (ER) retention (ERR) signal, keeping it in the ER until it combines with a GluN2 or GluN3 subunit, which covers the ERR and allows for forward trafficking (Hall and Soderling, 1997). However, several papers have demonstrated that only GluN1-1 is primarily retained intracellularly, while other GluN1 splice variants have been shown to reach the surface when expressed

in heterologous systems (Okabe et al., 1999; Standley et al., 2000). Furthermore, Horak and Wenthold (2009) showed that there are two independent ERR motifs present in the C1 cassette, and C2 has an additional inhibitory effect on forward trafficking, while the C0 (the portion of the GluN1 C-terminus found in all splice variants) and C2' cassettes enhance trafficking to the surface. Thus, the specific expression of GluN1 splice variants can alter the trafficking of the NMDA receptor. ERR signals have been identified in both GluN2A (Qiu et al., 2009) and GluN2B (Horak et al., 2008), although these signals are masked when the subunit is complexed with GluN1. GluN2/GluN3 heterodimers are also retained in the ER until combining with GluN1 (Perez-Otano et al., 2001).

The NMDA receptor is trafficked to the surface in endosomes from the trans-Golgi network (TGN) via kinesin motor proteins on polarized microtubules and exocytosed to the cell surface via the SNARE machinery (reviewed in Petralia et al., 2009). Typically, the receptor is accompanied by a chaperone protein, typically a PDZ domain-containing protein that binds primarily to the GluN2 subunit. SAP97 and CASK, two PDZ-containing proteins, have been shown act together to use an alternative secretory pathway to traffic the NMDA receptor to the surface quicker than the traditional secretory pathway (Jeyifous et al., 2009). SAP102, another PDZ domaincontaining protein, has also been shown to play a role in NMDA receptor trafficking (Sans et al., 2003; Sans et al., 2005).

Once at the surface, the NMDA receptor can be localized either within or outside of the synapse. The receptors are primarily inserted into the extrasynaptic membrane, and can then travel laterally within the cell membrane into the synapse (Lau and Zukin, 2007), although there is some evidence that they can directly enter the post-synaptic density (PSD) or perisynaptic membrane (Petralia et al., 2009). The localization of the NMDAR is important because it may determine the downstream signaling to which the receptor can couple, and thus affect the role that the receptor plays. Synaptic NMDA receptors have been associated with ERK1/2 and CREB activation (Hardingham et al., 2002; Ivanov et al., 2006; Mulholland et al., 2008), which are associated both with cell survival and LTP. Conversely, extrasynaptic NMDA receptors have been associated with ERK1/2 and CREB deactivation, and may result in excitotoxicity (Hardingham et al., 2002; Ivanov et al., 2006; Mulholland et al., 2008). It has been shown that a number of factors dictate whether the NMDA receptor remains in the extrasynaptic membrane or translocates to the synaptic membrane. Some studies have suggested that GluN2Bcontaining receptors are more likely to be retained in the extrasynaptic membrane, while GluN2A-containing receptors are more likely to move to the synaptic membrane (Tovar and Westbrook, 1999); however, recent evidence indicates that levels of both subunits are equally distributed in both fractions (Harris and Pettit, 2007). In addition, the extracellular matrix protein Reelin (Groc et al., 2007) and the adhesion protein EphB2 (Nolt et al., 2011), among others, have been shown to affect NMDA receptor subunit mobility, thereby controlling the localization.

Once the NMDA receptor is localized to the synaptic fraction, it is incorporated into a large, macromolecular signaling complex composed of synaptic scaffolding proteins and adaptor proteins, which help to link the receptor to downstream signaling molecules and maintain the receptor in the synapse (Lau and Zukin, 2007). The scaffolding proteins primarily consist of the PDZ domain-containing proteins PSD-95, PSD-93, and SAP102, which anchor the receptors to the synaptic membrane. PSD-95 has been shown to target GluN2B subunits to the synaptic membrane (Sans et al., 2003; Prybylowski et al., 2005). It has been shown, however, that GluN1 splice variants containing the C2' cassette also contain a PDZ binding domain, although whether it plays a role in trafficking and localization has yet to be determined (Standley et al., 2000).

Endocytosis of the NMDA receptor primarily occurs for receptors residing in the extrasynaptic membrane, via clathrin-coated pits. Endocytosis occurs both through the constitutive and the regulated pathway. Regulated endocytosis can be activated either by agonist binding to the NMDA receptor or indirectly via metabotropic glutatmate receptor (mGluR) activation (Snyder et al., 2001a; Nong et al., 2003). The internalization of the GluN2 subunits appears to occur by different pathways (reviewed in Petralia et al., 2009). Generally, internalization of the GluN2B subunit occurs by the AP-2 adaptor protein binding to a specific internalization motif on the C-terminus. Although the GluN2A C-terminus has a similar internalization motif, it does not appear to interact with AP-2 . This leads to more robust internalization of GluN2B subunits compared to GluN2A subunits. The different GluN2 subunits also follow different endocytic pathways. While both enter early endosomes, GluN2A subunits are processed through late endosomes and are degraded, while GluN2B subunits are recycled back to the surface .

Phosphorylation also plays a role in NMDA receptor trafficking and localization. Casein kinase II (CK2) has been shown to phosphorylate GluN2B at Ser1480 on the Cterminus, which disrupts the association of GluN2B with PSD-95, leading to decreased surface expression (Chung et al., 2004). Conversely, phosphorylation of Tyr1472 by Fyn, a Src family kinase (Prybylowski et al., 2005), on the GluN2B subunit promotes surface expression and prevents endocytosis (Goebel-Goody et al., 2009). Dephosphorylation, via protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs), also plays a role in NMDAR assembly. The phosphatase striatal–enriched tyrosine phosphatase (STEP) can directly dephosphorylate the Tyr1472 residue on GluN2B (Kurup et al., 2010), or dephosphorylate Fyn (Nguyen et al., 2002), also resulting in decreased phosphorylation at Tyr1472 on GluN2B, both leading to increased endocytosis. Surprisingly, inhibition of PTPs led to disassembly of GluN1, GluN2A, and GluN2B subunits of the NMDA receptor complex (Ferrani-Kile and Leslie, 2005), indicating that a balance of phosphorylation and desphosphorylation is required to maintain the NMDAR complex at the surface.

Phosphorylation has also been shown to play a role in NMDA receptor function (reviewed in Salter et al., 2009). PKC phosphorylates the GluN1 (Ser890 and Ser896), the GluN2A (Ser1416), and GluN2B (Ser 1303 and Ser1323) subunits, all of which may lead to enhancement of NMDAR currents, possibly by potentiating channel activity. PKA has also been shown to indirectly potentiate NMDAR currents by stimulation of Gprotein coupled receptors and directly via phosphorylation of GluN1, 2A, and 2B. Phosphorylation of NMDAR subunits by PKA and PKC has also been shown to inhibit the ERR signal retention, regulating forward trafficking. In addition, Src family kinases (SFKs) have been shown to play a large role in phosphorylation of NMDARs leading to potentiation. Application of exogenous Src or Fyn, or peptides that activate Src or Fyn, increases both NMDA-evoked currents and NMDA receptor-dependent excitatory postsynaptic currents (EPSCs) by directly phosphorylating GluN2A and/or GluN2B. SFKs are believed to be activated downstream of mGluR activation and PKC signaling (Heidinger et al., 2002), and have been found to be necessary for LTP induction (Lu et al., 1998).

2.3 NMDAR, learning and memory, and LTP

2.3.1 NMDAR and learning

Several studies have shown that NMDARs are critical for learning and memory (reviewed in Riedel et al., 2003). Most studies have focused on the role of the NMDAR in spatial memory. Blockage of NMDAR function by the antagonist MK-801 has been shown to impair contextual fear conditioning in rats when infused either into the dorsal or ventral hippocampus (Zhang et al., 2001; Bast et al., 2003). In addition, contextual fear conditioning was impaired in mice with an inducible CA1-specific NR1 knockout (Shimizu et al., 2000). Conversely, transgenic mice with overexpression of the NR2B subunit show an improvement in contextual fear conditioning as compared to wild type (Tang et al., 1999). Spatial memory has been shown to be impaired in the Morris water maze and an eight-arm radial arm maze task upon application of an NMDA antagonist, (Morris et al., 1986; Bischoff and Tiedtke, 1992), as well as in a spatial delayed alternation task (Watson et al., 2009). Some studies have shown NMDAR involvement in non-spatial learning tasks. NMDA infusion into the dorsal or ventral hippocampus also blocks auditory fear conditioning in addition to contextual fear conditioning (Zhang et al., 2001; Bast et al., 2003). Ro 25-6981, an NMDAR antagonist specific to those receptors containing the NR2B subunit, has been shown to impair learning in a trace conditioning paradigm (Valenzuela-Harrington et al., 2007), a procedure requiring temporal processing. Similarly, an inducible CA1-specific NR1 knockout in mice is associated with an impairment in trace fear conditioning (Huerta et al., 2000) and in a

nonspatial transverse patterning task (Rondi-Reig et al., 2001). Knockdown of the NR1 subunit using siRNA results in impaired performance in a passive avoidance task, whereas overexpression of the subunit results in better performance in the same task as compared to wild type (Kalev-Zylinska et al., 2009).

Many studies involving NMDARs' role in learning and memory have tried to determine at which time point during learning and memory formation NMDARs have a role, with conflicting results. It is generally agreed that there are three major stages of memory – acquisition or encoding, consolidation, and retrieval. Mice with the inducible CA1-specific GluN1 knockout have shown an inability to learn in several different tasks, implicating NMDAR's role in acquisition (Tsien et al., 1996; Shimizu et al., 2000; Rondi-Reig et al., 2001). Supporting this, application of NMDAR antagonists during the Morris water maze at time points just prior to either acquisition learning or retrieval demonstrated only acquisition impairments (Morris et al., 1986; Woodside et al., 2004). However, some studies implicate its role in both acquisition and retrieval (Ahlander et al., 1999; Shimizu et al., 2000; Yoshihara and Ichitani, 2004), while a recent study implicates it in retrieval, but not acquisition, in weanling rats (Watson and Stanton, 2009). Although some studies have shown no role for the NMDAR in consolidation (Yoshihara and Ichitani, 2004), one study has shown that NMDAR reactiviation is necessary for consolidation (Shimizu et al., 2000), although the uncertain time period for consolidation may limit the interpretations of these results. The reason for these differences in results is unclear. The timing of the pharmacological intervention may play a role – if not administered at the appropriate time, the window of opportunity to interfere with a certain aspect of memory may be missed. In addition, there may be differences in the role of
NMDARs in the timing of these stages in different types of learning; spatial memory may require the involvement of NMDARs at one specific stage, whereas non-spatial learning may require its involvement at another. In addition, NMDARs' interactions with other receptors, such as the AMPA receptor and mGluRs, may influence the extent of NMDAR's role in these processes. Further research is needed to determine NMDAR's precise role.

2.3.2 NMDAR and LTP

Given the role of NMDA receptors in some types of learning, it is not surprising that the NMDA receptor plays an important role in LTP. As mentioned previously, classical LTP, which has primarily been characterized at the Schaffer collaterals-CA1 pathway but is also present at the perforant path-dentate gyrus molecular layer pathway, is dependent on the NMDA receptor. Early studies showed that NMDA receptor antagonists, such as 2-amino-5-phosphonopentanoate (AP5) or MK-801, prevent the induction of LTP in the CA1 region *in vitro* and the dentate gyrus *in vivo* in rodents (Collingridge et al., 1983; Morris et al., 1986; Coan et al., 1987; Davis et al., 1992). In addition, mice lacking the GluN1 subunit exhibit reduced hippocampal LTP compared to control littermates (Sakimura et al., 1995). Given that the NMDA receptor requires both agonist activation, via presynaptic glutamate release, and release of the Mg²⁺ block, via postsynaptic depolarization, it functions well as a coincidence detector (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993).

2.3.2.1 Downstream signaling of the NMDA receptor important for LTP

One of the primary reasons that NMDA receptors are important for LTP is the receptor's permeability to Ca^{2+} . An important initial study showed that LTP could be prevented by postsynaptic intracellular injection of EGTA, a Ca^{2+} chelator (Lynch et al., 1983). Tetanic stimulation has also been shown to increase Ca^{2+} levels in dendritic spines (Muller and Connor, 1991), and a rise in Ca^{2+} lasting less than 3 seconds has been shown to be sufficient for LTP induction (Malenka et al., 1992). A study done by the Clapham lab showed that mimicking pre- and postsynaptic activation by pairing extracellular glutamate uncaging and postsynaptic depolarization resulted in a large residual Ca^{2+} influx that was not blocked by Cd^{2+} , a blocker of voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCCs), but was blocked by AP5, implicating NMDA receptors as a primary source of Ca^{2+} during LTP (Schiller et al., 1998). However, it is quite possible that other sources of Ca^{2+} , such as from intracellular stores or VGCCs, play a role in NMDA receptor-dependent LTP, since NMDA receptor activation can lead to mobilization of Ca^{2+} from these sources (Schiller et al., 1998; Emptage et al., 1999).

As mentioned earlier, Ca²⁺ influx is important because of its role as a second messenger, activating such downstream molecules such as CaMKII, PKA, and PKC. The NMDA receptor has also been linked to the activation of these molecules, likely though its role in Ca²⁺ influx. NMDA receptor-dependent activation of these molecules are important for the expression of LTP, with CaMKII and PKC implicated primarily with LTP induction, and PKA implicated in LTP maintenance (Malinow et al., 1989; Klann et al., 1991; Frey et al., 1993; Fukunaga et al., 1993; Matthies and Reymann, 1993; Ahmed and Frey, 2005). CaMKII has been shown to translocate to the PSD and incorporate

itself into the NMDA receptor signaling complex, where it can stay active even after Ca²⁺/calmodulin disassociation and can interact with other proteins located in the PSD (reviewed in Lisman et al., 2002). It has been shown to phosphorylate Ser891 on the GluR1 subunit of the AMPA receptor, leading to increased channel conductance (Benke et al., 1998; Lee et al., 2000). It may also be involved in AMPA receptor trafficking to the surface, although the mechanism has not been elucidated (Lisman et al., 2002). In addition, CaMKII may lead to ERK1/2 activation, which is important for LTP expression (Sweatt, 2001; Thomas and Huganir, 2004). PKC activation can also activate ERK1/2 via the small G-protein Ras-Raf-MEK pathway (Sweatt et al., 1998; Impey et al., 1999; Levenson et al., 2004), and PKC-dependent AMPA receptor phosphorylation at Ser818 may lead to increased expression at the surface (Boehm et al., 2006). In addition, a particular atypical isozyme of PKC, protein kinase M zeta (PKMξ), has been shown to be important in LTP maintenance, possibly by directing AMPA receptor trafficking (Sacktor et al., 1993; Yao et al., 2008). PKA, which is activated via cAMP, is implicated in the activation of several downstream substrates, including CREB and the AMPA receptor (reviewed in Nguyen and Woo, 2003); however, there is evidence that PKA activation may inhibit the Ras/Raf pathway, thus inhibiting ERK1/2 activity (Sweatt, 2001). The activation of ERK1/2 and CREB are important because of their roles in activation of immediate early genes (IEGs), which are important for LTP maintenance (reviewed in Bozon et al., 2003). ERK1/2 can directly activate Elk-1 and indirectly activate CREB, two transcription factors that can induce transcription of *zip268*, which has been shown to be necessary in LTP maintenance. In addition, CREB has been shown to lead to increases in brain-derived neurotropic factor (BDNF), cfos, and arc expression, which

have also been shown to be important in LTP maintenance (Czerniawski et al., 2011; Peng et al., 2011).

2.3.2.2 Other factors involved in NMDA receptor-dependent LTP

Although classical LTP is dependent on NMDA receptor activation, there are modulators that may affect the extent of LTP expressed. Group I mGluRs, which consist of mGluR1 and mGluR5 and are coupled to the G_q pathway, have been shown to potentiate NMDA receptor currents by activating PKC, which can then phosphorylate the NMDA receptor leading to current potentiation (Skeberdis et al., 2001; Heidinger et al., 2002). In addition, co-activation of mGluR5 and NMDA receptors has been shown to synergistically activate ERK1/2, which may also affect LTP (Yang et al., 2004). Acute nicotine has been shown to enhance LTP in vitro in the dentate gyrus via a7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs). Naloxone, a µ-opioid receptor antagonist, and norbinaltorphimine (NBNI), a κ-opioid receptor antagonist, enhanced LTP in the dentate gyrus in rodents (Terman et al., 1994; Xie and Lewis, 1995), indicating that endogenous opioids play an inhibitory role in NMDA receptor-dependent LTP. Agonists of D1 receptors have been shown to upregulate NMDA receptor-mediated LTP in a CaMKIIdependent manner in hippocampal primary cultures (Nai et al., 2010); lead to increased phosphorylation of GluN1 Ser897 and GluN2B Ser1303 in hippocampal slices, which may lead to increased expression of the subunits at the surface; and synergistically activate the ERK1/2 pathway (Sarantis et al., 2009). Histamine may interact directly with the NMDA receptor to potentiate NMDA receptor currents (Burban et al., 2010). In addition, presynaptic histamine H₃ receptors may inhibit glutamate release in the dentate gyrus in vitro (Brown and Reymann, 1996), thereby affecting the activation of AMPA

and NMDA receptors. Besides neurotransmitters, cell adhesion and repulsion molecules have been shown to affect LTP, and NMDA receptor interactions with the extracellular matrix protein Reelin and the receptor tyrosine kinase EphB has been shown to alter NMDA receptor levels as the surface, having an effect on NMDA receptor function (Groc et al., 2007; Nolt et al., 2011).

2.3.2.3 <u>NMDA receptor subunit composition may alter the NMDA receptor's role in</u> <u>LTP</u>

Although the NMDA receptor has been shown to be necessary for classical LTP, the importance of the individual subunits present is much less clear. Given that LTP is easier to elicit early in development, when the GluN2B receptor is highly expressed, and becomes more difficult to induce later into adulthood when the GluN2A subunit is predominant, implicates the GluN2B subunit as important for LTP expression (Flint et al., 1997). Several lines of work have supported this theory. Pharmacological blockade of GluN2B-containing receptors with Ro 25-6981 prevented increases in the slope of fEPSPs recorded in vivo in the perforant path-dentate gyrus pathway seen during conditioning in a trace conditioning paradigm (Valenzuela-Harrington et al., 2007). GluN2B has also been shown to interact with CaMKII, and this interaction has been shown to be necessary for LTP induction (Barria and Malinow, 2005; Zhou et al., 2007). GluN2B has also been shown to couple directly to RasGRF1, which activates the Ras/Raf/ERK1/2 signaling pathway, necessary for LTP and learning (Krapivinsky et al., 2003). In addition, disruption of GluN2B levels at the synapse, either with genetic (Brigman et al., 2010) or molecular (Gardoni et al., 2009) techniques, also resulted in reduction of LTP in the hippocampus.

However, other studies have supported a primary role of GluN2A, rather than GluN2B, in LTP expression. Electrophysiological studies in rodent hippocampal or perirhinal cortex slices using NVP-AAM077 to pharmacologically block GluN2Acontaining NMDA receptors found that LTP was reduced compared to controls (Liu et al., 2004; Massey et al., 2004). Interestingly, both studies found no inhibition of LTP using GluN2B blockers. NVP-AAM077 has also been shown to block dendritic translation, necessary for LTP maintenance, in primary hippocampal neuron cultures using GFP as a reporter (Tran et al., 2007). However, the specificity of NVP-AAM077 in rodents has recently come under question (Neyton and Paoletti, 2006). It has also been shown that mutant mice expressing C-terminally truncated GluN2A subunits exhibit reductions in LTP expression (Kohr et al., 2003), which would support a role of GluN2A in LTP. Furthermore, some studies have shown either no inherent specificity for the subunit composition for LTP (Berberich et al., 2005) or involvement of both subunits, but with different roles in LTP (Foster et al., 2010). In addition, although most LTP research has focused on the different roles of the GluN2 subunits, overexpression of the GluN3A subunit in adulthood in the hippocampus has been shown to impair LTP (Roberts et al., 2009), further complicating the precise role of the NMDA receptor in LTP.

2.4 The Effects of PAE on LTP and the NMDA Receptor

2.4.1 The Effects of PAE on the NMDA Receptor

Several studies have attempted to evaluate the effect of PAE on NMDA receptor subunit expression. Real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis of adult whole brain mouse tissue after a 25% ethanol solution i.p. injection on gestational day 8 (GD8) found a significant decrease in GluN2B mRNA expression and a significant increase in GluN2A mRNA expression compared to controls (Toso et al., 2005). In rat pups from mothers offered a 10% ethanol solution as their sole drinking source during pregnancy, the developmental expression profile of the GluN1 splice variants GluN1a and GluN1-1b, GluN2C, and GluN2D mRNAs in the hippocampus are altered by ethanol exposure (Naassila and Daoust, 2002). In a pair-fed liquid diet paradigm, no difference in GluN2A, GluN2B, or GluN2C mRNA levels were found in forebrain samples from PD1 (Hughes et al., 2001). The same study found no alteration in PSD-95 and GluN2A or GluN2B association as measure by immunoprecipitation, although they did find an alteration in GluN1 association with calnexin, a chaperone protein in the ER.

Studies have also examined protein levels of NMDA receptor subunits after preand postnatal alcohol exposure. In the cerebral cortex, GluN2B levels have been shown to be decreased at PD61 in an oral administration model of PAE in guinea pigs (Dettmer et al., 2003). Another study found decreased association of PSD-95 with GluN2A and GluN1 splice variants containing the C2' cassette at PD21 in the cortex after a pair-fed liquid diet PAE paradigm (Honse et al., 2003). In the hippocampus, the same pair-fed liquid diet paradigm produced decreased GluN2B subunit levels at PD7(Hughes et al., 1998). Prenatal exposure via pair-fed gavage in combination with postnatal exposure via artificial rearing resulted in an increase in GluN2A subunit levels at PD 10 in the hippocampus (Nixon et al., 2004), while the same postnatal exposure resulted in an increase in GluN2A levels in the cortex (Nixon et al., 2002). Prenatal ethanol exposure by a voluntary two-bottle choice paradigm found a decrease in PSD-95 association with GluN2B in the hippocampus (Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2010). Analysis and comparison of these studies become difficult for several reasons. First, the differences in PAE administration could alter the effects of ethanol. As mentioned in the previous chapter, paradigms involving gavage or liquid diet may elicit a stress response in the mother, which may have adverse effects on the offspring independent of, and perhaps interacting with, the alcohol exposure. In addition, the timing of the exposure also is important, with prenatal and postnatal exposure, as well as selective daily exposure during gestation, possibly targeting different developmental time periods and therefore may have differential effects. The BECs reached in these models also vary greatly, ranging from 80 mg/dL to as high as 330 mg/dL, with some BECs referencing the mother's levels and some referencing the offspring's levels. Differences in BECs will also greatly affect the interpretation of the outcomes. Finally, many of these studies are done early in development, often before PD21, while many studies of behavioral deficits occur in older animals, making it difficult to relate neurochemical alterations with behavioral alterations.

2.4.2 Effects of PAE on LTP

Although the effect of PAE on learning has been studied in great detail, the effect of PAE on LTP has not been as thoroughly explored. An initial study examined the effects of two i.p. injections of 2.9 g/kg ethanol on GD8 and found that rats prenatally exposed to ethanol showed lower high frequency stimulation (HFS) threshold for LTP in the granule cell layer of the dentate gyrus (Gomez et al., 1992). However, later studies found deficits in LTP in the dentate gyrus measured *in vivo* in adult rats (Sutherland et al., 1997; Varaschin et al., 2010) using either a pair-fed liquid diet or a limited access paradigm. In the adult guinea pig, LTP deficits were also observed in the CA1 after oral administration of 4g/kg ethanol throughout gestation (Richardson et al., 2002a). It is unknown why the initial study found an LTP enhancement after prenatal alcohol compared to the later studies, although the difference in exposure (one day of exposure vs. exposure throughout the entire gestation) may account for the difference. The agreement of the later studies on LTP deficits, despite the differences in ethanol administration and species differences, is intriguing, as LTP deficits may account for learning deficits seen after PAE.

2.5 Summary

LTP, considered by many to be the cellular mechanism of learning, is dependent on the NMDA receptor in many regions of the brain, including the dentate gyrus. Regulation of the NMDA receptor, including the subunit composition and trafficking of the receptor, is important in maintaining proper cellular function, including LTP. Although both the NMDA receptor and LTP have been shown to be altered by prenatal alcohol exposure, no studies have determined whether alterations in NMDA receptor expression is associated with LTP deficits seen in the dentate gyrus, despite the importance of the NMDA receptor in LTP induction and maintenance.

3. Research rationale, hypothesis, specific aims

In both humans and laboratory animal models, exposure to alcohol during development has been shown to cause a multitude of dose-dependent effects on the structure and function of the central nervous system, with the extent of damage being dependent on the pattern and chronicity of the exposure and the stage(s) of development during which it occurs (Queen et al., 1993; Goodlett and Johnson, 1997; Kelly et al.,2000; Soodet al., 2001; Savage et al., 2002; Mooney and Miller, 2009). The incidence of FASD has been estimated to be 0.2-5% in the United States (Sampson et al., 1997; May et al., 2009). Several studies have found that 10-20% of women report drinking low-to-moderate amounts of alcohol during pregnancy, with the prevalence of drinking decreasing as the pregnancy progresses (Flynn et al., 2003; Caetano et al., 2006). In animal models, this type of voluntary, intermittent drinking has been modeled in rhesus monkeys (Schneider et al., 2009), whereas, in rodent models, it is typically accomplished through injection or gavage (Bonthius et al., 2001; Carneiro et al., 2005). However, these routes of administration may induce stress in the mother, confounding the effects of ethanol, and may not be appropriately modeling human behavior.

The hippocampal formation, including the dentate gyrus, is one of the brain regions most vulnerable to the damaging effects of PAE (Gil-Mohapel et al., 2010). Effects of PAE on the dentate gyrus may have far-reaching consequences since this structure serves as a major cortical input pathway for the hippocampus (O'Reilly and McClelland, 1994; Leutgeb et al., 2007; Witter, 2007). Adult mice that were exposed to moderate levels of alcohol throughout gestation display deficits in hippocampal-dependent (Allan et al., 2003) learning and memory tasks, as well as impaired survival of

newly generated dentate granule neurons in response to an enriched environment in adult mice (Choi et al., 2005). In addition, PAE is associated with decreased NMDA receptordependent activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) in the adult mouse dentate gyrus (Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2009). Numerous other effects of PAE on hippocampal functioning have been reported, including deficits in NMDA-dependent long-term potentiation (LTP) in the dentate gyrus (Sutherland et al., 1997; Varaschin et al., 2010).

Studies thus far have not investigated the effect of PAE on behavior that is dependent on the functioning of the dentate gyrus, nor have they fully evaluated the reason for the LTP deficits in the dentate gyrus. Although the work done in our lab previously implicates the NMDA receptor, the association between LTP deficits and NMDA receptor alterations after PAE has not been explored. The goal of this dissertation was, first, to design a more appropriate PAE animal model that produced learning deficits in a paradigm that had been shown to be dependent on the dentate gyrus; second, to determine whether the model displayed alterations in synaptic transmission in the dentate gyrus; and third, to determine if there were corresponding changes in NMDAR subunit composition and/or localization in the dentate gyrus.

3.1 Hypothesis

The hypothesis tested in this dissertation was that a limited access prenatal alcohol exposure model produces dentate gyrus-dependent learning impairments that are associated with NMDAR-dependent synaptic plasticity deficits and altered NMDAR subunit composition.

Specific Aims

Specific Aim 1 – Development and characterization of a limited access, voluntary consumption model of PAE in mice

- Characterize the effect of maternal ethanol consumption on dam behavior and pregnancy outcomes
- Characterize the effect of PAE in hippocampal-dependent learning tasks, including contextual fear conditioning and trace fear conditioning
- Characterize the effect of PAE in a dentate gyrus-dependent pattern separation task

Specific Aim 2 – Evaluate alterations in NMDA receptor-dependent functions in the dentate gyrus of PAE animals

- Determine if basal glutamatergic synaptic transmission is altered in PAE animals
- Determine if NMDAR-dependent LTP is altered in PAE animals
- Determine if functional GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors are affected in PAE animals

Specific Aim 3 – Evaluate alterations in NMDA receptor subunit number and composition in the dentate gyrus in PAE animals

- Determine if PAE alters synaptic membrane NMDA receptor subunit populations

- Determine if PAE alters extrasynaptic membrane NMDA receptor subunit populations

4. A Limited Access Mouse Model of Prenatal Alcohol Exposure that Produces Long-lasting Deficits in Hippocampal-dependent Learning and Memory

Megan L. Brady, Andrea M. Allan, Kevin K. Caldwell

Department of Neurosciences, School of Medicine

University of New Mexico

Albuquerque, New Mexico, 87131

Accepted to Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 36(3): 457-466

ABSTRACT

Background: It is estimated that approximately 12% of women consume alcohol at some time during their pregnancy and as many as 5% of children born in the United States are impacted by prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE). The range of physical, behavioral, emotional and social dysfunctions that are associated with PAE are collectively termed fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD).

Methods: Using a saccharin-sweetened ethanol solution, we developed a limited access model of PAE. C57BL/6J mice were provided access to a 10% (w/v) ethanol in 0.066% (w/v) saccharin solution for 4 hours per day, with 0.066% (w/v) saccharin solution serving as control. After establishing consistent drinking, mice were mated, and continued drinking during gestation. Following parturition, ethanol solutions were decreased to 0% in a step-wise fashion over a period of 6 days. Characterization of the model included measurements of maternal consumption patterns, blood ethanol levels, litter size, pup weight, maternal care, and the effects of PAE on fear-conditioned and spatial learning, and locomotor activity.

Results: The mothers had mean daily ethanol intake of 7.17 ± 0.17 g ethanol/kg body weight/day, with average blood ethanol concentrations (BECs) of 68.5 ± 9.2 mg/dL after two hours of drinking and 88.3 ± 11.5 mg/dL after 4 hrs of drinking. There was no difference in food or water consumption, maternal weight gain, litter size, pup weight, pup retrieval times, or time on nest, between the alcohol-exposed animals and the control dams. The animals that were exposed to ethanol prenatally displayed no difference from control offspring in spontaneous locomotor activity but demonstrated learning deficits

compared to controls in three hippocampal-dependent tasks: delay fear conditioning, trace fear conditioning, and the delay non-match to place radial arm maze task.

Conclusions: These results indicate that this model appropriately mimics the human condition of PAE, and will be a useful tool in studying the learning deficits seen in FASD.

4.1 Introduction

In both humans and laboratory animal models, exposure to alcohol during development causes a multitude of dose-dependent effects on the structure and function of the central nervous system, with the extent of damage being dependent on the pattern and chronicity of the exposure and the stage(s) of development during which it occurs (Riley and McGee, 2005). Additionally, the effects of prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) on the brain display regional variability (Guerri, 1998), with the hippocampus being particularly sensitive to the damaging effects of the exposure (Berman and Hannigan, 2000). The dysfunctions that are associated with PAE are collectively termed fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) (Streissguth and O'Malley, 2000). It is estimated that use of any alcohol during pregnancy is about 12% (Floyd et al., 2009), with the incidence of newborns displaying prenatal alcohol-related damage as high as 5% in the United States (May et al., 2009). While heavy and binge (five or more drinks in a single episode) patterns of drinking during pregnancy are associated with the development of Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (FAS) (Jones and Smith, 1973; Clarren and Smith, 1978), extensive research shows that even moderate maternal drinking (1-2 drinks per day) is, in some individuals, associated with cognitive and behavioral deficits, often revealed only under stressful or challenging conditions (Streissguth et al., 1999).

Existing rodent models for PAE employ various lengths and routes of administration, as well as various concentrations of ethanol (Costa et al., 2000; Cudd, 2005). Each model has its advantages and disadvantages. For example, although liquid diets and intragastric intubation are capable of producing moderate-to-high blood ethanol concentrations (BECs), they often induce maternal stress and malnutrition, which may confound the results (Ward and Wainwright, 1989b; Slone and Redei, 2002). Voluntary oral consumption can reduce stress and malnutrition issues, but it may be difficult to reach moderate-to-high BECs with this paradigm (Finn et al., 2005). However, limiting access to ethanol in voluntary consumption paradigms has been shown to increase the amount of self-administration (Finn et al., 2005; Rhodes et al., 2005; Rhodes et al., 2007). A recent study (Boehm et al., 2008) employed this method to develop a PAE model using C57BL/6J mice, in which pregnant dams were given access to 20% ethanol for two hours during the dark cycle. These mice reached BECs ranging from 100-200 mg/dL, and the offspring exhibited motor deficits at postnatal day (PD) 33.

We sought to expand upon the model originally developed by Boehm et al. (2008) to determine its impact on hippocampal-dependent learning tasks. Significant deficits in both delay- and trace-conditioned learning and a delayed non-matching to place radial arm maze (RAM) task in adult PAE mice were observed. The model will likely be an important tool in the study of molecular mechanisms underlying cognitive dysfunction associated with PAE.

4.2 Methods and Materials

4.2.1 Animals

All of the procedures used in the current studies were approved by the University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

Sixty day-old C57BL/6J male and female mice (Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) were acclimated for one week in the vivarium [kept at 22°C on a reverse 12 hr dark /

12 hr light schedule (lights on at 2000)] in group-housed cages. After this acclimation period, animals were then individually housed for one week before the start of the alcohol (or control) drinking procedure. Standard chow was available *ad libitum* in all cages. Water was available at all times except during the ethanol exposure period for female mice. Offspring were group-housed in same-sex, littermate cages with free access to tap water and chow and maintained on a reverse light-dark cycle, as described above. All behavioral measurements were conducted during the dark period between 0900 and 1400 in a behavioral room lit with red lighting.

4.2.2 Prenatal alcohol exposure procedure

Prenatal exposure of mice to ethanol was performed using a modification of our previously published method employing saccharin-sweetened solutions (Allan et al., 2003). Two hours into the dark cycle, female mice were offered access to either 0.066% (w/v) saccharin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) or an ethanol (DLI, King of Prussia, PA) solution sweetened with 0.066% (w/v) saccharin for four hours (from 1000 to 1400 hr.). Research has shown that saccharin may increase ethanol intake without affecting blood alcohol concentrations (Czachowski et al., 1999; Roberts et al., 1999). The concentration (w/v) of ethanol was increased in two, 2-day steps from 0% to 5%, then from 5% to 10%. After one week of drinking 10% ethanol, or the saccharin control solution, individual females were placed into the cage of singly housed males for two hours immediately after the drinking period (from 1400 to 1600 hr.). Water and food were available *ad libitum* in the males' cages. Females continued to consume ethanol and saccharin solutions throughout the five-day mating period, with consumption amounts measured daily. Five days was chosen for the length of the mating period based on the average estrous cycle

length of 4-5 days in C57BL/6J mice (Jemiolo et al., 1986; Walf et al., 2009). Pregnancy was positively determined by monitoring weight gain. The length of gestation in C57BL/6J mice is approximately 19.5 days and is not affected by maternal consumption of alcohol (Murray et al., 2010; Kleiber et al., 2011). Thus, we identified gestational day 1 as 20-days prior to the day of parturition. Food and water consumptions were determined both before mating and during the last week of pregnancy. Weight determinations were made every 3-4 days during pregnancy. Within one day of birth, the alcohol and saccharin concentrations were halved every two days, until the animals were drinking only water.

4.2.3 Blood ethanol concentration measurements

Maternal BECs were determined in the last week of pregnancy, based on a method described previously (Smolen et al., 1987). Briefly, blood samples (40 μ L) were collected from the submandibular vein at both the two hour (1200 hr) and four hour (1400 hr) time points, with only a single sample being collected from an animal. The samples were treated with 2 mL of 3.5% (v/v; 0.58 M) perchloric acid (Mallinckrodt Baker, Inc., Phillipsburg, NJ) and centrifuged (300 x *g*) for 10 min at 4 °C to obtain serum. Eighty microliters of serum, or known ethanol standard ranging from 0-400 mg/dL, were incubated in 2 mL of reaction buffer [10 units alcohol dehydrogenase (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), 2.0 mM NAD (Sigma Aldrich), 0.5 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.8] for 15 minutes at 30 °C. The optical density of the sample was measured at 340 nm using a Beckman DU 380 Spectrophotometer. Sample blood ethanol values were determined by regression analysis. Blood alcohol was determined for three separate breeding rounds of

PAE animals. The offspring of the dams used for determination of BECs were not used in the present studies.

4.2.4 Litter size and offspring weight

Litters were left undisturbed for seven days (except for those used for pup retrieval test) at which time litter size was determined. Litters were not culled. Offspring were weighed on PD 7, 14, and at weaning (approximately PD 23). Weights of the entire litter were collected, and average pup weight was determined by dividing the total weight of the litter by the number of pups present in each litter.

4.2.5 Characterization of maternal care

The percentage of time spent on nest in a one hour period was evaluated at PD 5 or 6 between 1000 and 1400 hr. Pup retrieval time was performed in the home cage on PD 8. A pup was removed from the nest and placed in the farthest corner away from the nest (approximately 30 cm away), and latency to retrieve the pup was measured.

4.2.6 Locomotor activity

Male offspring 90-150-days old were tested for their spontaneous locomotor activity, as described previously (Caldwell et al., 2008). Briefly, mice were placed in a dim red light-illuminated open field apparatus (102.5 x 102.5 x 47.5 cm; Opto-Varimex, Columbus Instruments, Columbus, OH, USA) for 15 min on two consecutive days. The first day examined locomotor activity in a novel environment, and the second day examined locomotor activity in a familiar environment. Open field locomotor (horizontal) activity was measured as the number of photo beam interruptions recorded on both days. All equipment was cleaned thoroughly with 70% (v/v) isopropanol between uses.

<u>4.2.7 Delay fear conditioning</u>

Delay fear conditioning was conducted with 90-150-days old male offspring using a procedure previously described (Allan et al., 2003). Briefly, animals were placed into a Coulbourn Instruments (Allentown, PA) Habitest® System for 90 sec of habituation. Subsequently, they received the conditioned stimulus (CS), an 80dB, 6Hz clicker, for 30 sec. The unconditioned stimulus (US), an electric foot shock (0.7mA), was delivered during the last 2 sec of the CS. This sequence was repeated one time, providing a total of two CS-US pairings. Thirty seconds after co-termination of the second CS/US pairing, the animal was removed from the conditioning context and returned to its home cage. Approximately 24 hr later, the mouse was placed back into the training context, and the animal's behavior was videotaped. Freezing (the absence of movements other than those necessary for respiration) during the first two minutes in the context was measured, and expressed as a percentage of the total time. Neither the CS nor the US was delivered during the testing period. The subject's behavior was scored by two individuals, one of whom was blind to the prenatal exposure history of the animal.

4.2.8 Trace fear conditioning

Trace conditioning was conducted with 90-150-days old male offspring in the same apparatus used for delay conditioning. The trace conditioning procedure was a modification of a procedure described previously (Huerta et al., 2000). Briefly, after 90 seconds of habituation in the chamber, male offspring experienced seven trials each

consisting of the CS (10 sec 80 dB 6 Hz clicker), a 30 second trace, the US (1 sec 0.8 mA scrambled foot shock), and a 210 second intertrial interval; the animal experienced this sequence 7 times total, and was removed from the chamber 60 seconds following the delivery of the seventh US. The equipment was cleaned thoroughly with 70% (v/v) isopropanol between uses. A separate "untrained" group of mice was exposed to all of the same conditions except for delivery of the US.

Approximately 24 hours after completion of the training session, freezing to the CS delivered while the subject was in the novel context (a standard, clean mouse cage with minimal bedding) was assessed. Five minutes after being placed in the novel environment, the 10-sec CS was sounded; four minutes later another 10-sec CS was sounded. The test subject remained in the cage for 3 minutes after the second CS and then was returned to its home cage. The animal's behavior was recorded using a camera and video recorder, and the amount of time spent freezing during the tone and 30 sec after the tone (40 sec total duration) was scored for each CS. The average for the two measures for each mouse was calculated, and expressed as a percentage of time spent freezing. Untrained animals (cage mates from the same litters) also experienced the CS in the novel context, and the percentage of time spent freezing was similarly determined.

4.2.9 Delay non-match to place spatial memory

A delay non-match to place (DNMP) spatial memory test was performed with 90-150-days old male offspring based on a published method with modification (Clelland et al., 2009) using a radial arm maze purchased from Coulbourn Instruments. The maze consisted of an octagonal-shaped center arena (28 cm diameter x 25.5 cm height) with 8 arms (68.5 x 9.5 x 12.1 cm, 1 x w x h) radiating out from the center arena. The arms were made of clear Plexiglas with a wire grid floor and a clear Plexiglas top. Mice were on a caloric restricted diet beginning 2-3 days prior to testing and maintained at 80-85% of starting body weight throughout the testing period. On the first day, mice were placed into one of the arms of the maze that was baited with mouse chow and Honey Nut CheeriosTM. The central exit of the arm was blocked and the animal was left for 30 minutes prior to return to its home cage. Subsequently, testing was conducted over the next five days with two trials in the morning and two trials in the afternoon. The order of the arm separations – two different separations (see below), two trials per separation per day – was randomized across the days of the procedure. On the first two days of testing, mice were permitted to self-correct. Mice received one trial (each trial consisting of a sample phase + choice phase) and were returned to their home cages, and all other mice were tested before the second round of testing began.

In the delay non-match to place paradigm, mice were presented with a choice between a familiar and a novel arm where the correct choice was the novel arm. In the sample phase, only the start and sample arms were accessible to the mouse and the sample arm was baited. Mice were removed from the maze and placed in a holding cage if they had either spent 60s in the sample arm or had left the sample arm. During the choice phase, a new arm was open and baited with food while the start and sample arms were open but not baited. The correct choice arm varied in distance from the sample arm by either 2 (separation 2 or Sep 2) or 4 arms (separation 4 or Sep 4). Mice that entered the choice (food-baited) arm were scored as correct, while those who entered into the sample arm or returned to the start arm after exiting were scored as incorrect. Failure to make a selection in 3 minutes was also scored as incorrect, although this happened rarely.

The radial arm maze was rotated between sample and choice presentations such that the exact spatial location within the room for the start and sample arms were held constant during the trials but the arms themselves changed to reduce the possibility that odor cues were being utilized. The rotation took approximately 15 seconds.

4.2.10 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 5 (San Diego, CA, Measurements for model characterization were obtained from at least two USA). different breeding rounds; for maternal measures, the reported n corresponds to the number of dams, while for offspring measures, the reported n represents the number of litters. Food and water consumption, maternal weights, litter size, pup weights, pup retrieval time, time on nest, delay fear conditioning, and locomotor activity were analyzed using a Student's two-tailed t-test. BECs were calculated using a linear regression and Pearson's correlation analysis was used to determine if the correlation was significant. Trace fear conditioning data were analyzed using a two-way ANOVA followed by Student's t-test with Bonferroni correction. Radial arm maze data were analyzed using two-way ANOVA and post hoc Student's t-tests. For the delay fear conditioning task, two animals from a litter were averaged and used as a single data point. For the trace fear conditioning task, two animals were used from a litter, one trained and one untrained. For the radial arm maze task, two animals from each litter were trained in the task and their data were averaged together. The number of correct arm entries for each trial per day across three days were determined and expressed as a percentage, and the number of correct arm choices for each day was analyzed for Sep 2 and Sep 4. In all cases, data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Ethanol consumption and BEC levels

Ethanol consumption was monitored before and during mating, as well as throughout gestation, from three different breeding rounds (**Fig. 1**). Ethanol intake reached moderate – to – high levels before mating (8.36 ± 0.47 g ethanol/kg body weight/day), and continued throughout the mating period (7.47 ± 0.43 g ethanol/kg body weight/day).



Figure 4.1. Average ethanol consumption

Average ethanol consumption (g ethanol/kg body weight/day) for C57Bl/6J mice before mating (A; n=23), during mating (B; n=21), and during gestation (C; n=30).

During gestation, ethanol consumption remained relatively constant with an average consumption of 7.17 ± 0.17 g ethanol/kg body weight/day. BECs of pregnant dams were measured during the last week of pregnancy, both two hours and four hours after ethanol access was initiated. After two hours drinking, BECs were 68.5 ± 9.2 mg/dL, and after four hours drinking, BECs reached 88.3 ± 11.5 mg/dL. Consumption of ethanol over

both a 2-hr period and a 4-hr period significantly predicted BEC levels (2 hr period: Pearson's r = 0.57, p<0.05, 4 hr period: Pearson's r = 0.48, p<0.05; **Fig. 2A and 2B**).



Figure 4.2. Correlation of blood alcohol concentrations (BECs) to the amount of ethanol consumed by female mice

(A) BEC levels significantly correlate with the amount of ethanol consumed at 2 hrs (n=15; r = 0.57, p<0.05). (B) BEC levels significantly correlate with the amount of ethanol consumed at 4 hrs (n=22; r = 0.48, p<0.05). BEC levels were determined from blood taken in a separate cohort of female mice after 2 or 4 hrs of drinking, using an enzymatic method described in the Materials and Methods.

4.3.2 Food and water consumption

We measured intake of standard chow and water both during the week of introduction of the solutions and during the last week of pregnancy for both the ethanol and control groups in three separate rounds of breeding (**Fig. 3**). Water consumption before mating did not differ significantly between the saccharin group (3.28 ± 0.22 mL/day) or the ethanol group (3.10 ± 0.11 mL/day) (t[17] = 0.74, n.s.) (**Fig. 3A**). Similarly, there was not a significant difference in water consumption between the saccharin group (3.81 ± 0.11 mL/day) or the ethanol group (4.16 ± 0.23 mL/day) in the last week of pregnancy (t[14] = 1.47, n.s.) (**Fig. 3A**). Before mating, there was no significant difference in food intake between the saccharin group (3.32 ± 0.2 g/day) and the ethanol group (3.70 ± 0.12 g/day) (t[18] = 1.66, n.s.) (**Fig. 3B**). Food consumption in

the last week of pregnancy also did not significantly differ between the saccharin group $(3.99 \pm 0.07 \text{ g/day})$ and ethanol group $(3.89 \pm 0.16 \text{ g/day})$ (t[12] = 0.58, n.s.) (**Fig. 3B**).



Figure 4.3. Food and water consumption by saccharin (SAC) control group and ethanol (EtOH) drinking group before and during pregnancy

The average caloric intake during the last week of pregnancy did not differ significantly between the saccharin group and the ethanol group $(13.98 \pm 0.25 \text{ kcal/day} \text{ and } 15.21 \pm 0.53 \text{ kcal/day}$, respectively; t[12] = 2.10, n.s.), and the calorie equivalent of ethanol consumed was about 10% of the daily diet intake. The lack of a difference in food and caloric intake corresponded with no significant difference between the two groups for the change of maternal weight that occurred during pregnancy (**Table 1**).

⁽A) Amount of water consumed (mL) per day (20-hr access) before pregnancy (n=10) and during the last week of pregnancy (n=7). (B) Amount of food consumed (g) per day before pregnancy (n=9) and during last week of pregnancy (n=9 for SAC, n=7 for EtOH). No significant difference was found between SAC and EtOH groups at any time point for either food and water consumption.



4.3.3 Offspring weight and litter size

Litter size was determined for four separate breeding rounds at PD 7. The average litter size for the prenatal saccharin and prenatal ethanol groups were not significantly different (t[62]=1.473, n.s.; **Table 1**). Offspring weight was also determined at PD 7, 14, and at weaning (approximately PD 23) (**Table 1**). At PD 7 and 14 these were not significantly different between groups (PD 7: t[11]=0.4517, n.s.; PD14: t[11]=0.3054, n.s.) A similar result was obtained at weaning (t[47]=1.641, n.s.; **Table 1**).

4.3.4 Maternal care

Although pup weights and early postnatal growth are good indicators of maternal care, we also directly assessed maternal care. There was no significant difference in the amount of time taken for pup retrieval between saccharin-drinking and ethanol-drinking mothers (t[19]=0.6804, n.s.; **Table 1**), nor was there a difference in the amount of time mothers spent on the nest (t[12]=0.07633, n.s.).

4.3.5 Locomotor activity

Since locomotor activity could influence the level of activity of the mice, and therefore performance in the learning tasks we used, we determined the basal level of locomotor activity in PAE and saccharin control (SAC) control mice. In either a novel environment (day 1) or a familiar environment (day 2), PAE mice did not display differences in locomotor activity (measured as counts of beam interruptions) compared to SAC offspring (Day 1 – SAC 651.4 \pm 63.02, PAE 768.7 \pm 28.77; t[10]=1.480, n.s.; Day 2 – SAC 492.1 \pm 53.27, PAE 514.6 \pm 64.83; t[10]=0.2681, n.s.; Fig. 4).



Figure 4.4. Effect of prenatal ethanol exposure on locomotor activity

Locomotor activity, measured as counts (beam interruptions), over two 15-min periods approximately 24 hrs apart, was determined in saccharin control (SAC) and prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) mice, as described in Materials and Methods. (A) Locomotor activity for SAC (n=7) and PAE (n=5) mice on day one. (B) Locomotor activity for SAC (n=6) and PAE (n=6) mice on day two. No significant difference was found between SAC and PAE mice at either time point.

4.3.6 Delay fear conditioning

PAE models employing continuous access to ethanol throughout gestation have shown that the offspring display deficits in hippocampal-dependent tasks (Reyes et al., 1989; Savage et al., 2002; Allan et al., 2003). To determine if the offspring of our limited access model displayed similar behavioral deficits, we analyzed delay fear conditioned learning and memory in offspring from both groups. PAE and SAC control offspring were reared to adulthood and trained using a delay conditioning paradigm. Twenty-four hours later, mice were assessed for their conditioned responses to the training context by measuring freezing behavior following reintroduction into the training context (**Fig. 5**). PAE mice froze significantly less than did SAC controls (SAC 47.12 \pm 4.89%, PAE 31.50 \pm 4.94%; t[17]=2.243, p<0.05) when reintroduced into the context.



Figure 4.5. Effect of prenatal ethanol exposure on contextual fear learning and memory

Adult male saccharin control (SAC) and prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) mice were trained in a delay fear conditioning paradigm as described in the Methods and Materials section. Approximately 24 hours later, the amount of time spent freezing in a 2 minute period after re-exposure to the training context was measured and expressed as a percentage (n=10 for SAC, n=9 for PAE;). Unpaired Student's *t*-test found a significant difference in percent freezing to the context between SAC and PAE offspring (t[17]=2.243, p<0.05).

4.3.7 Trace fear conditioning

Although PAE-associated deficits in delay fear conditioning have been previously reported in both rats (Weeber et al., 2001) and in mice (Allan et al., 2003), we were unaware of any reports examining the effects of PAE on trace fear conditioning, a hippocampal-dependent task that is temporally dependent (McEchron et al., 1998), in a murine model. Thus, we determined if our model produced a deficit in trace fear conditioning. Twenty-four hours following conditioning, mice were assessed for their responses to the CS by measuring freezing behavior (**Fig. 6**) during the 10 sec tone and the subsequent 30 sec, corresponding to the trace interval in the training procedure. In addition, a group of untrained mice were assessed for their response to the tone by measuring freezing behavior during the same interval. Two-way ANOVA indicated a



Figure 4.6. Effect of prenatal ethanol exposure paradigm on trace fear learning and memory

Adult male saccharin control (SAC) and prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) mice were trained in a trace fear conditioning paradigm as described in the Methods and Materials. Approximately 24 hours. later, mice were placed in a novel context and the amount of time spent freezing during the 40 seconds after initiation of a 10 second tone, corresponding to the tone and trace periods in the training procedure, was measured and expressed as a percentage (mean \pm SEM, n=7 for SAC, n=8 for PAE). A second (untrained) set of animals was exposed to all of the same conditions as the trained animals except for delivery of the unconditioned stimulus. Approximately 24 hours later, their freezing during the 40 seconds after initiation of the 10 second tone was recorded, similar to the trained animals. Two-way ANOVA indicated a significant main effect of training (F[1,25]=186.3, p<0.001) and prenatal exposure (F[1,25]=4.670, p<0.05), as well as an interaction of these factors (F[1,25]=4.878, p<0.05). Post hoc Student's t-test with Bonferroni correction revealed no significant difference between the untrained SAC and untrained PAE groups but a significant difference between the SAC and PAE animals that had undergone trace conditioning: t[13]=3.141, p<0.01.

significant main effect of training (F[1,25]=186.3, p<0.001) and prenatal exposure

(F[1,25]=4.670, p<0.05), as well as an interaction of these factors (F[1,25]=4.878,

p<0.05). Post hoc analysis using a Student's t-test with Bonferroni correction revealed a significant deficit in freezing in the trace-conditioned PAE animals compared to control animals (t[13]=3.141, p<0.01), but no difference between PAE and SAC offspring in the untrained group.

4.3.8 Radial Arm Maze

Since previous studies have demonstrated deficits in the dentate gyrus in PAE offspring (Sutherland et al., 1997; Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2009; Varaschin et al., 2010), we

assessed dentate gyrus-dependent behavior in our PAE model. A recent study developed a delayed non-matching to place RAM task that is dentate gyrus-dependent (Clelland et al., 2009). Mice were tested for their ability to distinguish between two spatially separated locations, one of which was recently visited (the sample arm) and a second (the choice arm) which was previously unavailable, in an eight-way radial arm maze. Twoway ANOVA indicated a significant interaction of prenatal treatment and arm separation (F[1,20]=5.924, p<0.05). Post-hoc Student's *t*-test indicated that PAE offspring made significantly fewer correct arm entries in the dentate gyrus-dependent form of the task, Sep 2 (SAC 59.00 \pm 3.18%, PAE 48.67 \pm 2.86%; t[10]=2.415, p<0.05; **Fig. 7**), but no difference in performance (correct arm entries) for Sep 4 (SAC 48.83 \pm 3.34%, PAE 54.33 \pm 3.58%; t[10]=1.123, n.s.; **Fig. 7**), which does not require a functional dentate gyrus (Clelland et al., 2009).



Figure 4.7. Effect of prenatal ethanol exposure paradigm on a delayed non-matching to place radial arm maze (RAM) task

Adult male saccharin control (SAC) and prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) mice were trained in a RAM paradigm as described in the Methods and Materials section. The number of correct arm entries for each trial per day across three days were determined and expressed as a percentage (n=6). Two-way ANOVA indicated a significant interaction between prenatal treatment and separation (F[1,20]=5.924, p<0.05), and a

post-hoc Student's *t*-test indicated a significant difference in correct arm entries for Sep 2 (t[10]=2.415, p<0.05), but not for Sep 4, between SAC and PAE animals.

4.4 Discussion

Prenatal exposure to alcohol is estimated to affect up to 5% of children born in the United States (May et al., 2009). Animal models are needed to help characterize the effects of prenatal ethanol exposure. We utilized a chronic, PAE paradigm, in which dams had access to a saccharin-sweetened 10% ethanol solution for four hours a day prior to and throughout the gestational period, to characterize the effects of PAE on hippocampal-dependent learning and memory. The model produced consistent drinking levels, averaging 7.17 \pm 0.17 g ethanol/kg body weight/day, with BECs reaching 68.54 \pm 9.24 mg/dL after 2 hrs of drinking and 88.32 ± 11.55 mg/dL after 4 hrs. The model allowed us to reach relevant BECs, with no apparent sign of malnutrition. We found no significant difference in either food or water consumption between dams offered saccharin-sweetened ethanol and dams offered saccharin-sweetened water. In addition, there was no significant difference in the overall weight gain of dams or in litter size, indicating that malnutrition is not a factor in our model. The limited access model yielded less variability in daily drinking than we previously observed (Caldwell et al., 2008) using a continuous access model: C57BL/6J dams given 22-hours / day access consumed 9.55 \pm 2.57 g ethanol / kg body weight / day. Although the ethanol intake of the dams was significantly correlated with the BECs reached after 2 hours and 4 hours of drinking, inspection of the data shows that there is sufficient variability to necessitate measurements of BECs as the model is employed in the future.

A confound in some PAE paradigms is that continued drinking during the postnatal period, or withdrawal symptoms during this period, may interfere with maternal care, leading to alterations in the offspring not directly due to PAE (Liu et al., 2000). However, we found no difference in pup weight (PD 7, PD 14, or at weaning), in pup retrieval times, or in time spent on the nest, indicating that tapering the nursing mothers off of the ethanol solution had minimal impact on maternal care.

A recent paper (Boehm et al., 2008) developed a similar model in C57Bl/6J mice, offering a 20% unsweetened ethanol solution for two hours a day, three hours into the dark cycle during pregnancy. Although there are some similarities, our model has key differences. We chose a 10% solution, rather than the 20% solution used by Boehm et al. (2008), in order to a) achieve moderate ethanol BECs in the dams and b) avoid malnutrition that may accompany higher doses of ethanol. By reducing the ethanol concentration to 10%, we found lower BECs than Boehm and colleagues (88.32 \pm 11.55 mg/dL after 4 hrs drinking vs. approximately 130-170 mg/dL after 2 hrs drinking). In addition, malnutrition may be a confound in the Boehm et al. (2008) paper, since the model yielded a decrease in pup weight at PD 21, which we did not find at a similar time point (PD 23). Although other studies have shown decreases in pup weight, the lack of an impact on pup weight in our model may be due both to similar caloric intake between our control dams and our ethanol dams and to gradually reducing ethanol consumption after birth in the dams.

Boehm et al (2008) did not examine the effect of PAE on hippocampal-dependent learning and memory. The hippocampus is especially vulnerable to the effects of PAE, and previous studies have shown that prenatal ethanol-exposed offspring exhibit deficits
in spatial tasks, similar to those seen in animals with hippocampal lesions (Berman and Hannigan, 2000). In our model, we observed behavioral deficits in PAE animals in a contextual delay fear conditioning task, which is hippocampal-dependent (McEchron et al., 1998; Quinn et al., 2002; Weitemier and Ryabinin, 2004). Prenatal ethanol-exposed offspring exhibited a decrease in the time spent freezing during the test period, when placed back into the training context, indicating a failure to learn the association between the context and the US shock. An important consideration in using an aversive conditioning paradigm to assess learning and memory deficits in PAE animals is the influence of pain perception on fear-conditioned learning, as studies have shown that animals prenatally exposed to alcohol exhibit hyperalgesia and increased analgesic response to morphine (Markel et al., 1986; Nelson et al., 1986). Young and Fanselow (1992) have described a negative-feedback model involving opioid-dependent analgesia that mediates, in part, the relationships between the perception of the intensity of a nociceptive US and the formation of the US-CS association. This mechanism is observed under conditions of low-to-moderate US intensity and becomes most apparent following more than one training session. We believe that the contribution of the feedback mechanism to conditioning in our animals would be minimal under the conditions that we used (moderate-to-high shock intensity and a single training session). In contrast to the study of Young and Fanselow (1992), Lehner et al. (2010) have shown that reactivity to the US foot shock is not correlated with conditioned responding (freezing) in the training context. Thus, our finding of reduced freezing upon return to the training context is likely to be due to learning and/or memory deficits in PAE offspring, rather than altered pain perception or analgesic responses. The identification of a learning / memory deficit in adult offspring demonstrates that our model produces learning and memory deficits that persist into adulthood, similar to FASD.

In addition to deficits in delay fear conditioning, studies in rats have shown a deficit in trace-conditioned learning and memory in animals exposed to alcohol prenatally (Wagner and Hunt, 2006; Hunt et al., 2009). In trace conditioning, an interval of time between the CS and the US creates a temporally non-contiguous relationship between the two stimuli. Learning the relationship between the CS and the US requires the hippocampus (McEchron et al., 1998; Quinn et al., 2002; Weitemier and Ryabinin, 2003, 2004). We found a deficit in freezing to the CS tone in prenatally-exposed mice as compared to saccharin controls, which appeared to be entirely dependent on learning the association between the CS and the US, since freezing to the CS tone in untrained animals was not different between the two groups. This novel result demonstrates that the PAE mouse model exhibits a deficit in learning and memory in the hippocampal-dependent trace conditioning task.

Recently, a study showed that irradiation to the dentate gyrus, which ablated neurogenesis, impaired performance in the Separation 2, but not Separation 4, version of the RAM, thus implicating the dentate gyrus in the former task (Clelland et al., 2009). Although several studies have examined the effects of PAE on performance in other versions of the RAM task (Reyes et al., 1989; Stone et al., 1996; Sluyter et al., 2005), to our knowledge, no one has demonstrated a behavioral deficit in PAE offspring directly attributed to the dentate gyrus; we therefore decided to examine the effects of PAE on performance in this modified RAM. We found that PAE offspring were selectively impaired in the Separation 2 version of the RAM, where the sample and choice arms are

separated by 90° , with no apparent deficits in the Separation 4 task, where the sample and choice arm are 180° apart and an intact dentate gyrus function is not required. These results indicate that dentate gyrus function is impaired in PAE offspring in this model. It is believed that the dentate gyrus is important in spatial learning, especially more difficult pattern separations (Acsady and Kali, 2007; Hsu, 2007; Kesner, 2007; Leutgeb et al., 2007), and is also of interest because it is one of the two major sites of neurogenesis in the adult brain (Parent, 2007; Deng et al., 2010a). Studies examining the effects of PAE on the dentate gyrus have shown deficits in long-term potentiation (LTP), an electrophysiological model of the synaptic changes that underlie learning and memory, in prenatally-exposed rodents (Sutherland et al., 1997; Christie et al., 2005; Varaschin et al., 2010), impaired survival of newly generated dentate granule neurons in response to an enriched environment in adult mice (Choi et al., 2005), and decreased NMDA receptordependent activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) in the adult mouse dentate gyrus (Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2009). ERK activation has been shown to be necessary in learning tasks (Blum et al., 1999; Selcher et al., 1999), and alterations in adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus have been shown to affect performance in pattern separation tasks (Clelland et al., 2009; Sahay et al., 2011). Our findings provide a connection between dentate gyrus-specific biochemical and electrophysiological findings (Sutherland et al., 1997; Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2009; Varaschin et al., 2010) and dentate gyrus-specific behavioral deficits in PAE.

Although the paradigm that we detail appears to be a useful tool to study the effects of PAE, there is an important caveat that needs to be acknowledged. Studies have shown that the timing during gestation of PAE, as well as the chronicity of exposure,

influences the severity the damage that is produced (Goodlett and Johnson, 1997; Sood et al., 2001; Mooney and Miller, 2009). Because the gestational period in mice is the equivalent of the first and second trimesters in humans, our model, by primarily targeting these two trimesters combined with reduced exposure during the initial half of the third trimester equivalent postnatally through breast milk, does not fully mimic PAE occurring throughout pregnancy in humans However, a recent study indicated that, from a cohort of about 95,000 women, most reported drinking in the first and second trimesters, with the levels of drinking, and particularly binge drinking (defined as more than 5 drinks in one sitting), decreasing greatly by the third trimester (Muhuri and Gfroerer, 2009). Therefore, the paradigm that we employed does model the most common pattern of PAE occurring in human populations.

In this study, we have described and characterized a mouse model of PAE. Dams exhibited moderate ethanol consumption during a 4hr. ethanol exposure period, achieving pharmacologically relevant BECs. This pattern of consumption produced learning deficits associated with hippocampal disruption in the offspring without any apparent influences from other confounds, such as malnutrition or alterations in maternal care. This model will facilitate the study of PAE, particularly in examining the preclinical efficacy of potential treatments that could ameliorate the long-lasting alterations in hippocampal function that are associated with FASD.

5. Moderate Prenatal Alcohol Exposure Reduces Plasticity and Alters NMDA Receptor Subunit Composition in the Dentate Gyrus

Megan L. Brady, C. Fernando Valenzuela, Kevin K. Caldwell

Department of Neurosciences, School of Medicine

University of New Mexico

Albuquerque, NM 87131

Submitted as a brief communication to The Journal of Neurosciences, February 2012

Abstract

Although it is well documented that heavy alcohol consumption during pregnancy impairs brain development, it is still controversial whether moderate alcohol consumption produces significant effects. Using a limited access, voluntary drinking paradigm, our laboratory recently demonstrated that moderate prenatal alcohol exposure (MPAE) results in long-lasting deficits in dentate gyrus-dependent learning and memory in adult offspring. Here, we identified a novel mechanism that may underlie this effect of MPAE. We found that MPAE mice exhibit deficits in GluN2B-containing N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR)-dependent long-term potentiation (LTP) in the dentate gyrus, with an associated reduced contribution of GluN2B-containing receptors to NMDAR-dependent field recordings. Using semi-quantitative immunoblotting techniques to characterize the levels and subcellular distribution of NMDAR subunits in the dentate gyrus, we found that the levels of C2'-containing GluN1 and GluN3A were increased in the synaptic membrane, while levels of GluN2B were decreased, in MPAE mice. These data suggest that MPAE results in profound alterations in the subunit composition of synaptic NMDARs, leading to impaired NMDAR-dependent LTP in the dentate gyrus.

5.1 Introduction

The range of physical, cognitive, behavioral, and social dysfunctions that are associated with prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) are collectively termed fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASDs), which have an estimated prevalence as high as 5% (Streissguth and O'Malley, 2000; May et al., 2009). The prevalence of FASDs is high, as many women and health care professionals erroneously believe that it is safe to drink in moderation during pregnancy (Valenzuela et al., 2012). However, a large body of experimental evidence suggests that the developing brain can be significantly altered by moderate PAE (MPAE) (Valenzuela et al., 2012). Notably, studies suggest that MPAE significantly impairs hippocampal-dependent learning and memory (Savage et al., 2002; Brady et al., 2011). Currently, there are no effective treatments for MPAE-induced learning and memory deficits; this is a consequence of our limited understanding of the mechanisms responsible for these effects of MPAE. The dentate gyrus (DG), the primary site of efferent inputs into the hippocampus, has been shown to be an important target of MPAE (Valenzuela et al., 2012). We recently showed that MPAE produces deficits in a DG-dependent delayed non-match to place task in adult offspring (Brady et al., 2011). We hypothesized that this could be a consequence of alterations in synaptic plasticity in the DG secondary to impairments in the function of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs), which play a central role in DG synaptic plasticity and have been shown to be affected by MPAE (Costa et al., 2000; Malenka and Bear, 2004). Results of slice electrophysiological and biochemical techniques support this hypothesis, indicating that MPAE significantly impairs DG LTP, an effect that could be caused by changes in the subunit composition of synaptic NMDARs.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Prenatal alcohol exposure paradigm

All of the procedures used in the current studies were approved by the University of New Mexico Health Sciences Center Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

C57BL/6J mice (Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) were maintained on a reverse 12-hour dark/12-hour light schedule (lights on at 20:00 hours) in group-housed cages. The MPAE paradigm has been previously described (Brady et al., 2011). All measurements were conducted on adult (2-5 months of age) offspring. For the MPAE paradigm, prior to and throughout gestation, dams voluntarily consumed either 0.066% (w/v) saccharin (SAC; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) or a 10% (w/v) ethanol (EtOH; DLI, King of Prussia, PA) solution sweetened with 0.066% (w/v) SAC for four hours (from 10:00 to 14:00 hours).

5.2.2 Electrophysiological Recordings

SAC and MPAE offspring were anesthetized with 250mg ketamine/kg body weight and coronal brain slices (400 µm) were prepared, as previously described (Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2009) Slices were allowed to recover in artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF), containing (in mM) 119 NaCl, 4 KCl, 1.5 MgSO₄, 2.5 CaCl₂, 26.2 NaHCO₃, 1 NaH₂PO₄, and 11 glucose, equilibrated with 95% O₂/5% CO₂ at 28-30°C for at least 90 min. When indicated, ACSF containing low magnesium (0.1 mM MgSO₄) was used. Extracellular recordings from the medial perforant path (MPP) of the DG were made in slices maintained at 28-30°C perfused at 3.6 mL/min using an Axopatch 200B amplifier (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA). MPP recordings were confirmed by the

observation of paired pulse depression in ionotropic receptor-dependent fEPSP recordings. Stimulation intensity was set to elicit 40% of the maximal response based on input/output curves. Stimulation duration was 75 μ s and stimuli were delivered at 0.033 Hz, except when indicated. All recordings were done in the presence of 50 μ M picrotoxin (Tocris, Ellisville, MO).

For NMDAR-mediated fEPSPs, recordings were done in the presence of low Mg^{2+} , 10 µM 2,3-dioxo-6-nitro-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrobenzo[f]quinoxaline-7-sulfonamide (NBQX) (Tocris), and 10 µM glycine (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). To determine GluN2B contribution to NMDAR-mediated fEPSPs, a 10 min baseline of NMDAR-mediated fEPSPs was recorded, and 10 µM ifenprodil (Tocris) was applied for 10 min and washed out. For LTP, recordings were performed as described previously (Malleret *et al.*, 2010). Briefly, after a 10 min stable baseline was recorded in normal ACSF, four trains of theta burst stimulation (TBS; nine bursts of four pulses at 100 Hz, 200 ms interburst interval, 5 min intertrain interval) was delivered to the MPP. Recordings following TBS were made for 45 minutes. The fEPSP slope was measured as the response between the time points at which the response amplitude was 20 and 50% of the maximal amplitude for each fEPSP. In SAC animals, TBS stimulation was also recorded in in the presence of NMDAR antagonists [10µM MK-801 and 25µM pL-2-amino-5-phosphonovaleric acid (AP-5); Tocris] or 10µM ifenprodil.

5.2.3 Synaptic and extrasynaptic fraction preparation and immunoblotting of NMDA receptor subunits

Mice were anesthetized with ketamine (250 mg/kg body weight). The brain was rapidly removed and the DG was quickly microdissected and sonicated in homogenization buffer (Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2010) prior to storage at -80°C. Subcellular fractionation was performed as described by Goebel-Goody and colleagues (2009) with minor modifications as summarized in **Fig 2A**.

Protein concentrations of the TxP and TxS fractions were determined using the Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA) *DC* Protein Assay Kit with bovine albumin serum as a standard. Approximately 80% of the total homogenate protein was accounted for in the various subcellular fractions (data not shown).

Immunoblotting was performed as described in Samudio-Ruiz et al. (2010) using one of the following antibodies: anti-NR2A rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:1000 synaptic, 1:500 extrasynaptic, Phosphosolutions, Aurora, CO), anti-NR2B rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:1000 synaptic, 1:250 extrasynaptic, Phosphosolutions), anti-GluN1 C1, C2, or C2^{-/} rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:500, a generous gift from Dr. Michael Browning), anti-NR3A rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Santa Cruz, CA), anti-PSD-95 rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:1000, Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA), anti- β -actin rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:2000, Cell Signaling) or anti-GABA_AR α 4 rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.). For each sample, the anti-NMDAR subunit immunoreactivity was normalized to either anti-PSD-95 or anti- β -actin immunoreactivity. Optical density values were obtained using Image J (NIH).

5.2.4 Sample collection and data analysis

For electrophysiological recordings, male offspring were used, with only one animal used from a litter to eliminate litter effects. For subcellular fractionation and subsequent immunoblotting experiments, tissue from two males and two females from each litter were pooled, with the reported number of determination (n) designating one litter; no significant gender differences were noted.

Electrophysiological data were acquired and analyzed with pClamp9/10 (Molecular Devices) and either GraphPad 4.0/5.0 (GraphPad software, San Diego, CA) or SPSS (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). For the ifenprodil block experiment, the area under the curve was calculated for baseline and ifenprodil recordings, and the percentage change was calculated for each recording. Electrophysiology data were analyzed by unpaired *t*-test (ifenprodil block experiments,), two-way ANOVA (input/output (I/O) curves), or repeated measures two-way ANOVA (LTP experiments). To compare immunoreactivities across multiple gels, each gel contained both SAC and MPAE samples, and optical densities of all bands were normalized to the average optical density of the SAC samples on that gel (presented in figures). Immunoblotting data were analyzed using a one sample t-test by comparing the data for the MPAE samples to a SAC population mean value of 1. Data are presented as mean ± SEM.

5.3 Results

We employed a limited access paradigm that we have shown to yield moderate alcohol intake in dams (Brady et al., 2011). In the present study, animals were derived from litters born to dams having an average consumption of 6.89 ± 1.27 g EtOH/kg body weight/day (n=18); blood ethanol concentrations measured in dams whose litters were not used for experiments were 90.5 ±11.61 mg/dL (n=11). In agreement with our previous study, we found no significant differences between SAC and MPAE maternal

weight gain (maternal weight gain: SAC 9.4 \pm 0.6 g, MPAE 10.0 \pm 0.6 g, n.s.) or litter size: (SAC 7.1 \pm 0.3 pups, MPAE 6.7 \pm 0.3 pups, n.s).

Initial characterization of synaptic transmission in SAC and MPAE animals found no significant difference between SAC and MPAE input-output (I/O) curves for either ionotropic glutamatergic receptor-mediated fEPSPs (Two-way ANOVA, effect of treatment F[1, 60] = 0.0993, n.s., effect of input F[7, 60] = 16.53, p<0.0001, interaction F[7, 60] = 0.3175, n.s.) or NMDAR-mediated fEPSPs (Two-way ANOVA, effect of treatment F[1, 72] = 2.248, n.s., effect of input F[8, 72] = 16.19, p<0.0001, interaction F[8, 72] = 0.2677, n.s.), nor was a difference detected in ionotropic glutamatergic receptor-mediated fEPSP paired-pulse ratio between SAC and MPAE animals (SAC 0.95 ± 0.03 , MPAE 0.90 \pm 0.05, n.s; **Figure A10, Appendix A**.).

We examined whether MPAE altered NMDAR-dependent LTP in the DG. TBS elicited LTP in slices from the SAC group (**Fig 1A**). We confirmed that this LTP was NMDAR-dependent by blocking it with 10 μ M MK-801 and 25 μ M AP-5 (repeated measures two-way ANOVA: effect of time F[36,360] = 2.489, p=0.0001; effect of treatment F[1,10] = 6.010, p<0.05; interaction F[36, 360] = 3.174, p=0.0001; **Fig 1B** vs. **Fig 1A**). We also found that ifenprodil, a GluN2B subunit-specific antagonist, impaired LTP induction (repeated measures two-way ANOVA effect of time F[36, 360] = 2.876, p=0.001, effect of treatment F[1,10] = 5.780, p<0.05, interaction F[36, 360] = 2.987, p=0.0001), indicating that the TBS-elicited LTP was GluN2B subunit-dependent (**Fig 1C** vs. **Fig 1A**). Finally, we examined LTP in SAC and MPAE animals; repeated measures ANOVA found a significant effect of time (F[36, 432] = 4.655, p=0.0001), treatment

(F[1, 12] = 5.365, p<0.05), and an interaction (F[36, 432] = 2.754, p=0.0001; **Fig 1D** vs. **Fig 1A**), thus suggesting that MPAE animals have GluN2B NMDAR-dependent LTP deficits.



Figure 5.1Moderate prenatal alcohol exposure (MPAE) impairs *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR)-dependent long term potentiation (LTP) and reduces GluN2B-containing NMDAR contribution to fEPSPs in the dentate gyrus.

A-C. LTP is elicited in the dentate gyrus in saccharin (SAC) mice (**A**.), and can be blocked using 10μ M MK-801 and 25μ M AP-5 (**B**.) and the GluN2B-specific antagonist ifenprodil (**C**.) **D**. LTP is impaired in MPAE mice. **E**. In the presence of ifenprodil, the change in area under the curve measured from NMDAR-dependent fEPSPs was significantly decreased in MPAE mice compared to SAC (n=7, *p<0.05)

Having observed a deficit in GluN2B-dependent LTP, we assessed the contribution of GluN2B-containing NMDARs to basal synaptic transmission in SAC and MPAE mice by measuring NMDAR-mediated fEPSPs in the absence and presence of ifenprodil. fEPSPs were blocked by 10 μ M AP-5, confirming that they were NMDAR-dependent (**Fig 1E**). The amount of the first fEPSP blocked by ifenprodil (determined by measuring area under the curve) was significantly decreased in MPAE compared to SAC animals (SAC 11.19 ±2.51%, MPAE 3.01 ±2.47%, t[12] = 2.326, p<0.05; **Fig 1E**). No change in paired pulse ratio, either between SAC and MPAE or before and after ifenprodil, was observed (SAC without ifenprodil 2.54 ± 0.36, SAC with ifenprodil 2.62 ± 0.28, MPAE without ifenprodil 2.34 ± 0.21, MPAE with ifenprodil 2.53 ± 0.30).

We next determined whether the observed deficit in NMDAR-dependent synaptic plasticity was associated with alterations in NMDAR levels and/or synaptic localization in the DG. Toward this goal, subcellular fractions enriched in synaptic and extrasynaptic protein markers were prepared from control DG tissue. Postsynaptic density-protein 95 (PSD-95) was used as the synaptic fraction marker and the GABA_AR α 4 subunit was used as the extrasynaptic fraction marker (Chandra et al., 2006). As shown in **Fig 2B** and **2C**, PSD-95 was found only in the synaptic fraction and GABA_AR α 4 was enriched in the extrasynaptic fraction, indicating appropriate subcellular fractionation. Further evaluation found that PSD-95 and GABA_AR α 4 were found to be distributed similarly in both the SAC and MPAE tissue (**Fig 2D** and **2E**), demonstrating that MPAE does not lead to altered subcellular fractionation of these marker proteins.



Figure 5.2. Method and characterization of subcellular fractionation technique.

A. Method used for obtaining synaptic and extrasynaptic fractions. **B-E.** Characterization of synaptic and extrasynaptic fractions in control (SAC) and moderate prenatal alcohol exposure (MPAE) tissue. **B** – In control tissue, PSD-95 is enriched in the synaptic (TxP) fraction, present about 3-fold higher than in extrasynaptic (TxS) fraction (n=4). **C** – In control tissue, GABA_AR α 4 subunit is enriched in the TxS fraction, present about 2-fold higher than in the TxP fraction (n=4). **D** and **E** – In saccharin (SAC) vs. MPAE tissue, the level of PSD-95 in the TxP fraction (**D**) and GABA_AR α 4 in the TxS fraction (**E**), normalized to the amount present in total homogenate, is not different, indicating no alteration in fractionation.

The NMDAR is a tetramer composed of two obligatory GluN1 subunits and two modulatory GluN2 or GluN3 subunits (Prybylowski and Wenthold, 2004). Eight splice variants of the GluN1 subunit exist, four of which arise from alternate splice sites in the C-terminus (GluN1-1: C1 and C2 cassettes, GluN1-2: C2 cassette, GluN1-3: C1 and C2['] cassettes, GluN1-4: C2['] cassette); these C-terminal variants influence NMDAR trafficking (Horak and Wenthold, 2009). GluN2 subunits consist of four subtypes (A-D), which determine receptor kinetics and coupling to downstream signaling systems, while GluN3 subunits consist of two subtypes (A and B), which can convert the NMDAR into an excitatory glycine receptor (Smothers and Woodward, 2009). NMDAR GluN1, GluN2A, GluN2B, and GluN3A subunit protein levels in the TxP synaptic fraction and the TxS extrasynaptic fraction from DG tissue were determined by semi-quantitative immunoblotting. In initial studies, we found a significant increase in synaptic GluN1 subunit levels in MPAE DG (MPAE 1.87 \pm 0.19, one sample t-test vs. 1 t[4]=4.65, p < 0.05), leading us to examine the expression of the different GluN1 C-terminal splice variants by determining the levels of the C-terminal cassettes. We found an increase in C2'-containing GluN1 subunits (MPAE 1.48 \pm 0.10; one sample t-test vs. 1 t[8] = 4.698, p<0.01), with no change in C1- or C2-containing GluN1 subunits (n=9, n.s., Fig 3A). When we assessed the levels of the GluN2 subunits, we found that GluN2B subunit levels were decreased (MPAE 0.65 \pm 0.06; one sample t-test vs. 1 t[6]=5.418, p<0.01; Fig 3C) and GluN2A subunit levels were unchanged (n=6 SAC, 7 MPAE, ns; Fig 3B) in MPAE relative to SAC. Given that there was an increase in C2' -containing GluN1 subunit expression with no associated increase in either GluN2A or GluN2B subunits, we examined GluN3A subunit levels in the synaptic fraction. In MPAE animals, GluN3A levels were found to be increased compared to SAC (MPAE 1.47 ± 0.18 ; one sample t-test vs. 1 t[7]=2.5843, p<0.05; **Fig 3C**). We found no significant differences in the levels of GluN1, GluN2A, or GluN2B in the extrasynaptic fraction in MPAE animals compared to SAC (**Fig A11, Appendix A**). Attempts to measure the expression of GluN3A expression in the extrasynaptic fraction were unsuccessful, presumably due to the very low, or absence of, expression of this subunit in this compartment.



Figure 5.3. Moderate prenatal alcohol exposure (MPAE) leads to alterations of *N*-methyl-Daspartate receptor (NMDAR) subunit levels in the synaptic fraction of the dentate gyrus.

A. C2'-containing GluN1 subunit levels are significantly increased in MPAE mice compared to saccharin (SAC; n=9, **p<0.01), with no changes in C1- or C2-containing GluN1 subunits. **B.** GluN2A subunit levels are unchanged in MPAE mice compared to SAC. **C.** GluN2B subunit levels are significantly decreased in MPAE mice compared to SAC (n=7, *p<0.05). **D.** GluN3A subunit levels are significantly increased in MPAE mice compared to SAC (n=7, *p<0.05).

5.4 Discussion

We have shown that MPAE produces neurophysiological and neurochemical alterations in the adult mouse DG. While MPAE did not affect basal transmission, it was

associated with impaired NMDAR-dependent LTP and decreased contribution of GluN2B-containing NMDARs to fEPSPs. To our knowledge, although other studies have examined the effect of MPAE on LTP in the DG (Sutherland et al., 1997; Varaschin et al., 2010), none determined if observed deficits were NMDAR-dependent. Using immunoblotting techniques, we found that GluN2B levels were decreased, while C2′- containing GluN1 and GluN3A levels were increased, in an enriched synaptic fraction.

The decrease in synaptic localization of GluN2B in MPAE animals, seen both in immunoblotting studies and in electrophysiological recordings, is likely to be a contributing factor to the LTP deficits, as previous research has implicated GluN2B as important for LTP expression in the DG (Vasuta et al., 2007). Further, emerging research has implicated downstream signaling from GluN2B as being important for LTP. While alterations to the GluN2B C-terminal tail disrupted LTP, conversions of the GluN2A Cterminal tail to the GluN2B C-terminal tail restored LTP (Barria and Malinow, 2005; Foster et al., 2010). In addition, disruption of GluN2B levels at the synapse, either through dissociation from PSD-95 (Gardoni et al., 2009) or through genetic manipulation (Brigman et al., 2010), impairs LTP. A recent study found that early in development, switching the GluN2B subunit with the GluN2A subunit to restore NMDAR-mediated currents did not rescue GluN2B loss of function, primarily due to loss of signaling downstream of GluN2B (Wang et al., 2011). A decrease in GluN2B receptor levels in MPAE animals may alter downstream signaling in these animals, leading to the observed LTP deficits. Our earlier study (Samudio-Ruiz et al. 2009), demonstrating reduced NMDAR-dependent activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 in the DG of MPAE mice, supports this possibility,

Another mechanism by which the GluN2B deficit may affect LTP in MPAE animals is through its role in metaplasticity. Several papers have indicated that the ratio of GluN2A to GluN2B may play a role in determining the threshold for LTP or LTD induction, with an increase in the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio resulting in an increase in the threshold for LTP induction (Xu et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2010). *In vivo* studies examining the effects of MPAE on LTP in the DG have found that LTP is impaired in lower stimulus tetanization protocols, similar to our results, but is intact under high stimulus tetanization protocols (Varaschin et al., 2010). Further examination of the immunoblotting shows that the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio in the synaptic fraction is significantly increased in MPAE animals compared to SAC controls (**Fig A7, Appendix A**), which may shift the threshold for LTP in these animals and, thus, account for the observed electrophysiological deficit.

The increases in GluN1 and GluN3A subunits may also affect LTP expression in MPAE animals. The increase in synaptic C2'-containing GluN1 subunit levels, with no associated change in C1-containing subunits, suggests that the GluN1-4 splice variant, one of the two predominant splice variants in the hippocampus (Laurie and Seeburg, 1994), is increased in MPAE mouse DG. The GluN1-4 splice variant lacks the C1 cassette, which contains two endoplasmic reticulum retention signals that impede forward trafficking, and contains the C2' cassette, which has an enhancing effect on forward trafficking (Horak and Wenthold, 2009). Thus, an increase in C2'-containing GluN1 subunit levels. GluN3A subunits have been shown to preferentially traffic to the surface with GluN1-4

(Smothers and Woodward, 2009), potentially leading to the increase in synaptic GluN3A levels in these animals.

Diheterotetrameric GluN1/GluN3A NMDARs are excitatory glycine receptors, generally considered to be impermeable to Ca^{2+} . Alterations in the levels of GluN1/GluN3A-containing NMDARs may modify the Ca²⁺ load in a cell after glutamatergic stimulation, having effects on downstream signaling of NMDARs. However, although GluN1/GluN3A receptors have been found to traffic to the surface in transfected *Xenopus* oocytes, GluN3A requires the presence of either GluN3B or GluN2 to traffic to the surface in HEK293 cells (Low and Wee, 2010), indicating that GluN1/GluN3A diheterotetrameric receptors may not be present at the surface in mammalian cells. Unfortunately, we were unable to immunoblot for GluN3B using commercially available antibodies in our system, and could not determine whether GluN3B levels were increased. GluN3A incorporation into GluN1/GluN2-containing receptors would alter the function of the receptor by decreasing Ca²⁺ permeability and Mg²⁺ blockade (Perez-Otano et al., 2001). GluN3A levels are high soon after birth, and quickly decrease during the first 21 days, corresponding to the time of synaptic maturation (Perez-Otano et al., 2001). Although the role of GluN3A in synaptic maturation and plasticity has not been fully examined, overexpression of GluN3A in the CA1 of the hippocampus into adulthood has been reported to limit synapse potentiation (Roberts et al., 2009), which is of note given that animals prenatally exposed to ethanol have synaptic plasticity impairments.

Although other factors may be involved in the LTP deficits seen in adult MPAE animals, our study implicates MPAE alterations in NMDAR subunit composition at the synaptic membrane as a contributor to LTP deficits. Given the role that NMDARs play in LTP, it is likely that the GluN2B deficit and/or the C2⁻-containing GluN1 and GluN3A increases contribute to the LTP deficits seen in MPAE animals, and may be an avenue of exploration for therapeutic intervention.

6. General Discussion

6.1 Summary of Findings

The research detailed in this dissertation was conducted in order to test the hypothesis that a limited access, PAE model produces dentate gyrus-specific learning deficits that are associated with NMDA receptor-dependent LTP deficits and NMDAR subunit composition alterations.. This hypothesis was based on literature indicating that the dentate gyrus is a target for the damaging effects of PAE, exhibiting LTP deficits *in vivo* and NMDA receptor-dependent ERK 1/2 activation impairment *in vitro* (Sutherland et al., 1997; Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2009; Titterness and Christie, 2010; Varaschin et al., 2010).

The first portion of the hypothesis states that a limited access PAE model produces dentate gyrus-specific learning deficits. Although neurochemical and neurophysiological alterations in the dentate gyrus had been observed in other PAE models, a dentate gyrus-dependent behavioral correlate had not been reported. In order to test this hypothesis, a limited access model of PAE was developed and characterized. The limited access model was chosen in order to more closely mimic human behavior (discussed further below) than the voluntary, two-bottle choice paradigm previously used in the lab. The studies detailed in Chapter 4 show that four hour access to a 10% (w/v) ethanol solution sweetened with 0.066% (w/v) saccharin yielded dams with a mean daily ethanol intake of 7.17 ± 0.17 g ethanol/kg body weight/day and an average BEC of 88.3 \pm 11.5 mg/dL at the end of the four hour exposure. Compared to SAC, there were no differences in gross measures of offspring health (e.g., litter size) and no alterations in measures of maternal care (e.g., pup retrieval time), which can confound interpretation of

results obtained in the offspring. Differences between SAC and PAE adult mice were found in contextual and trace fear conditioning, two hippocampal-dependent learning tasks. These behavioral deficits have been observed in other PAE models with similar BECs (Weeber et al., 2001; Allan et al., 2003; Hunt et al., 2009), and correlate with hippocampal-dependent deficits seen in human studies with moderate BECs (Willford et al., 2004). Additionally, in a dentate gyrus-dependent, delayed non-match to place (DNMP) radial arm maze (RAM) task (Clelland et al., 2009), performance impairment was observed in PAE offspring in the limited access model, implicating PAE as having a deleterious effect on the dentate gyrus.

The second portion of the hypothesis states that NMDAR-dependent LTP in the dentate gyrus is impaired in PAE mice compared to controls. Although other studies have shown that LTP is impaired in PAE animals, to my knowledge none have provided evidence that links this deficit to NMDAR functioning. Initially, synaptic transmission was examined in SAC and PAE animals using *in vitro* slice electrophysiology. Analyses of fEPSPs revealed that there were no alterations in glutamate ionotropic receptor-dependent input/output (I/O) curves, indicating no overall change in NMDAR-dependent I/O curves, indicating no overall change in NMDAR-dependent I/O curves, indicating no overall change in NMDAR levels and/or function. LTP was then elicited using a sub-maximal theta-burst stimulation (TBS), which has been shown to produce moderate LTP in the dentate gyrus *in vitro* (Malleret et al., 2010). The use of sub-maximal LTP was chosen because previous *in vivo* studies had shown that moderate PAE leads to deficits in LTP elicited by sub-maximal, but not maximal, stimulation (Sutherland et al., 1997; Varaschin et al., 2010). Application of AP-5 and MK-801

prevented LTP in control animals, confirming that LTP was NMDAR-dependent. In addition, ifenprodil blocked LTP induction, indicating that the GluN2B subunit was important for this LTP paradigm in the dentate gyrus. Importantly, LTP induction was impaired in PAE mice compared to SAC mice. Ifenprodil blocked a lower percentage of NMDAR-dependent fEPSPs in PAE animals compared to controls, indicating that fewer NMDARs present at the synapse contained the GluN2B subunit. This is consistent with the observed deficit in LTP which, as noted above, was shown to be GluN2B-dependent.

The third portion of the hypothesis states that PAE alters NMDA receptor subunit composition in the dentate gyrus. To examine this question, NMDA receptor subunit levels were measured in subcellular fractions prepared from microdissected dentate gyrus tissue from control and PAE animals. A previous paper showed that synaptic and extrasynaptic fractions can be isolated from a synaptosomal membrane preparation based on solubility in a nonionic detergent, such as Triton X-100 (Goebel-Goody et al., 2009). As shown in chapter 5, I was able to confirm this separation by immunoblotting each fraction for a protein marker characteristic of that fraction: PSD-95 for the synaptic fraction, GABA_A receptor α 4 subunit for the extrasynaptic fraction. Further, I demonstrated that PAE does not alter the distribution of these markers after subcellular fractionation. Although no differences in NMDAR subunit levels in the extrasynaptic fraction, the present studies, it was determined that, in the synaptic fraction, there was an increase in the levels of the C2'-containing GluN1 and the GluN3A subunits, with a decrease in GluN2B subunit levels.

6.2 Interpretation and Significance of Results

6.2.1 Significance of PAE model

As mentioned in the Introduction, the development of an animal model for PAE must try to mimic human behavior as much as possible without introducing confounds that may interfere with the results and analyses of the results. Early PAE studies focused on fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS), a medical diagnosis in which there is a confirmation of maternal alcohol consumption and the child exhibits: 1) evidence of a characteristic pattern of minor facial anomalies, 2) evidence of prenatal and/or postnatal growth retardation, and 3) evidence of deficient brain growth (May et al., 2009). Although FAS is the most severe result of PAE, it may not be the most common. Children who have less severe manifestations of FASD are often less likely to be diagnosed and are rarely presented to those capable of making such diagnoses (May et al., 2009). As a consequence, these less severe cases are often estimated, based on reports of maternal drinking. A recent report of pregnant women showed that use of any alcohol during pregnancy is about 12% (Floyd et al., 2009), with the prevalence of FASD estimated as high as 5% of school children (May et al., 2009). Another problem encountered in human studies examining the effects of moderate ethanol exposure is that it is difficult to correlate the levels of ethanol intake with behavioral effects. Some studies have suggested that low amounts of maternal ethanol intake result in no discernible deficits in offspring (O'Leary et al., 2010), while maternal ethanol intake as low as 1 drink per week has been implicated in adverse child outcomes (Sood et al., 2001).

One of the goals of the present studies was to develop a PAE paradigm that modeled low-to-moderate ethanol intake, resulting in moderate BECs, and yielded offspring exhibiting hippocampal-dependent learning deficits, as seen in human offspring exposed to moderate levels of ethanol in utero (Willford et al., 2004; Mattson et al., 2011). One of the initial considerations was to determine the most appropriate timing and route of ethanol administration. Some studies have linked first trimester exposure to ethanol in humans with learning and memory deficits (Richardson et al., 2002b; Willford et al., 2004), indicating that this may be a time to target intervention for treating PAE. Interestingly, at this time period, the hippocampus, including the dentate gyrus, has not begun formation, indicating that dysregulation of these regions originates before migration of granule cells into this region. As mentioned before, the gestational period of the rodent, in our case the mouse, is the equivalent of the human first and second trimesters, with the early postnatal period of the mouse being the third trimester equivalent (Gil-Mohapel et al., 2010). Thus, while human maternal ethanol consumption may continue throughout the entire gestational period, this is difficult to model in rodents, because of this fundamental difference in the rodent third trimester equivalent compared to the third trimester in humans- i.e., in rodents it occurs postpartum, whereas in humans it occurs in utero. Consequently, it was decided to limit ethanol exposure to gestational stages and model first and second trimester exposure in humans. This decision is supported by a recent study showing that, of a cohort of about 95,000 women, most reported drinking in the first and second trimesters, with the levels of drinking decreasing greatly by the third trimester (Muhuri and Gfroerer, 2009)

Another factor to be considered was the mode of administration in the model. Previous models used various methods of administration, including liquid diet, intragastric intubation or gavage, and vapor inhalation. However, each model has its own

pitfalls (reviewed in Gil-Mohapel et al., 2010). Although liquid diets are effective for self-administration, mimicking the normal route of administration in humans, there may be large variations in consumption between mice, they may produce alterations in maternal behaviors, and they may elicit stress responses which may confound results. Gavage, while ensuring similar levels of consumption, elicits high BECs and significant stress responses that question its utility for studying moderate exposures, which can be achieved with less stressful paradigms. Although vapor inhalation may not elicit as great of a stress response as gavage, it does not mimic the oral route of administration used by humans. A recent model, previously used in our lab, used a voluntary, two-bottle choice paradigm where the dams were offered both water and either a 10% (w/v) ethanol solution (5% w/v in later studies) sweetened with 0.066% (w/v) saccharin or the 0.066% (w/v) saccharin solution alone (Allan et al., 2003). Although this was an improvement over previous models, my studies sought to update this paradigm to better model human behavior. First, the solutions were always available in the previously used model, thus allowing the dam to drink at any time during the day. Although this may give consistent BECs throughout the day, it may not mimic human behavior, where pregnant mothers consuming low-to-moderate levels of ethanol do so in a shorter time period: a recent study found that 38.8% of women who were pregnant in the last year reported consuming fewer than 4 drinks in one sitting (Caetano et al., 2006). It was decided, instead, to offer the ethanol solution [10% (w/v)] or saccharin control over a four hour time period during the dark cycle. Indeed, the previous model found that most of the ethanol consumption occurred during the dark period (Allan et al., 2003). By switching to a limited access paradigm, similar BECs [78 mg/dL with 5% (w/v) ethanol (Caldwell et al., 2008) vs. 88

mg/dL in the limited access model] were achieved, while more appropriately modeling human drinking behavior. In addition, there was greater variability in drinking among dams in the previous model compared to the limited access model [9.55 \pm 2.57 g EtOH/kg body weight/day (Caldwell et al., 2008) vs. 7.17 \pm 0.17 g EtOH/kg body weight/day], which should allow for less variability in offspring measures.

Similar to hippocampal-dependent learning and memory deficits that have been shown to be produced by other models of PAE, the offspring of mothers who had limited access to alcohol prior to and throughout gestation exhibited deficits in hippocampaldependent contextual and trace fear conditioning. This correlates well with the hippocampal-dependent spatial learning deficits that have been recorded in children that were exposed to alcohol *in utero* (discussed above), demonstrating the face validity of the model. One of the more interesting aspects of the model, however, is the demonstration of PAE deficits in the DNMP RAM task, which has been shown to be dentate gyrusdependent (Clelland et al., 2009). Although this was not entirely unsurprising, based on other neurochemical and electrophysiological data implicating this region in PAE effects, to my knowledge there is no evidence in the literature indicating dentate gyrus-specific effects of PAE in humans. Although imaging data has shown volume reductions in the hippocampal formation (Chen et al., 2003), and behavioral studies have shown hippocampal-dependent deficits, none of these studies has attempted to isolate the dentate gyrus as a precise target of PAE in humans. The role of pattern separation as a dentate gyrus-dependent task was based primarily on computer models and animal studies, (Treves et al., 2008), limiting studies on the effects of PAE on pattern separation in humans. However, a recent study set out to examine whether a pattern separation task was correlated with activity of the dentate gyrus/CA3 pathway using fMRI (Bakker et al., 2008). The researchers found a strong bias toward pattern separation was observed in the dentate gyrus/CA3, lending support to the dentate gyrus' role in pattern separation in humans. In addition, humans with mild cognitive impairment and who scored poorly on pattern separation tasks exhibited altered BOLD fMRI signals in the dentate gyrus/CA3 region during those tasks (Yassa et al., 2010). Based on the findings in the mouse FASD model and these human studies, I predict that children with FASD may exhibit deficits in pattern separation. The deficit in pattern separation seen in the mouse PAE model may also be the behavioral correlate of the LTP and ERK1/2 deficits seen in the dentate gyrus in other PAE models (Sutherland et al., 1997; Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2009; Varaschin et al., 2010), further strengthening the need to examine this region of the brain.

6.2.2 Significance of the NMDA receptor subunit alterations and LTP deficit

The alterations in synaptic membrane NMDAR subunit composition combined with the associated LTP deficits may help to explain the learning and memory deficits seen in the PAE mouse model. The NMDAR-dependent I/O curves were unchanged in PAE mice compared to SAC controls, indicating no gross alterations in NMDAR number and/or function. However, there were alterations in NMDAR subunit expression in immunoblotting experiments, specifically increases in C2′-containing GluN1 subunits and GluN3A subunits, with a corresponding decrease in GluN2B subunit levels. NMDAR-dependent fEPSPs also exhibited a decreased contribution of GluN2B subunits in PAE mice. Together, these alterations in subunit expression, with no change in NMDAR-dependent I/O curves, suggest a shift in subunit composition, rather than a shift in overall NMDAR levels. It is this shift in subunit composition that may be responsible for the LTP deficits seen in PAE animals (summarized in Figure 6A).



Figure 6.1. Model of PAE effects on NMDAR subunit composition and LTP in the dentate gyrus

6.2.2.1 <u>Changes seen in the GluN1 splice variants and GluN3A subunit levels in the</u> <u>synaptic membrane</u>

Although the increases seen in the levels of C2'-containing GluN1 subunits, as well as the increase in GluN3A subunits, were surprising, the current literature supports a potential role in producing LTP deficits in PAE mice. Studies have shown that GluN3A surface expression is increased with expression of C2'-containing GluN1 subunits (Smothers and Woodward, 2009), and so it is likely that these two subunits are complexed together at the synaptic membrane in the dentate gyrus, although their precise location (i.e., inner, middle or outer molecular layer or in the hilus), or whether they form diheterotetramers or triheterotetramers with GluN2 subunits, cannot be determined from these studies. Predicting the consequence of increased surface expression of GluN3Acontaining NMDARS is somewhat limited, since the exact role of these receptors is not Studies in heterologous systems have shown that diheterotetramers entirely clear. (consisting of GluN1 and GluN3A) are excitatory glycine receptors, exhibiting low Mg²⁺ sensitivity and little Ca²⁺ permeability (Low and Wee, 2010), which would indicate that their presence may alter the signaling profile. A shift from GluN2- to GluN3-containing NMDARs, therefore, would lead to a decreased Ca^{2+} load, but because these receptors remain permeable to Na^+ and K^+ , they contribute to the excitability of the cell. The low Mg²⁺ block would also allow these receptors to activate upon release of glycine from the presynaptic terminal without prior membrane depolarization. Consequently, these receptors would no longer act as a coincidence detector, as other non-GluN3-containing NMDARs would, but may contribute to overall depolarization of the membrane, similar to AMPARs, although perhaps not a significant amount, depending on the level of receptor increase compared to AMPAR levels. However, there are several reasons why these subunit increases may not lead to alterations in NMDAR fEPSPs in PAE animals. First, the measured K_d of rodent GluN3A NMDARs for glycine is 40nM, and therefore GluN3A is likely saturated by glycine in vivo (Yao and Mayer, 2006), which may mean it keeps the cell in a more depolarized state rather than responding to synaptic transmission (Henson et al., 2010) Release of further glycine may then bind to the GluN1 subunit, which has been shown to increase desensitization and thus have an antagonistic effect on the receptor (Pachernegg et al., 2012). In addition, and perhaps more importantly, although GluN1/GluN3A diheterotetrameric currents have been measured in Xenopus oocytes, there is controversy as to whether they exist endogenously. Studies have shown that GluN3A-dependent currents do not occur in HEK293 cell unless also co-transfected with GluN3B or GluN2 subunits, (Chatterton et al., 2002; Smothers and Woodward, 2009), and studies examining excitatory glycine receptors endogenously have thus far failed to detect currents (Tong et al., 2008), indicating that mammalian cells may not express functional GluN1/GluN3A heterodimers. However, a recent study, using electrophysiological recordings and Ca²⁺ imaging, detected the presence of GluN1/GluN3 receptors in mature optic nerve myelin (Pina-Crespo et al., 2010). This may indicate that the increase in GluN1 and GluN3A results in GluN1/GluN3A receptors, possibly occurring with a concomitant increase in GluN3B, which couldn't be measured in the present studies using the commercially available antibodies, or that GluN3A is incorporating itself into GluN1/GluN2 complexes.

The presence of GluN3A in GluN1/GluN2/GluN3A triheterotetramers imparts different functional and pharmacological characteristics in these receptors compared to

92

GluN1/GluN2-containing receptors (reviewed in Henson et al., 2010). Single channel recordings in heterologous systems co-expressing GluN1, GluN2A, and GluN3A show two distinct populations of NMDA-evoked currents- the typical GluN1/GluN2A currents, characterized by a large conductance, and currents that have much smaller conductances, likely due to the inclusion of GluN3A subunit. In GluN3A knockout mice, early postnatal cortical neurons exhibit enhanced NMDA responses and increased dendritic spine (Das et al., 1998), indicating that the presence of GluN3A produces a dominant negative effect on NMDARs. Another study has shown that overexpression of GluN3A in the forebrain of juvenile mice, which would produce higher expression of GluN3A later in development than normal, produces functional GluN1/GluN2/GluN3 receptors at the synaptic membrane, as well as decreased spine densities, fewer synapses, and impaired LTP (Roberts et al., 2009). Although spine densities and synapse number were not measured in the present studies, an LTP deficit was found in PAE mice, perhaps related to the increase in GluN3A. If PAE induces higher expression of GluN3A later in life, and leads to incorporation of GluN3A into NMDARs, it may be altering synapse development, and thus playing a role in LTP and learning and memory deficits.

If the GluN3A subunit is incorporated into GluN1/GluN2 NMDA receptors, it may be taking the place of the GluN2B subunits, which would explain why GluN2B subunit levels are decreased without a corresponding decrease in GluN1 subunit levels or increase in GluN2A levels. However, if this is the case, then the observed increase in GluN1 subunit levels would be unaccounted for. Studies have shown that in heterologous systems, GluN1-2, GluN1-3, and GluN1-4 splice variants are able to traffic to the surface without the presence of GluN2 or GluN3 subunits (Okabe et al., 1999;

Horak and Wenthold, 2009), indicating that it is possible that the increased expression of C2⁻-containing GluN1 subunits is due to non-complexed GluN1-4 subunits. Whether these subunits would exist solo or as homodimers, or whether this is actually possible in an endogenous system, is unknown.

6.2.2.2 <u>Significance of the decreases in GluN2B subunit levels and its possible effect on</u> LTP in PAE animals

In contrast to the paucity of information about the GluN3A subunit, the role of, and potential effect of decreased levels of, synaptic GluN2B subunits is much more established in the literature. In Chapter 2 it was noted that GluN2B antagonists, as well as genetic deletion of the GluN2B receptor, block LTP induction in various regions of the brain (Barria and Malinow, 2005; Zhao et al., 2005; Brigman et al., 2010). Studies employing receptor mutants have shown that the C-terminal tail of the GluN2B subunit is critical for its role in LTP (Kohr et al., 2003; Gardoni et al., 2009; Foster et al., 2010), particularly its interaction with CaMKII (Barria and Malinow, 2005; Zhou et al., 2007). Therefore, it stands to reason that reductions in GluN2B levels in the PAE mouse dentate gyrus, measured both in immunoblotting and electrophysiological studies, are a strong candidate for the mechanism underlying the LTP deficits that were recorded in these animals.

Another interesting possibility is that the GluN2B deficit exerts an effect on metaplasticity, rather than LTP itself. Metaplasticity has been defined as "the plasticity of plasticity", or the ability of neural circuits to alter the expression of LTP and long-term depression (LTD) after a subsequent bout of activity (Abraham, 2008). Metaplasticity could result in a sliding threshold for LTP or LTD induction, depending on previous

activity at that synapse. LTP inhibition, a form of metaplasticity, occurs when a stimulus frequency that is known to induce LTP no longer does, probably due to untimely NMDAR activation (Zorumski and Izumi, 2012). Low concentrations of NMDA prior to LTP induction, as well as weak tetanic stimulation, have been shown to inhibit LTP, with no overall change in basal synaptic transmission (reviewed in Zorumski and Izumi, 2012) This inhibition has been shown to be dependent on NMDARs, adenosine A2 receptors, p38 MAPKs, and the protein phosphatases 1A, 2A, and calcineurin (Abraham, 2008).

Although the precise role of the NMDARs in metaplasticity is unknown, many studies have implicated the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio as important for bidirectional synaptic plasticity, or the threshold at which LTP or LTD is induced, possibly due to the differences in open probabilities and decay times between GluN2A and GluN2B receptors, leading to different Ca²⁺ profiles (Lau and Zukin, 2007). The GluN2A/GluN2B ratio can be altered in a number of ways following neuronal activity (reviewed in Yashiro and Philpot, 2008). Early in development, there is an increase in GluN2A transcription, possibly due to NMDAR/PKA/CREB pathway activation, while older cortical cultures exhibit an increase in GluN2B protein after AP5 blockade. In addition, as discussed in Chapter 2, synaptic activity may lead to GluN2A accumulation in the synapse, and may alter the phosphorylation levels of the subunits, leading to either increased retention in the synaptic membrane or increased endocytosis, depending on the site of subunit phosphorylation. These activity-dependent changes may alter the ratio of GluN2A/GluN2B, thus changing the synaptic threshold for LTP or LTD.

Whole cell recordings from CA1 pyramidal cells found that priming stimuli that produce one-fifth maximal fEPSPs were able to shift the threshold for LTP/LTD (Xu et
al., 2009). After determining a stimulation protocol, termed the threshold protocol, that did not produce either LTP or LTD, the investigators found that priming stimuli of low frequencies (1 and 5 Hz for 600 pulses) triggered LTP at the threshold protocol, while priming stimuli of high frequencies (50 and 100 Hz) led to LTD at the threshold protocol, confirming that previous stimulation at a synapse can alter the subsequent synaptic plasticity. These priming stimuli altered the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio, with low frequency priming decreasing the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio and high frequency priming increasing the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio, indicating that a low GluN2A/GluN2B ratio lowers the threshold for LTP, while a high GluN2A/GluN2B ratio lowers the threshold for LTD. Xu and colleagues (2009) also found that low dose ifenprodil block, which increases the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio, elicits LTD, rather than LTP, at the threshold protocol. Another study also found that prolonged suppression of transmitter release, which in effect would create a "silent" postsynaptic synapse, resulted in increased GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors (and thereby a decreased GluN2A/GluN2B ratio) on the dendritic spine, as well as a lowered threshold for potentiation of the synapse (Lee et al., 2010).

PAE animals exhibited a decreased level of GluN2B subunits in the synaptic fraction, and further analysis determined that the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio is increased in these animals (Figure A7 in Appendix A; t[12]=2.196, p<0.05; n=7). This indicates that, in PAE animals, a stronger stimulus may be required in order to produce LTP, since the increased GluN2A/GluN2B ratio would slide the threshold towards LTD rather than LTP. This would also indicate that NMDAR-dependent LTD may be easier to elicit in PAE animals. This is supported by the fact that in dentate gyrus recordings *in vivo*, Sutherland and colleagues (1997) found LTP deficits in PAE animals at submaximal, but not at

maximal, LTP stimuli. Neither the Sutherland et al. (1997) nor the studies detailed in this dissertation examined the ability to induce LTD in PAE animals. In the dentate gyrus, homosynaptic LTD has been shown to be independent of the NMDAR; however, heterosynaptic LTD is NMDAR-dependent (Poschel and Stanton, 2007). Heterosynaptic LTD occurs when LTP that is induced in one perforant pathway, such as the medial perforant pathway, results in LTD in the other pathways (in this example, the lateral perforant pathway). This interplay of LTP and LTD in these pathways may help the dentate gyrus to encode pattern separation information: when one pathway is activated, the resulting inhibitory effect on the other pathway may prevent the activity in this second pathway from eliciting synaptic strengthening. Based on the results of this dissertation, I would predict that heterosynaptic LTD may be elicited at a lower threshold in PAE mice. If GluN2B levels in the dentate gyrus are altering the LTP and LTD thresholds, this may have profound effects on the ability of the dentate gyrus to encode information in the proper way.

The NMDAR also has a role in regulating adult neurogenesis, an important function of the dentate gyrus (reviewed in Parent, 2007; von Bohlen und Halbach, 2011). Dentate gyrus neural stem cells reside in the subgranular zone (SGZ), on the border of the granule cell layer and the hilus. There are three classes of neurogenic cells: Type 1, Type 2, and Type 3. Type 1 cells exist as radial glial-like astrocytes, and express glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and nestin. These cells give rise to fast proliferating intermediate precursors called transient amplifying precursor cells (TAPs). TAPS exist as two types, Type 2a and 2b. Type 2 cells express the stem cell marker Sox2, and may or may not express doublecortin (DCX; type 2a and 2b, respectively). These cells

transition into Type 3 cells, which at first are able to slowly proliferate, but soon differentiate into postmitotic immature neurons and then slowly migrate into the granule cell layer. Within this time period, usually about a week after birth, these cells are tonically activated by ambient GABA, which results in neuronal depolarization, rather than hyperpolarization (Deng et al., 2010b). During the second week, they begin to extend processes, with dendrites extending into the molecular layer and axons extending via the mossy fiber pathway to the CA3 region. In the third week, they begin to integrate into the existing neural circuitry, and respond to glutamatergic inputs. However, they are still quite different than mature neurons– they exhibit high membrane resistance and high resting potentials, which may contribute to increased excitability. Adult-born granule cells, at 4-6 weeks of age, exhibit a lower threshold for LTP than do older granule cells (Wang et al., 2000).

Several studies have implicated a role of adult neurogenesis in learning and memory. Enriched environment or exercise, both of which have been shown to increase adult neurogenesis, enhance performance on certain hippocampal-dependent tasks (Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2005; van Praag et al., 2005), whereas ablation and/or depletion of adult-born neurons disrupts certain forms on learning (Shors et al., 2001; Shors et al., 2002), suggesting a connection between neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus and hippocampal-dependent learning/memory. Given the hypothesized role of the dentate gyrus in pattern separation, there is a particular interest in the role of neurogenesis in pattern separation. As described in Chapter 4, (Clelland et al., 2009) reported that ablation of neurogenesis by irradiation of the dentate gyrus impaired radial maze performance of mice trained to differentiate between an initial sample arm and a

subsequent test arm that were closely separated but had no effect on performance when the mice were trained in a version of the task in which the arms were further apart in space. The same study also assessed performance in a touch screen spatial discrimination task, which required the mice to identify the correct location of an illuminated box, when provided with two choices, with the spatial location of the incorrect location varying in distance from the correct location. Similar to the DNMP task, mice with neurogenesis ablation were impaired in the tasks when the incorrect location was close to the correct location. Sahay and colleagues (2011) have shown that irradiation of the dentate gyrus, with consequent reduction in neurogenesis, impaired context discrimination: while control mice were able to discriminate between a context paired with an aversive stimulus (a footshock) and a similar context that was not paired with the aversive stimulus, as evidenced by reduced freezing (fear responding) in the second context, mice in whom the dentate gyrus had been irradiated displayed similar levels of freezing in the two contexts. However, by genetically increasing the level of neurogenesis, animals were better able to distinguish these two contexts. These studies implicate a role for neurogenesis in learning, specifically in pattern separation tasks that may be dependent on the dentate gyrus.

The NMDAR has been implicated in neurogenesis, as well as the incorporation of new neurons into an existing network, although its downstream effects may depend on the timing of activation. Some studies have found that NMDAR antagonism increases precursor cell proliferation (Cameron et al., 1995; Hu et al., 2008; Petrus et al., 2009). The mechanism by which this occurs, however, is unknown, since several studies have found that NMDAR subunits are not present on young granule cells or in precursor cells

99

until differentiation occurs (Nacher and McEwen, 2006; Muth-Kohne et al., 2010), although there is a possibility that they are expressed on the radial glial-like precursors (Nacher et al., 2007). A possible explanation is that the NMDAR is acting via indirect means, such as controlling GABA release from interneurons that may act on the excitatory GABA receptors present on these precursor cells.

Approximately two weeks following integration into the circuitry of the dentate gyrus, immature granule cells begin to receive glutamatergic inputs and have a lower threshold to elicit LTP. NMDARs are expressed by this point, and studies suggest that NMDAR activation is important for regulating circuit integration. If enprodil inhibits LTP in immature granule cells, indicating that LTP is GluN2B-dependent (Snyder et al., 2001b), and inhibition of NMDARs prevented LTP-dependent progenitor cell proliferation (Chun et al., 2006) and precursor differentiation (Babu et al., 2009). These studies indicate that the NMDAR is important for functional roles in immature granule cells, particularly in a positive feedback role after LTP induction. Similarly, NMDAR antagonist infusion into the lateral ventricles of rats during the training period of a delayed match to place (DMP) Morris water maze task resulted in learning impairments, associated with decreased cell survival, cell proliferation, and dendritic arborization of immature neurons compared to controls, indicating that the NMDAR is important for learning-induced changes in neurogenesis (Tronel et al., 2010). The inconsistencies with previous studies, which found that NMDARs played an inhibitory role in cell proliferation, may be the activation signal of the NMDAR; those studies that found an inhibitory role of the NMDAR simply blocked the receptor, with no other activation of the circuitry, whereas the latter studies were examining the role of the NMDAR after LTP and/or learning.

PAE has been shown to affect neurogenesis in the adult dentate gyrus in animal models, although the results of the studies have not been consistent, possibly due to the use of differing paradigms of alcohol exposure. Choi and colleagues (2005), using a moderate voluntary PAE model, found no change in the number of proliferating progenitors, but did find an impaired response to an enriched environment compared to controls, whereas other investigators (Redila et al., 2006; Boehme et al., 2011), who have employed a liquid diet paradigm, have reported that PAE was associated with decreased proliferation and neurogenesis. Klintsova and colleagues (2007) demonstrated that postnatal exposure to alcohol on PD 4-9 resulted in a reduced survival rate for new neurons in the rat dentate gyrus. In regards to this dissertation, alterations in NMDAR subunit composition at the synaptic membrane may help to account for these changes. A decrease in GluN2B-containing NMDARs, leading to decreased LTP in the dentate gyrus, may impair activity-dependent increases in neurogenesis and cell proliferation, similar to effects seen in several studies (Snyder et al., 2001b; Chun et al., 2006; Babu et al., 2009; Tronel et al., 2010), and lead to the impaired response in enriched environment reported by Choi and colleagues (2005). However, this would not account for the other studies that saw basal decreases in proliferation and neurogenesis. Overall decreases in NMDAR levels would presumably lead to increases in proliferation, since previous studies have shown NMDAR antagonism under basal conditions also lead to increases. However, PAE has also been shown to affect the GABAergic system, and since these cells are primarily GABA responsive, this may account for these changes.

A final consideration is whether alterations in the NMDAR subunits would lead to alterations in circuit incorporation, and thus contribute to LTP and learning deficits. If GluN2B subunit levels are decreased in a population of cells, including newborn neurons that are incorporating into the circuitry, this decrease (possibly combined with an increase in GluN3A) may increase the threshold for LTP, causing these cells to be pruned because they never get activated and incorporated into the existing circuitry. If this were the case, this would not only account for the observed decrease in LTP, but also for the impairment in pattern separation, since these newborn cells would no longer be able incorporate and provide new cells for encoding. However, whether the decrease in GluN2B (and increase in GluN3A) exists in the entire dentate gyrus, or whether it exists in a subset of cells, is unknown from these studies. It is unlikely that it would be limited to newborn neurons, since they only account for approximately 6% of granule cells in the dentate gyrus (Parent, 2007), but alterations to that 6% may have a profound impact on dentate gyrus function.

6.3 Future Directions

Analyses of the studies in this dissertation indicate that several avenues of research deserve further investigation, some of which have been discussed already. One drawback of the current studies is that the association between NMDAR subunit alterations, LTP deficits, and dentate gyrus-dependent learning deficits are corroborative, rather than definitive. Further investigation is needed to determine whether the LTP deficits are directly due to the observed NMDAR subunits changes, and are responsible for the learning deficits. There are several ways that this could be examined. First, restoration of NMDAR subunits to normal levels in PAE animals would determine

whether these changes are responsible for the LTP deficits. Short interfering RNA (siRNA) directed against C2⁻-containing GluN1 and/or GluN3A could be stereotaxically injected into the dentate gyrus of PAE mice to decrease these levels. Electrophysiology could then determine if LTP is recovered. It would be necessary to perform preliminary studies to determine exactly how much siRNA would need to be injected to restore normal levels. Restoration of GluN2B levels in the dentate gyrus at the synapse would also be important to determine the contribution of these reductions to LTP deficits in PAE mice. Transgenic mice containing a Cre-Lox GluN2B receptor could restore GluN2B receptor levels in PAE mice. This method, however, would have several pitfalls. First, since the current studies were performed in young adult animals, the increased expression of GluN2B would also need to occur at this point. The levels would also need to be expressed at specific levels, and therefore the promoter for the transgene would need to be considered carefully. In addition, an increase in GluN2B transcription may not necessarily result in increased expression at the synaptic membrane, since there are multiple levels of regulation for surface expression, including both at translational and trafficking levels. Another mechanism to increase GluN2B level expression would be to stereotaxically inject a vector, such as adeno-associated virus (AAV) or lentivirus, to overexpress GluN2B levels. This method would also encounter difficulties similar to transgenic mice, but the method would not be as complex. Restoration of GluN1, GluN2B, and GluN3A subunit levels in PAE to SAC levels would help confirm that the alterations in NMDAR subunit levels at the synapse are, at least partly, responsible for the LTP deficits in PAE mice. It is important to note, however, that altering levels of these subunits at the time points studied in this dissertation (2-5 months) would not adjust for any alterations that the GluN2B deficits may cause at earlier time points in development, such as synaptic maturation and circuit integration, which may also contribute to later deficits.

Another mechanism that may underlie changes in receptor subunit levels at the synaptic membrane would be alterations in the phosphorylation states of the different subunits. As discussed in Chapter 2, there are a number of serine/threonine and tyrosine sites on the C-terminals of GluN1, 2A, and 2B that are responsible for regulating synaptic targeting and endocytosis. Previous analysis of tyrosine phosphorylation levels in synaptic and extrasynaptic fractions found that phosphorylation of Tyr1472 on GluN2B was associated with synaptic membrane localization, while Tyr1336 phosphorylation on GluN2B was associated with extrasynaptic membrane localization (Goebel-Goody et al., 2009). Analysis of these phosphorylation sites would help determine if alterations in phosphorylation are consistent with the observed decrease in GluN2B in the synaptic membrane, with an expectation that Tyr1472 phosphorylation would be decreased in PAE animals. Tyr1472 has been shown to be phosphorylated by Src family kinases (SFKs); thus analysis of SFK levels, both total and activated, would be useful. Reductions in Tyr1472 phosphorylation could also (or alternatively) be due to an increase in phosphatase activity. Although the phosphatase that would be responsible for this is currently unknown, the striatal-enriched protein tyrosine phosphatase (STEP) is a strong candidate (Kurup et al., 2010). There are also several other pathways that may account for a decrease in Tyr1472. Inhibition of Cdk5, a proline-directed serine/threonine kinase, leads to increased Src association with PSD-95 and increased Tyr1472 phosphorylation, indicating a role of Ckd5 in negative regulation of GluN2B phosphorylation (Zhang et al., 2008). In addition, mice deficient in protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha (PTPα) show decreases in SFK activity, as well as decreased autophosphorylation of proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 (Pyk2), which is responsible for phosporylating and activating SFKs (Le et al., 2006). PAE alterations in any of these pathways could result in decreases in GluN2B Tyr1472 phosphorylation, thereby decreasing levels in the synaptic membrane. If Tyr1472 phosphorylation levels were decreased in PAE animals, an analysis of protein levels and activity levels of these kinases and phosphatases in SAC vs. PAE animals may indicate the cause of the decrease. In addition, rescue of these pathways using pharmacological methods *in vitro* may also show an increase in both Tyr1472 and GluN2B levels in PAE animals: for example, pharmacological inhibition of Ckd5 in PAE mice may lead to increased Tyr1472 phosphorylation and increased GluN2B expression in the synaptic membrane in these mice, and may lead to recovery of LTP deficits.

Another avenue to be researched further is the association of subunits at the surface. Although the current studies suggest that there is an increase in C2⁻-containing GluN1/GluN3A receptors, with a decrease in GluN2B-containing receptors, the exact stoichiometry of subunits in the receptors are unknown. There are several ways to examine this question. First, co-immunoprecipitation could determine if GluN3A was present with C2⁻-containing GluN1 alone or in combination with GluN1/GluN2A. Also, to determine whether the loss of GluN2B is from triheterotetrameric or diheterotetrameric receptors, a series of serial co-immunoprecipitations could be performed, as described by Al-Hallaq and colleagues (Al-Hallaq et al., 2007). For this method, an initial immunoprecipitation would be performed; for example, GluN2A would be immunoprecipitated (IP1). The unbound fraction would then be subjected to another

immunoprecipitation by anti-GluN2A (IP2) antibody. These two immunoprecipitations have been shown to remove the majority of GluN2A from the sample (Al-Hallaq et al., 2007). The unbound fraction from this step would be subjected to yet another immunoprecipitation (IP3), but this immunoprecipitation would be for another protein, for example GluN2B. Anything associated with this last fraction would then likely be receptors that do not contain GluN2A, but would contain GluN2B. The initial two IPs (IP1 and IP2) would likely contain GluN1/GluN2A diheterotetrameric and GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2B triheterotetrameric NMDARs. Using this method, the levels of GluN2B-containing triheterotetrameric and diheterotetrameric NMDARs could be determined in both SAC and PAE tissue, and this may elucidate whether the decrease in GluN2B is specific to an NMDA receptor complex type or simply an overall decrease.

It is not known whether the effects of PAE on GluN2B levels, and the apparent increase in the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio, exert an effect on thresholds for LTP and LTD in these animals. It has been suggested that there is a limit to the extent that changes in the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio can exert an effect on subsequent plasticity (Xu et al., 2009), with any increase in the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio higher than a 77% increase showing no effect. Based on the immunoblotting data, we found about a 65% increase in the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio, which would be in the appropriate range to exert an effect. To determine if the ratio is playing a role in the LTP deficits, it would be possible to attempt a preferential blockade of GluN2A to lower the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio, and then test the effects on LTP. Although NVP-AAM077, when used at higher concentrations, has been shown to be non-specific for the GluN2A receptor (Berberich et al., 2005; Neyton and Paoletti, 2006), lower concentrations have been shown to elicit a partial block of GluN2A

with no effect on GluN2B (Berberich et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2009). Using NVP to elicit a partial block of GluN2A would therefore decrease the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio, and consequently may lower the threshold for LTP in PAE animals. Whole cell recordings could be used to determine the appropriate GluN2A block to normalize the ratio, and field recordings could be used to examine LTP in treated and non-treated PAE animals.

As discussed earlier, the decrease in GluN2B subunits, as well as the increase in GluN3A subunits, specifically on newly born neurons may decrease the ability of these cells to incorporate into the existing circuitry, thereby altering the ability of the dentate gyrus to undergo LTP and/or learning. A new strain of mice described by Lagace and colleagues (2007) would allow for examination of newly born neurons and their incorporation into the circuitry in SAC and PAE mice. Briefly, Nestin-CreER^{T2} founder mice, containing a Cre recombinase linked to the estrogen receptor, were bred with R26R-YFP mice, which contain a STOP codon between two loxP sites next to YFP. Upon tamoxifen (TAM) administration, $CreER^{T2}$, which is under control of the Nestin promoter, can dimerize and enter the nucleus, where the Cre recombinase can interact with the *loxP* site to generate DNA recombination and remove the STOP codon, leading to expression of YFP. Since CreER^{T2} is under the control of the Nestin promoter, only cells that are actively expressing Nestin at the time of TAM injections (i.e., dividing cells) would undergo recombination and express YFP. YFP expression would continue throughout the life of the cell. Therefore, 4-6 weeks after TAM injections, immunohistochemistry (IHC) and electrophysiological recordings can assess cells expressing YFP, which can help to characterize these cells in SAC and PAE mice. Using IHC, the levels of GluN2B and GluN3A can be examined and co-localized with cells

expressing YFP, giving an indication as to whether these cells also exhibit subunit alterations. Whole cell recordings, using YFP to locate newborn neurons can determine whether GluN2B currents are altered in the cells, and can also determine if these cells have altered thresholds for LTP.

6.4 Critique of the Current Studies

Although every study is planned carefully, retrospective analysis often shows either limitations to the study or alternative methods to approach the study. In the case of my dissertation studies, one of the biggest limitations is the use of an animal model, and trying to compare data across animal models. An animal model is very useful for studying molecular mechanisms related to a human condition or disorder, such as FASD; however, at this point, no animal model can fully encompass all aspects of FASD seen in humans. Although similarities occur, allowing for limited study, there are a number of areas of the human disorder difficult to mimic in an animal model. For example, gestational exposure in our mouse model only covers the first and second trimester equivalent of a human gestational period. As noted, it has been reported in a recent study that, from a cohort of about 95,000 women, most reported drinking in the first and second trimesters, with the levels of drinking decreasing greatly by the third trimester (Muhuri and Gfroerer, 2009), allowing our model to encompass a large percentage of PAE cases; however, there are still instances in which women drink into the third trimester, which could not be assessed without modifying the model to include a postnatal exposure paradigm (e.g., inhalation chamber exposure). In addition, typically women who drink during pregnancy also have other factors present that could influence outcomes, such as other substance abuse or stress (Rubio et al., 2008; Muhuri and Gfroerer, 2009).

Although isolating the effect of prenatal ethanol exposure is important, these factors may also play a role in prenatal development, and may need to be considered and studied in a future model.

Another limitation of this study is the focus on young adult offspring. Many studies have demonstrated that PAE causes effects in humans into adolescence and young adulthood, providing the rationale for conducting our studies in mice that were the 2-5 month range. However, a drawback to this is that we don't know the developmental timeline for the changes seen. GluN2B levels decrease during development, as do GluN3A levels. It is possible that GluN2B levels are at normal expression throughout the beginning of development, and they decrease to below normal levels, or that they start out at lower levels, and undergo normal reduction. Similarly, during development, GluN3A could begin higher than normal, and reduce its subunit numbers by the same proportion, or it could begin at normal levels, and the mechanism for subunit level reduction is impaired, leading to later increased expression. The differences between these two scenarios could have a profound effect on development and regulation of the system. Further studies of subunit levels throughout the course of development would help to answer these questions.

The present studies were largely focused on PAE effects on the NMDAR, and did not take into account NMDAR effects on other receptors, or those receptors' effects on the NMDAR. As mentioned in Chapter 2, a number of receptors, including dopamine, histamine, opioid, and metabotropic glutamate receptors, are able to modulate NMDAR function. Alterations in these receptors by PAE could, therefore, have an influence on NMDARs, in addition to that done by PAE. For example, mGluR5 has been shown to activate PKC and lead to NMDAR phosphorylation, and may be physically connected via scaffolding proteins (Skeberdis et al., 2001; Heidinger et al., 2002). PAE has been shown to decrease mGluR5 levels in the dentate gyrus (Galindo et al., 2004), and preliminary studies in Appendix A.1 show that mGluR5 association with PSD-95 is significantly decreased in PAE offspring compared to controls in the whole hippocampus, which may alter it role in modulating NMDAR function. Further studies on this may not only help elucidate the full effect of PAE on the glutamatergic system, but may also provide another target for therapeutic intervention.

Another consideration in evaluating the current studies is the technique of *in vitro* hippocampal slice preparation. Although slice preparation can be very useful in isolating the hippocampus to perform electrophysiological studies, the process of preparing the slices may be quite damaging, which may influence the studies. Previous studies have shown that *in vitro* slice preparation results in very rapid spine retraction in dendrites, which then recover in an hour or so, typically during the slice recovery period (Kirov et al., 2004). The faithful recovery of the synaptic connections, however, is unknown. It is possible that alterations in spine recovery may give an inaccurate picture of LTP in hippocampal slices. When comparing SAC and PAE slice preparations, this may have two major implications that would influence the interpretation of results. First, both sets of slices undergo similar spine retraction and recovery; thus, if any alterations in synaptic connections do occur during recovery, they are similar between the two groups, and therefore LTP comparisons between the two groups are not compromised. However, it is possible the PAE may result in spine recovery different than that seen in SAC slices, and

it is this that account for the difference between LTP, rather than PAE effects on LTP induction itself.

Lastly, our studies did not examine the effect of PAE on the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which is a key component of the stress response system. The HPA axis regulates a number of endocrine changes, including cortisol (corticosterone in rodents; CORT) release, which has been implicated in learning and memory mechanisms in the hippocampus. Chronic CORT exposure has been shown to lead to GluN2B subunit reductions in rats (Gourley et al., 2009), inhibition of NMDAR currents (Liu et al., 2007), and reduced neurogenesis. Studies have shown that PAE causes HPA tone to be increased throughout life, and is associated with higher basal and post-stress cortisol in humans, as well as higher post-stress corticosterone levels in animal studies (Weinberg et al., 2008). This may indicate that PAE effects on CORT may have a direct and/or indirect impact on the effects of PAE on NMDARs, and that the effect of PAE on both factors may interact to induce the phenotype seen in FASD.

6.5 Summary

In summary, this dissertation was designed and carried out to uncover a potential mechanism that may explain dentate gyrus-dependent learning deficits seen in PAE animals. These studies initially focused on developing and characterizing a moderate, limited access PAE model, in an attempt to both better mimic human drinking patterns during pregnancy and to determine whether dentate gyrus-dependent deficits do exist, which would be consistent with the literature. As shown in Chapter 4, animals achieved moderate BECs with no alterations in maternal care, and their offspring displayed

impairments in hippocampal-dependent learning tasks, similar to those seen in previous models. Prior literature has found electrophysiological and biochemical alterations in the dentate gyrus that would support deficits in dentate-gyrus dependent learning, and our model confirms that these deficits are present. Further studies set out to determine a cellular mechanism for the observed learning deficits in the dentate gyrus. Previous literature has implicated a role of the NMDAR in these alterations. Examination of NMDAR subunit levels in the synaptic and extrasynaptic membrane in the dentate gyrus found an increase in C2⁻-containing GluN1 subunits, an increase in GluN3A subunits, and a decrease in GluN2B subunits in the synaptic fraction, with no differences in the The deficit in GluN2B subunits was confirmed by extrasynaptic fraction. electrophysiological recording using pharmacological blockade, and NMDAR-dependent LTP was found to be impaired in the dentate gyrus of PAE animals, suggesting that the deficit in GluN2B may be responsible. These alterations may underlie the dentate gyrusdependent learning deficits seen in our model. Further, these studies provide a basis for later studies that may help to delineate the role of PAE in alterations in the NMDAR and its subsequent effects on metaplasticity and neurogenesis.

Appendix A: Supplemental Data



Figure A1:

Figure A1. PAE alters the association of mGluR5 and GluN2B with PSD-95 in the hippocampus.

The hippocampus was dissected from SAC and PAE animals and homogenized. A P2 fraction was obtained as described in (Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2010), solubilized with 1% DOC, and incubated with Protein A Sepharose beads and antibodies directed against PSD-95. Immuno-complexes were processed as described by Samudio-Ruiz *et al.*(2010) and immunoblotting for levels of GluN2B, mGluR5, and PSD-95 was performed. A)PAE animals have decreased association of GluN2B with PSD-95 compared to controls, consistent with results seen in the lab's previous model. t[13]=2.193, p<0.05, n=8 SAC, 7 PAE. B)PAE animals have decreased association of mGluR5/PSD-95 to the GluN2B/PSD-95 ratio shows that there is no significant difference in mGluR5/GluN2B ratio, indicating that although both exhibit decreased association with PSD-95, their relative levels coupled together via scaffolding are unaltered.

Figure A2:



Figure A2. Dose response of mGluR5/GluN2B association as measured by co-immunoprecipitation following hippocampal slice activation with 0, 25, 50, and 100µM NMDA.

 300μ M slices were prepared as described in Chapter 5, and incubated with the appropriate NMDA dose for 3 min before the hippocampus was dissected out and homogenized. A P2 fraction was prepared, the membrane was solubilized in 1% deoxycholate (DOC), and the sample was then incubated with Protein G microbeads and antibodies directed against GluN2B were used to immunoprecipitate the protein. After eluting the protein from the beads, a Western blot was performed and the levels of mGluR5 and GluN2B were determined. n=2 for 0, 25, and 50 μ M NMDA and n=1 for 100 μ M NMDA.

Figure A3:



Figure A3. Semiquantitative immunoblotting analysis for mGluR5 levels in the dentate gyrus from SAC and PAE animals.

Microdissection and Western blot analysis was performed as described in Chapter 5. After immunoblotting, two distinct bands were observed, one at the predicted molecular weight (130 kD) and one at twice the predicted molecular weight (260 kD). Further research indicated that mGluR5 forms dimers that may not completely dissociate upon SDS solubilization. A) Analysis of monomer band of mGluR5. t[10]=4.282, **p<0.01 SAC n=7 PAE n=5. B) Analysis of dimer band of mGluR5. t[6]=4.222, **p<0.01 n=4

Figure A4:



Figure A4. Linear range determination in TxP fractions for GluN1, GluN2A, GluN2B, and PSD-95.

Subcellular fractionation was performed on naïve tissue as described in Chapter 5, and the TxP fraction was loaded onto a gel in increasing protein concentrations and immunoblotted for the appropriate protein. The optimum total protein concentration was determined to be 3µg for GluN1, 2A, 2B, and PSD-95 and was used for TxP immunoblotting experiments.

Figure A5:



Figure A5. LTP protocols

A number of LTP protocols were tested in *in vitro* slices from naïve animals to determine the protocol which would produce the most consistent results in the medial perforant path-dentate gyrus pathway. A) LTP was elicited using 5 trains of 4 bursts of 4 pulses at 100Hz, with an interburst interval (IBI) of 200ms and an intertrain interval of 30s (n=5). B) 1 train of 100Hz for 1s (n=1). C)The LTP protocol chosen for use in the experiments in Chapter 5: 4 trains of 9 bursts of 4 pulses at 100Hz, IBI 200ms, ITI 5 min (n=4).

Figure A6:



Figure A6. A number of LTD protocols were tested in *in vitro* slices from naïve animals in the MPP-DG pathway.

A) Stimulation protocol of 5Hz for 120s (n=1). B) Stimulation protocol of 2Hz for 600s (n=1). C. Stimulation protocol of 1 Hz for 900s (n=2). Further research found that homosynaptic LTD was not NMDAR-dependent (see Chapter 6), so these studies were not pursued.

Figure A7



Figure A7. The ratio of GluN2A/GluN2B in the synaptic membrane in PAE animals in increased.

The levels of GluN2A and GluN2B were determined in the synaptic membrane using immunoblotting, and were normalized to PSD-95 levels, as described in Chapter 5. The ratio of GluN2A to GluN2B was then determining, normalized to control levels. t[12] = 2.196,* p<0.05, n=7

Figure A8

Table A8.1 – Primers used for RT-PCR study

Target	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
Grin1-1	GCCCGACCCTAAAAAGAAAG	TGCTCGTGTCTTTGGAGGAC
Grin1-2	ACGTGTGGAGGAAGAACAGC	CTCTCCCTATGACGGGAACA
Grin1-3	CCCGACCCTAAAAAGAAAGC	TGGTACTGCGTGTCTTTGGA
Grin1-4	AGATCGCCTACAAGCGACAC	TGGTACTGCTGCAGGTTCTTC
Grin2A	ACGTGACAGAACGCGAACTT	ATCTCCAAACACCAAGCCAT
Grin2B	GCCATGAACGAGACTGACCC	CCATTATCATAGATGAGCCC
Grin3A	TCAGAATCCCCTGCACCTAC	GACTCGAGGTGGAACTTGGA
HPRT1	GCCGAGGATTTGGAAAAAGT	ATCCAGCAGGTCAGCAAAGAA
Cyclophilin A	TGCTGGACCAAACACAAACG	GCCTTCTTTCACCTTCCCAAA

A.





Figure A8. PAE does not alter NMDAR subunit mRNA levels in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus.

The dentate gyrus was microdissected from each animal [approximately 5-10µg of tissue, prepped with RNAlater (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) per manufacturer's instructions] and was transferred to a QIAshredder[™] homogenizer (Qiagen, Valencia CA) for thorough lysis and used according to manufacturer's protocol. RNA was extracted using an RNeasy® Plus Mini Kit (Oiagen) exactly as described by manufacturer. The mRNA concentration was determined (OD 260 nm) using a NanoDrop® ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). Isolated mRNA was stored at -80°C. Reverse transcription was performed using a QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (Qiagen) and a PTC-200 Peltier Thermal Cycler. Primers for the different NMDAR subunit mRNAs (Table A8.1) were designed as follows: Grin1-1, Grin1-2, and Grin1-4 based on sequences from GenBank and Hollmann and colleagues (1993), Grin1-3 from Manta and colleagues (2011), and Grin2A, Grin2B, and Grin3A from GenBank. PCR products for each primer were confirmed both with DNA gel electrophoresis and DNA sequencing. Primer efficiencies were validated. RT-PCR was performed using a QuantiFast SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen) on a 7300 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). Proper controls, i.e. no template controls and reverse transcription controls, were used and a dissociation curve was evaluated. Results were assessed using the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method (n=7 for all mRNAs tested). A.) No significant difference was found between SAC and PAE mice for Grin1 splice variant mRNA levels. B.) No significant difference was found between SAC and PAE mice for Grin 2A, 2B, or 3A mRNA levels.

Figure A9



Figure A9. NMDAR subunit levels are altered in a crude synaptosomal membrane fraction from the dentate gyrus of PAE animals.

The dentate gyrus from SAC and PAE mice was microdissected, and a P2 fraction was obtained as described in (Samudio-Ruiz et al., 2010). Western blot analysis was performed and analyzed as described in Chapter 5. A.) GluN1 subunit levels are increased in PAE animals compared to SAC (SAC 1.00, PAE 3.10 ± 0.78 ; t[9] = 2.6982, p<0.05). B.) GluN2A levels are increased in PAE animals compared to SAC (SAC 1.00, PAE (SAC 1.00, PAE 4.48 ± 0.59; t[5] = 5.9053, p<0.01). C.) GluN2B levels are not significantly different in PAE animals vs. SAC (n=7).

Discussion/Interpretation of results from Appendices 8 and 9:

The data from Chapter 5 indicate that there is an alteration of NMDAR subunit levels at the synaptic membrane. These alterations could arise for several reasons; alterations in subunit transcription, translation, and/or trafficking would all possibly lead to altered surface expression. Appendix 8 examined mRNA levels for the different NMDAR subunits, and no significant differences were found between SAC and PAE animals, indicating that the dysregulation does not occur at the transcriptional level. It should be noted, however, that these values had a large amount of variability associated with them, which may interfere with interpretation of the results. Examination of the P2 fraction shows an increase in GluN1 subunit levels and GluN2A subunit levels, with no change in GluN2B subunit levels. This information leads to several different conclusions. First, the increase in GluN1 levels seen at both the P2 fraction and the synaptic membrane fraction would indicate that the increased synaptic membrane levels in PAE animals may be due to overall increases in GluN1 expression, possibly though altered GluN1 translation. If the increase in GluN1 P2 subunit levels mimics the increase seen at the synaptic membrane and is GluN1-4 specific (C2´-containing GluN1), then the increase at the P2 fraction level may allow for increased trafficking to the surface, since this splice variant does not have the ERR signal found in the C1 cassette. In addition, if GluN3A subunit levels are increased at the P2 fraction (not determined in this study), this may also aid in forward trafficking of the GluN1 subunit. The GluN2A subunit increase in the P2 fraction, with no concurrent increase either mRNA levels or subunit levels in the synaptic or extrasynaptic membranes, is intriguing. This would imply that GluN2A translation is increased in the endoplasmic reticulum (which is also fractionated with the P2 fraction), but is not forward trafficked to the synaptic membrane. The likelihood of this is unknown. GluN2A forward trafficking is activity dependent (Barria and Malinow, 2002; Storey et al., 2011), so it is possible that while GluN2A translation is increased in PAE animals, they do not reach the surface due to overall decreased synaptic activity in PAE animals, possibly due to the observed decreased GluN2B synaptic levels. The required activation for GluN2A incorporation is unknown; most studies examine activitydependent incorporation by blocking all NMDAR activity using AP5. The decrease in GluN2B synaptic levels, with no associated decrease in mRNA or P2 levels, would indicate that the decrease is due to altered trafficking of the GluN2B subunit. GluN2B synaptic incorporation is constitutive, indicating that alterations to the constitutive exocytic pathway may occur in PAE animals. Recently, an N-glcosylation site in the M3-M4 loop of the GluN2B N-terminus, which is not present in the GluN2A subunit, has

been shown to be responsible for the constitutive trafficking of the GluN2B subunit (Storey et al., 2011). Alterations to glycosylation could alter forward trafficking of the GluN2B subunit. Further studies are needed to determine the level of dysregulation for the NMDAR subunits.

Figure A10



Figure A10. Basal synaptic transmission is unaltered in PAE mice.

A. Input/Output (I/O) curves for ionotropic receptors in SAC and PAE mice. Two-way ANOVA indicated no significant difference between I/O curves. **B.** NMDAR-mediated I/O curves in SAC and PAE mice. Two-way ANOVA indicated no significant difference.

Figure A11.



Figure A11. Prenatal alcohol exposure does not significantly alter NMDAR subunit levels in the extrasynaptic fraction.

A. GluN1 (n=10), **B.** GluN2A (n=7), and **C.** GluN2B (n=7) subunit levels are unaltered in PAE mice compared to SAC. No significant difference was found for any subunits.

Abbreviations Used

AMPA	α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid	
AP5	2-amino-5-phsophonopentanoate	
ARND	alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder	
AUC	area under the curve	
BDNF	brain derived neurotrophic factor	
BEC	blood ethanol concentration	
CA	cornu ammonis	
Ca ²⁺	calcium ion	
CASK	calcium/calmodulin-dependent serine protein kinase	
CaMKII	calcium/calmodulin activated kinase II	
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate	
Cd^{2+}	cadmium ion	
CK2	casein kinase II	
CREB	cAMP response element binding protein	
CS	conditioned stimulus	
D1	dopamine 1	
DNMP	delayed non-match to place	
DPC	deoxycholate	
Е	embryonic day	
EDTA	ethylene diaminetetraacetic acid	
EGTA	ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid	
EPSC	excitatory postsynaptic current	
ERK 1/2	extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2	
ER	endoplasmic reticulum	
ERR	endoplasmic reticulum retention	
EtOH	ethanol	
FAS	fetal alcohol syndrome	
FASD	fetal alcohol spectrum disorder	
fEPSP	field excitatory postsynaptic potential	
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid	

GABAR	γ-aminobutyric acid receptor
GD	gestational day
HB	homogenization buffer
HEK293	human embryonic kidney cells 293
HFS	high frequency stimulation
IBI	interburst interval
I/O	input/output
ITI	intertrain interval
LPP	lateral perforant pathway
LTP	long term potentiation
LTD	long term depression
MEK	MAP kinase/ERK kinase
Mg^{2+}	magnesium ion
mGluR	metabotropic glutamate receptor
MOPP	molecular layer perforant path-associated cell
MPAE	moderate prenatal alcohol exposure
MPP	medial perforant pathway
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
nAChR	nicotinic acetylcholine receptor
NAD	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NBNI	norbinaltorphimine
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NMDAR	<i>N</i> -methyl-D-aspartate receptor
PAE	prenatal alcohol exposure
PD	postnatal day
PDZ	PSD-95/Dlg1/zo-1 protein
РКА	protein kinase A
РКС	protein kinase C
РКМ	protein kinase M
PSD	postsynaptic density

PTP	protein tyrosine phosphatase
RAM	radial arm maze
RT-PCR	real time polymerase chain reaction
SAC	saccharin
SAP	synapse associated protein
SFK	Src family kinase
SGZ	subgranular zone
SNARE	soluble NSF attachment protein receptor
STEP	striatal-enriched tyrosine phosphatase
TBS	theta burst stimulation
TGN	trans-Golgi network
TM	transmembrane
TxP	triton pellet fraction (synaptic fraction)
TxS	triton soluble fraction (extrasynaptic fraction)
US	unconditioned stimulus
VGCC	voltage gated calcium channel
Zn^{2+}	zinc ion

References

- Abraham WC (2008) Metaplasticity: tuning synapses and networks for plasticity. Nature reviews Neuroscience 9:387.
- Acsady L, Kali S (2007) Models, structure, function: the transformation of cortical signals in the dentate gyrus. Prog Brain Res 163:577-599.
- Ahlander M, Misane I, Schott PA, Ogren SO (1999) A behavioral analysis of the spatial learning deficit induced by the NMDA receptor antagonist MK-801 (dizocilpine) in the rat. Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology 21:414-426.
- Ahmed T, Frey JU (2005) Plasticity-specific phosphorylation of CaMKII, MAP-kinases and CREB during late-LTP in rat hippocampal slices in vitro. Neuropharmacology 49:477-492.
- Al-Hallaq RA, Yasuda RP, Wolfe BB (2001) Enrichment of N-methyl-D-aspartate NR1 splice variants and synaptic proteins in rat postsynaptic densities. Journal of neurochemistry 77:110-119.
- Al-Hallaq RA, Conrads TP, Veenstra TD, Wenthold RJ (2007) NMDA di-heteromeric receptor populations and associated proteins in rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 27:8334-8343.
- Allan AM, Chynoweth J, Tyler LA, Caldwell KK (2003) A mouse model of prenatal ethanol exposure using a voluntary drinking paradigm. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 27:2009-2016.
- Amaral DG, Scharfman HE, Lavenex P (2007a) The dentate gyrus: fundamental neuroanatomical organization (dentate gyrus for dummies). Prog Brain Res 163:3-22.
- Amaral DG, Scharfman HE, Lavenex P (2007b) The dentate gyrus: fundamental neuroanatomical organization (dentate gyrus for dummies). Progress in brain research 163:3-22.
- Babu H, Ramirez-Rodriguez G, Fabel K, Bischofberger J, Kempermann G (2009) Synaptic Network Activity Induces Neuronal Differentiation of Adult Hippocampal Precursor Cells through BDNF Signaling. Front Neurosci 3:49.
- Bakker A, Kirwan CB, Miller M, Stark CE (2008) Pattern separation in the human hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus. Science 319:1640-1642.
- Barbier E, Houchi H, Warnault V, Pierrefiche O, Daoust M, Naassila M (2009) Effects of prenatal and postnatal maternal ethanol on offspring response to alcohol and psychostimulants in long evans rats. Neuroscience 161:427-440.
- Barria A, Malinow R (2002) Subunit-specific NMDA receptor trafficking to synapses. Neuron 35:345-353.

- Barria A, Malinow R (2005) NMDA receptor subunit composition controls synaptic plasticity by regulating binding to CaMKII. Neuron 48:289-301.
- Bast T, Zhang WN, Feldon J (2003) Dorsal hippocampus and classical fear conditioning to tone and context in rats: effects of local NMDA-receptor blockade and stimulation. Hippocampus 13:657-675.
- Benke TA, Luthi A, Isaac JT, Collingridge GL (1998) Modulation of AMPA receptor unitary conductance by synaptic activity. Nature 393:793-797.
- Berberich S, Punnakkal P, Jensen V, Pawlak V, Seeburg PH, Hvalby O, Kohr G (2005) Lack of NMDA receptor subtype selectivity for hippocampal long-term potentiation. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 25:6907-6910.
- Berman RF, Hannigan JH (2000) Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on the hippocampus: spatial behavior, electrophysiology, and neuroanatomy. Hippocampus 10:94-110.
- Bischoff C, Tiedtke PI (1992) Competitive and non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonists in spatial learning tasks. Eur J Pharmacol 213:269-273.
- Bliss TV, Collingridge GL (1993) A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature 361:31-39.
- Blum S, Moore AN, Adams F, Dash PK (1999) A mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in the CA1/CA2 subfield of the dorsal hippocampus is essential for longterm spatial memory. J Neurosci 19:3535-3544.
- Boehm J, Kang MG, Johnson RC, Esteban J, Huganir RL, Malinow R (2006) Synaptic incorporation of AMPA receptors during LTP is controlled by a PKC phosphorylation site on GluR1. Neuron 51:213-225.
- Boehm SL, 2nd, Moore EM, Walsh CD, Gross CD, Cavelli AM, Gigante E, Linsenbardt DN (2008) Using drinking in the dark to model prenatal binge-like exposure to ethanol in C57BL/6J mice. Dev Psychobiol 50:566-578.
- Boehme F, Gil-Mohapel J, Cox A, Patten A, Giles E, Brocardo PS, Christie BR (2011) Voluntary exercise induces adult hippocampal neurogenesis and BDNF expression in a rodent model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. The European journal of neuroscience 33:1799-1811.
- Bonthius DJ, Woodhouse J, Bonthius NE, Taggard DA, Lothman EW (2001) Reduced seizure threshold and hippocampal cell loss in rats exposed to alcohol during the brain growth spurt. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 25:70-82.
- Bozon B, Kelly A, Josselyn SA, Silva AJ, Davis S, Laroche S (2003) MAPK, CREB and zif268 are all required for the consolidation of recognition memory. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological sciences 358:805-814.
- Brady ML, Allan AM, Caldwell KK (2011) A Limited Access Mouse Model of Prenatal Alcohol Exposure that Produces Long-Lasting Deficits in Hippocampal-Dependent Learning and Memory. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 36:457-466.
- Brigman JL, Wright T, Talani G, Prasad-Mulcare S, Jinde S, Seabold GK, Mathur P, Davis MI, Bock R, Gustin RM, Colbran RJ, Alvarez VA, Nakazawa K, Delpire E, Lovinger DM, Holmes A (2010) Loss of GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors in CA1 hippocampus and cortex impairs long-term depression, reduces dendritic spine density, and disrupts learning. J Neurosci 30:4590-4600.
- Brown RE, Reymann KG (1996) Histamine H3 receptor-mediated depression of synaptic transmission in the dentate gyrus of the rat in vitro. The Journal of physiology 496 (Pt 1):175-184.
- Bruel-Jungerman E, Laroche S, Rampon C (2005) New neurons in the dentate gyrus are involved in the expression of enhanced long-term memory following environmental enrichment. The European journal of neuroscience 21:513-521.
- Burban A, Faucard R, Armand V, Bayard C, Vorobjev V, Arrang JM (2010) Histamine potentiates N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors by interacting with an allosteric site distinct from the polyamine binding site. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 332:912-921.
- Caetano R, Ramisetty-Mikler S, Floyd LR, McGrath C (2006) The epidemiology of drinking among women of child-bearing age. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 30:1023-1030.
- Caldwell KK, Sheema S, Paz RD, Samudio-Ruiz SL, Laughlin MH, Spence NE, Roehlk MJ, Alcon SN, Allan AM (2008) Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder-associated depression: evidence for reductions in the levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in a mouse model. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 90:614-624.
- Cameron HA, McEwen BS, Gould E (1995) Regulation of adult neurogenesis by excitatory input and NMDA receptor activation in the dentate gyrus. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 15:4687-4692.
- Carneiro LM, Diogenes JP, Vasconcelos SM, Aragao GF, Noronha EC, Gomes PB, Viana GS (2005) Behavioral and neurochemical effects on rat offspring after prenatal exposure to ethanol. Neurotoxicol Teratol 27:585-592.
- Chandra D, Jia F, Liang J, Peng Z, Suryanarayanan A, Werner DF, Spigelman I, Houser CR, Olsen RW, Harrison NL, Homanics GE (2006) GABAA receptor alpha 4 subunits mediate extrasynaptic inhibition in thalamus and dentate gyrus and the action of gaboxadol. PNAS 103:15230-15235.
- Chatterton JE, Awobuluyi M, Premkumar LS, Takahashi H, Talantova M, Shin Y, Cui J, Tu S, Sevarino KA, Nakanishi N, Tong G, Lipton SA, Zhang D (2002) Excitatory glycine receptors containing the NR3 family of NMDA receptor subunits. Nature 415:793-798.
- Chen WJ, Maier SE, Parnell SE, West JR (2003) Alcohol and the developing brain: neuroanatomical studies. Alcohol Res Health 27:174-180.
- Choi IY, Allan AM, Cunningham LA (2005) Moderate fetal alcohol exposure impairs the neurogenic response to an enriched environment in adult mice. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 29:2053-2062.

- Christie BR, Swann SE, Fox CJ, Froc D, Lieblich SE, Redila V, Webber A (2005) Voluntary exercise rescues deficits in spatial memory and long-term potentiation in prenatal ethanol-exposed male rats. Eur J Neurosci 21:1719-1726.
- Chun SK, Sun W, Park JJ, Jung MW (2006) Enhanced proliferation of progenitor cells following long-term potentiation induction in the rat dentate gyrus. Neurobiology of learning and memory 86:322-329.
- Chung HJ, Huang YH, Lau LF, Huganir RL (2004) Regulation of the NMDA receptor complex and trafficking by activity-dependent phosphorylation of the NR2B subunit PDZ ligand. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 24:10248-10259.
- Clarren SK, Smith DW (1978) The fetal alcohol syndrome. N Engl J Med 298:1063-1067.
- Clelland CD, Choi M, Romberg C, Clemenson GD, Jr., Fragniere A, Tyers P, Jessberger S, Saksida LM, Barker RA, Gage FH, Bussey TJ (2009) A functional role for adult hippocampal neurogenesis in spatial pattern separation. Science 325:210-213.
- Coan EJ, Saywood W, Collingridge GL (1987) MK-801 blocks NMDA receptormediated synaptic transmission and long term potentiation in rat hippocampal slices. Neuroscience letters 80:111-114.
- Collingridge GL, Kehl SJ, McLennan H (1983) Excitatory amino acids in synaptic transmission in the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway of the rat hippocampus. The Journal of physiology 334:33-46.
- Costa ET, Savage DD, Valenzuela CF (2000) A review of the effects of prenatal or early postnatal ethanol exposure on brain ligand-gated ion channels. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 24:706-715.
- Cudd TA (2005) Animal model systems for the study of alcohol teratology. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 230:389-393.
- Cull-Candy S, Brickley S, Farrant M (2001) NMDA receptor subunits: diversity, development and disease. Current opinion in neurobiology 11:327-335.
- Czachowski CL, Samson HH, Denning CE (1999) Blood ethanol concentrations in rats drinking sucrose/ethanol solutions. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 23:1331-1335.
- Czerniawski J, Ree F, Chia C, Ramamoorthi K, Kumata Y, Otto TA (2011) The importance of having Arc: expression of the immediate-early gene Arc is required for hippocampus-dependent fear conditioning and blocked by NMDA receptor antagonism. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 31:11200-11207.
- Das S, Sasaki YF, Rothe T, Premkumar LS, Takasu M, Crandall JE, Dikkes P, Conner DA, Rayudu PV, Cheung W, Chen HS, Lipton SA, Nakanishi N (1998) Increased NMDA current and spine density in mice lacking the NMDA receptor subunit NR3A. Nature 393:377-381.

- Davis S, Butcher SP, Morris RG (1992) The NMDA receptor antagonist D-2-amino-5phosphonopentanoate (D-AP5) impairs spatial learning and LTP in vivo at intracerebral concentrations comparable to those that block LTP in vitro. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 12:21-34.
- Deng W, Aimone JB, Gage FH (2010a) New neurons and new memories: how does adult hippocampal neurogenesis affect learning and memory? Nat Rev Neurosci 11:339-350.
- Deng W, Aimone JB, Gage FH (2010b) New neurons and new memories: how does adult hippocampal neurogenesis affect learning and memory? Nature reviews Neuroscience 11:339-350.
- Dettmer TS, Barnes A, Iqbal U, Bailey CD, Reynolds JN, Brien JF, Valenzuela CF (2003) Chronic prenatal ethanol exposure alters ionotropic glutamate receptor subunit protein levels in the adult guinea pig cerebral cortex. Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research 27:677-681.
- Emptage N, Bliss TV, Fine A (1999) Single synaptic events evoke NMDA receptormediated release of calcium from internal stores in hippocampal dendritic spines. Neuron 22:115-124.
- Ewald RC, Cline HT (2009) NMDA Receptors and Brain Development. In: Biology of the NMDA Receptor (Van Dongen AM, ed). Boca Raton (FL).
- Ferrani-Kile K, Leslie SW (2005) Modulation of protein tyrosine phosphatase activity alters the subunit assembly in native N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor complex. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 314:86-93.
- Finn DA, Belknap JK, Cronise K, Yoneyama N, Murillo A, Crabbe JC (2005) A procedure to produce high alcohol intake in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 178:471-480.
- Flint AC, Maisch US, Weishaupt JH, Kriegstein AR, Monyer H (1997) NR2A subunit expression shortens NMDA receptor synaptic currents in developing neocortex. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 17:2469-2476.
- Floyd RL, Weber MK, Denny C, O'Connor MJ (2009) Prevention of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Dev Disabil Res Rev 15:193-199.
- Foster KA, McLaughlin N, Edbauer D, Phillips M, Bolton A, Constantine-Paton M, Sheng M (2010) Distinct roles of NR2A and NR2B cytoplasmic tails in long-term potentiation. J Neurosci 30:2676-2685.
- Frey U, Huang YY, Kandel ER (1993) Effects of cAMP simulate a late stage of LTP in hippocampal CA1 neurons. Science 260:1661-1664.
- Frotscher M, Zhao S, Forster E (2007) Development of cell and fiber layers in the dentate gyrus. Progress in brain research 163:133-142.

- Fukunaga K, Stoppini L, Miyamoto E, Muller D (1993) Long-term potentiation is associated with an increased activity of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. The Journal of biological chemistry 268:7863-7867.
- Galindo R, Frausto S, Wolff C, Caldwell KK, Perrone-Bizzozero NI, Savage DD (2004) Prenatal ethanol exposure reduces mGluR5 receptor number and function in the dentate gyrus of adult offspring. Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research 28:1587-1597.
- Gardoni F, Mauceri D, Malinverno M, Polli F, Costa C, Tozzi A, Siliquini S, Picconi B, Cattabeni F, Calabresi P, Di Luca M (2009) Decreased NR2B subunit synaptic levels cause impaired long-term potentiation but not long-term depression. J Neurosci 29:669-677.
- Gil-Mohapel J, Boehme F, Kainer L, Christie BR (2010) Hippocampal cell loss and neurogenesis after fetal alcohol exposure: Insights from different rodent models. Brain Res Rev.
- Gilbert PE, Kesner RP, Lee I (2001) Dissociating hippocampal subregions: double dissociation between dentate gyrus and CA1. Hippocampus 11:626-636.
- Goebel-Goody SM, Davies KD, Alvestad Linger RM, Freund RK, Browning MD (2009) Phospho-regulation of synaptic and extrasynaptic N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors in adult hippocampal slices. Neuroscience 158:1446-1459.
- Gomez RA, Fulginiti S, Ramirez OA (1992) Effect of acute ethanol exposure during pregnancy on dentate gyrus synaptic plasticity in 45-day-old rats. Pharmacology, biochemistry, and behavior 42:85-89.
- Goodlett CR, Johnson TB (1997) Neonatal binge ethanol exposure using intubation: timing and dose effects on place learning. Neurotoxicol Teratol 19:435-446.
- Gourley SL, Kedves AT, Olausson P, Taylor JR (2009) A history of corticosterone exposure regulates fear extinction and cortical NR2B, GluR2/3, and BDNF. Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology 34:707-716.
- Groc L, Choquet D, Stephenson FA, Verrier D, Manzoni OJ, Chavis P (2007) NMDA receptor surface trafficking and synaptic subunit composition are developmentally regulated by the extracellular matrix protein Reelin. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 27:10165-10175.
- Guerri C (1998) Neuroanatomical and neurophysiological mechanisms involved in central nervous system dysfunctions induced by prenatal alcohol exposure. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 22:304-312.
- Hall RA, Soderling TR (1997) Differential surface expression and phosphorylation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits NR1 and NR2 in cultured hippocampal neurons. The Journal of biological chemistry 272:4135-4140.
- Hamilton DA, Kodituwakku P, Sutherland RJ, Savage DD (2003) Children with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome are impaired at place learning but not cued-navigation in a virtual Morris water task. Behav Brain Res 143:85-94.

- Hardingham GE, Bading H (2003) The Yin and Yang of NMDA receptor signalling. Trends Neurosci 26:81-89.
- Hardingham GE, Fukunaga Y, Bading H (2002) Extrasynaptic NMDARs oppose synaptic NMDARs by triggering CREB shut-off and cell death pathways. Nat Neurosci 5:405-414.
- Harris AZ, Pettit DL (2007) Extrasynaptic and synaptic NMDA receptors form stable and uniform pools in rat hippocampal slices. J Physiol 584:509-519.
- Heidinger V, Manzerra P, Wang XQ, Strasser U, Yu SP, Choi DW, Behrens MM (2002) Metabotropic glutamate receptor 1-induced upregulation of NMDA receptor current: mediation through the Pyk2/Src-family kinase pathway in cortical neurons. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 22:5452-5461.
- Henson MA, Roberts AC, Perez-Otano I, Philpot BD (2010) Influence of the NR3A subunit on NMDA receptor functions. Progress in neurobiology 91:23-37.
- Hollmann M, Boulter J, Maron C, Beasley L, Sullivan J, Pecht G, Heinemann S (1993) Zinc potentiates agonist-induced currents at certain splice variants of the NMDA receptor. Neuron 10:943-954.
- Honse Y, Nixon KM, Browning MD, Leslie SW (2003) Cell surface expression of NR1 splice variants and NR2 subunits is modified by prenatal ethanol exposure. Neuroscience 122:689-698.
- Horak M, Wenthold RJ (2009) Different roles of C-terminal cassettes in the trafficking of full-length NR1 subunits to the cell surface. J Biol Chem 284:9683-9691.
- Horak M, Chang K, Wenthold RJ (2008) Masking of the endoplasmic reticulum retention signals during assembly of the NMDA receptor. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 28:3500-3509.
- Hoyme HE, May PA, Kalberg WO, Kodituwakku P, Gossage JP, Trujillo PM, Buckley DG, Miller JH, Aragon AS, Khaole N, Viljoen DL, Jones KL, Robinson LK (2005) A practical clinical approach to diagnosis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: clarification of the 1996 institute of medicine criteria. Pediatrics 115:39-47.
- Hsu D (2007) The dentate gyrus as a filter or gate: a look back and a look ahead. Prog Brain Res 163:601-613.
- Hu M, Sun YJ, Zhou QG, Chen L, Hu Y, Luo CX, Wu JY, Xu JS, Li LX, Zhu DY (2008) Negative regulation of neurogenesis and spatial memory by NR2B-containing NMDA receptors. Journal of neurochemistry 106:1900-1913.
- Huerta PT, Sun LD, Wilson MA, Tonegawa S (2000) Formation of temporal memory requires NMDA receptors within CA1 pyramidal neurons. Neuron 25:473-480.
- Hughes PD, Wilson WR, Leslie SW (2001) Effect of gestational ethanol exposure on the NMDA receptor complex in rat forebrain: from gene transcription to cell surface. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 129:135-145.

- Hughes PD, Kim YN, Randall PK, Leslie SW (1998) Effect of prenatal ethanol exposure on the developmental profile of the NMDA receptor subunits in rat forebrain and hippocampus. Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research 22:1255-1261.
- Hunt PS, Jacobson SE, Torok EJ (2009) Deficits in trace fear conditioning in a rat model of fetal alcohol exposure: dose-response and timing effects. Alcohol 43:465-474.
- Impey S, Obrietan K, Storm DR (1999) Making new connections: role of ERK/MAP kinase signaling in neuronal plasticity. Neuron 23:11-14.
- Incerti M, Vink J, Roberson R, Wood L, Abebe D, Spong CY (2010) Reversal of alcoholinduced learning deficits in the young adult in a model of fetal alcohol syndrome. Obstetrics and gynecology 115:350-356.
- Irvine EE, Vernon J, Giese KP (2005) AlphaCaMKII autophosphorylation contributes to rapid learning but is not necessary for memory. Nature neuroscience 8:411-412.
- Ivanov A, Pellegrino C, Rama S, Dumalska I, Salyha Y, Ben-Ari Y, Medina I (2006) Opposing role of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in regulation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) activity in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. J Physiol 572:789-798.
- Jemiolo B, Harvey S, Novotny M (1986) Promotion of the Whitten effect in female mice by synthetic analogs of male urinary constituents. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:4576-4579.
- Jeyifous O, Waites CL, Specht CG, Fujisawa S, Schubert M, Lin EI, Marshall J, Aoki C, de Silva T, Montgomery JM, Garner CC, Green WN (2009) SAP97 and CASK mediate sorting of NMDA receptors through a previously unknown secretory pathway. Nature neuroscience 12:1011-1019.
- Jones KL, Smith DW (1973) Recognition of the fetal alcohol syndrome in early infancy. Lancet 302:999-1001.
- Kalev-Zylinska ML, Symes W, Young D, During MJ (2009) Knockdown and overexpression of NR1 modulates NMDA receptor function. Mol Cell Neurosci 41:383-396.
- Kelly SJ, Richards JE (1998) Heart rate orienting and respiratory sinus arrhythmia development in rats exposed to alcohol or hypoxia. Neurotoxicol Teratol 20:193-202.
- Kelly SJ, Day N, Streissguth AP (2000) Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on social behavior in humans and other species. Neurotoxicol Teratol 22:143-149.
- Kesner RP (2007) A behavioral analysis of dentate gyrus function. Prog Brain Res 163:567-576.
- Kirov SA, Petrak LJ, Fiala JC, Harris KM (2004) Dendritic spines disappear with chilling but proliferate excessively upon rewarming of mature hippocampus. Neuroscience 127:69-80.

- Klann E, Chen SJ, Sweatt JD (1991) Persistent protein kinase activation in the maintenance phase of long-term potentiation. The Journal of biological chemistry 266:24253-24256.
- Kleiber ML, Wright E, Singh SM (2011) Maternal voluntary drinking in C57BL/6J mice: Advancing a model for fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Behav Brain Res.
- Klintsova AY, Helfer JL, Calizo LH, Dong WK, Goodlett CR, Greenough WT (2007) Persistent impairment of hippocampal neurogenesis in young adult rats following early postnatal alcohol exposure. Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research 31:2073-2082.
- Kohr G, Jensen V, Koester HJ, Mihaljevic AL, Utvik JK, Kvello A, Ottersen OP, Seeburg PH, Sprengel R, Hvalby O (2003) Intracellular domains of NMDA receptor subtypes are determinants for long-term potentiation induction. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 23:10791-10799.
- Krapivinsky G, Krapivinsky L, Manasian Y, Ivanov A, Tyzio R, Pellegrino C, Ben-Ari Y, Clapham DE, Medina I (2003) The NMDA receptor is coupled to the ERK pathway by a direct interaction between NR2B and RasGRF1. Neuron 40:775-784.
- Kurup P, Zhang Y, Xu J, Venkitaramani DV, Haroutunian V, Greengard P, Nairn AC, Lombroso PJ (2010) Abeta-mediated NMDA receptor endocytosis in Alzheimer's disease involves ubiquitination of the tyrosine phosphatase STEP61. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 30:5948-5957.
- Lagace DC, Whitman MC, Noonan MA, Ables JL, DeCarolis NA, Arguello AA, Donovan MH, Fischer SJ, Farnbauch LA, Beech RD, DiLeone RJ, Greer CA, Mandyam CD, Eisch AJ (2007) Dynamic contribution of nestin-expressing stem cells to adult neurogenesis. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 27:12623-12629.
- Lau CG, Zukin RS (2007) NMDA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and neuropsychiatric disorders. Nature reviews Neuroscience 8:413-426.
- Laurie DJ, Seeburg PH (1994) Regional and developmental heterogeneity in splicing of the rat brain NMDAR1 mRNA. J Neurosci 14:3180-3194.
- Le HT, Maksumova L, Wang J, Pallen CJ (2006) Reduced NMDA receptor tyrosine phosphorylation in PTPalpha-deficient mouse synaptosomes is accompanied by inhibition of four src family kinases and Pyk2: an upstream role for PTPalpha in NMDA receptor regulation. Journal of neurochemistry 98:1798-1809.
- Lee HK, Barbarosie M, Kameyama K, Bear MF, Huganir RL (2000) Regulation of distinct AMPA receptor phosphorylation sites during bidirectional synaptic plasticity. Nature 405:955-959.
- Lee MC, Yasuda R, Ehlers MD (2010) Metaplasticity at single glutamatergic synapses. Neuron 66:859-870.

- Lehner M, Wislowska-Stanek A, Maciejak P, Szyndler J, Sobolewska A, Krzascik P, Plaznik A (2010) The relationship between pain sensitivity and conditioned fear response in rats. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars) 70:56-66.
- Leutgeb JK, Leutgeb S, Moser MB, Moser EI (2007) Pattern separation in the dentate gyrus and CA3 of the hippocampus. Science 315:961-966.
- Levenson JM, O'Riordan KJ, Brown KD, Trinh MA, Molfese DL, Sweatt JD (2004) Regulation of histone acetylation during memory formation in the hippocampus. J Biol Chem 279:40545-40559.
- Li G, Pleasure SJ (2007) Genetic regulation of dentate gyrus morphogenesis. Progress in brain research 163:143-152.
- Lisman J, Schulman H, Cline H (2002) The molecular basis of CaMKII function in synaptic and behavioural memory. Nature reviews Neuroscience 3:175-190.
- Liu D, Diorio J, Day JC, Francis DD, Meaney MJ (2000) Maternal care, hippocampal synaptogenesis and cognitive development in rats. Nat Neurosci 3:799-806.
- Liu L, Wang C, Ni X, Sun J (2007) A rapid inhibition of NMDA receptor current by corticosterone in cultured hippocampal neurons. Neuroscience letters 420:245-250.
- Liu L, Wong TP, Pozza MF, Lingenhoehl K, Wang Y, Sheng M, Auberson YP, Wang YT (2004) Role of NMDA receptor subtypes in governing the direction of hippocampal synaptic plasticity. Science 304:1021-1024.
- Low CM, Wee KS (2010) New insights into the not-so-new NR3 subunits of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor: localization, structure, and function. Mol Pharmacol 78:1-11.
- Lu YM, Roder JC, Davidow J, Salter MW (1998) Src activation in the induction of longterm potentiation in CA1 hippocampal neurons. Science 279:1363-1367.
- Lynch G, Larson J, Kelso S, Barrionuevo G, Schottler F (1983) Intracellular injections of EGTA block induction of hippocampal long-term potentiation. Nature 305:719-721.
- Malenka RC, Bear MF (2004) LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron 44:5-21.
- Malenka RC, Lancaster B, Zucker RS (1992) Temporal limits on the rise in postsynaptic calcium required for the induction of long-term potentiation. Neuron 9:121-128.
- Malinow R, Schulman H, Tsien RW (1989) Inhibition of postsynaptic PKC or CaMKII blocks induction but not expression of LTP. Science 245:862-866.
- Malleret G, Alarcon JM, Martel G, Takizawa S, Vronskaya S, Yin D, Chen IZ, Kandel ER, Shumyatsky GP (2010) Bidirectional regulation of hippocampal long-term synaptic plasticity and its influence on opposing forms of memory. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 30:3813-3825.

- Manta G, Spathis AD, Taraviras S, Kouvelas ED, Mitsacos A (2011) Age and visual experience-dependent expression of NMDAR1 splice variants in rat retina. Neurochem Res 36:1417-1425.
- Markel E, Nyakas C, Tal E, Endroczi E (1986) Changes in avoidance behaviour following ethanol treatment in rats of different ages. Acta Physiol Hung 68:175-181.
- Massey PV, Johnson BE, Moult PR, Auberson YP, Brown MW, Molnar E, Collingridge GL, Bashir ZI (2004) Differential roles of NR2A and NR2B-containing NMDA receptors in cortical long-term potentiation and long-term depression. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 24:7821-7828.
- Matthies H, Reymann KG (1993) Protein kinase A inhibitors prevent the maintenance of hippocampal long-term potentiation. Neuroreport 4:712-714.
- Mattson SN, Crocker N, Nguyen TT (2011) Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: neuropsychological and behavioral features. Neuropsychol Rev 21:81-101.
- May PA, Gossage JP, Kalberg WO, Robinson LK, Buckley D, Manning M, Hoyme HE (2009) Prevalence and epidemiologic characteristics of FASD from various research methods with an emphasis on recent in-school studies. Dev Disabil Res Rev 15:176-192.
- McEchron MD, Bouwmeester H, Tseng W, Weiss C, Disterhoft JF (1998) Hippocampectomy disrupts auditory trace fear conditioning and contextual fear conditioning in the rat. Hippocampus 8:638-646.
- McNaughton BL, Barnes CA, Rao G, Baldwin J, Rasmussen M (1986) Long-term enhancement of hippocampal synaptic transmission and the acquisition of spatial information. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 6:563-571.
- Miki T, Kuma H, Yokoyama T, Sumitani K, Matsumoto Y, Kusaka T, Warita K, Wang ZY, Hosomi N, Imagawa T, K SB, Itoh S, Nakamura Y, Takeuchi Y (2008) Early postnatal ethanol exposure induces fluctuation in the expression of BDNF mRNA in the developing rat hippocampus. Acta neurobiologiae experimentalis 68:484-493.
- Miller MW (1996) Effect of early exposure to ethanol on the protein and DNA contents of specific brain regions in the rat. Brain Res 734:286-294.
- Mooney SM, Miller MW (2009) Vulnerability of macaque cranial nerve neurons to ethanol is time- and site-dependent. Alcohol 43:323-331.
- Morris RG, Anderson E, Lynch GS, Baudry M (1986) Selective impairment of learning and blockade of long-term potentiation by an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, AP5. Nature 319:774-776.
- Moser EI, Krobert KA, Moser MB, Morris RG (1998) Impaired spatial learning after saturation of long-term potentiation. Science 281:2038-2042.

- Muhuri PK, Gfroerer JC (2009) Substance use among women: associations with pregnancy, parenting, and race/ethnicity. Matern Child Health J 13:376-385.
- Mulholland PJ, Luong NT, Woodward JJ, Chandler LJ (2008) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase is autonomous from the dominant extrasynaptic NMDA receptor extracellular signal-regulated kinase shutoff pathway. Neuroscience 151:419-427.
- Muller W, Connor JA (1991) Dendritic spines as individual neuronal compartments for synaptic Ca2+ responses. Nature 354:73-76.
- Murray SA, Morgan JL, Kane C, Sharma Y, Heffner CS, Lake J, Donahue LR (2010) Mouse gestation length is genetically determined. PLoS One 5:e12418.
- Muth-Kohne E, Pachernegg S, Karus M, Faissner A, Hollmann M (2010) Expression of NMDA receptors and Ca2+-impermeable AMPA receptors requires neuronal differentiation and allows discrimination between two different types of neural stem cells. Cell Physiol Biochem 26:935-946.
- Naassila M, Daoust M (2002) Effect of prenatal and postnatal ethanol exposure on the developmental profile of mRNAs encoding NMDA receptor subunits in rat hippocampus. J Neurochem 80:850-860.
- Nacher J, McEwen BS (2006) The role of N-methyl-D-asparate receptors in neurogenesis. Hippocampus 16:267-270.
- Nacher J, Varea E, Miguel Blasco-Ibanez J, Gomez-Climent MA, Castillo-Gomez E, Crespo C, Martinez-Guijarro FJ, McEwen BS (2007) N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor expression during adult neurogenesis in the rat dentate gyrus. Neuroscience 144:855-864.
- Nai Q, Li S, Wang SH, Liu J, Lee FJ, Frankland PW, Liu F (2010) Uncoupling the D1-Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor complex promotes NMDA-dependent longterm potentiation and working memory. Biol Psychiatry 67:246-254.
- Nelson LR, Taylor AN, Lewis JW, Poland RE, Redei E, Branch BJ (1986) Pituitaryadrenal responses to morphine and footshock stress are enhanced following prenatal alcohol exposure. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 10:397-402.
- Neyton J, Paoletti P (2006) Relating NMDA receptor function to receptor subunit composition: limitations of the pharmacological approach. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 26:1331-1333.
- Nguyen PV, Woo NH (2003) Regulation of hippocampal synaptic plasticity by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinases. Progress in neurobiology 71:401-437.
- Nguyen TH, Liu J, Lombroso PJ (2002) Striatal enriched phosphatase 61 dephosphorylates Fyn at phosphotyrosine 420. The Journal of biological chemistry 277:24274-24279.
- Nixon K, Hughes PD, Amsel A, Leslie SW (2002) NMDA receptor subunit expression following early postnatal exposure to ethanol. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 139:295-299.

- Nixon K, Hughes PD, Amsel A, Leslie SW (2004) NMDA receptor subunit expression after combined prenatal and postnatal exposure to ethanol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 28:105-112.
- Nolt MJ, Lin Y, Hruska M, Murphy J, Sheffler-Colins SI, Kayser MS, Passer J, Bennett MV, Zukin RS, Dalva MB (2011) EphB controls NMDA receptor function and synaptic targeting in a subunit-specific manner. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 31:5353-5364.
- Nong Y, Huang YQ, Ju W, Kalia LV, Ahmadian G, Wang YT, Salter MW (2003) Glycine binding primes NMDA receptor internalization. Nature 422:302-307.
- O'Leary CM, Nassar N, Zubrick SR, Kurinczuk JJ, Stanley F, Bower C (2010) Evidence of a complex association between dose, pattern and timing of prenatal alcohol exposure and child behaviour problems. Addiction 105:74-86.
- O'Reilly RC, McClelland JL (1994) Hippocampal conjunctive encoding, storage, and recall: avoiding a trade-off. Hippocampus 4:661-682.
- Okabe S, Miwa A, Okado H (1999) Alternative splicing of the C-terminal domain regulates cell surface expression of the NMDA receptor NR1 subunit. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 19:7781-7792.
- Olds JL, Anderson ML, McPhie DL, Staten LD, Alkon DL (1989) Imaging of memoryspecific changes in the distribution of protein kinase C in the hippocampus. Science 245:866-869.
- Pachernegg S, Strutz-Seebohm N, Hollmann M (2012) GluN3 subunit-containing NMDA receptors: not just one-trick ponies. Trends Neurosci.
- Paoletti P, Neyton J (2007) NMDA receptor subunits: function and pharmacology. Curr Opin Pharmacol 7:39-47.
- Parent JM (2007) Adult neurogenesis in the intact and epileptic dentate gyrus. Prog Brain Res 163:529-540.
- Paupard MC, Friedman LK, Zukin RS (1997) Developmental regulation and cell-specific expression of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor splice variants in rat hippocampus. Neuroscience 79:399-409.
- Peng S, Zhang Y, Zhang J, Wang H, Ren B (2011) Glutamate receptors and signal transduction in learning and memory. Mol Biol Rep 38:453-460.
- Perez-Otano I, Schulteis CT, Contractor A, Lipton SA, Trimmer JS, Sucher NJ, Heinemann SF (2001) Assembly with the NR1 subunit is required for surface expression of NR3A-containing NMDA receptors. J Neurosci 21:1228-1237.
- Petralia RS, Al-Hallaq RA, Wenthold RJ (2009) Trafficking and Targeting of NMDA Receptors. In: Biology of the NMDA Receptor (Van Dongen AM, ed). Boca Raton (FL).
- Petrus DS, Fabel K, Kronenberg G, Winter C, Steiner B, Kempermann G (2009) NMDA and benzodiazepine receptors have synergistic and antagonistic effects on

precursor cells in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. The European journal of neuroscience 29:244-252.

- Pina-Crespo JC, Talantova M, Micu I, States B, Chen HS, Tu S, Nakanishi N, Tong G, Zhang D, Heinemann SF, Zamponi GW, Stys PK, Lipton SA (2010) Excitatory glycine responses of CNS myelin mediated by NR1/NR3 "NMDA" receptor subunits. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 30:11501-11505.
- Poschel B, Stanton PK (2007) Comparison of cellular mechanisms of long-term depression of synaptic strength at perforant path-granule cell and Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapses. Progress in brain research 163:473-500.
- Prybylowski K, Wenthold RJ (2004) N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptors: subunit assembly and trafficking to the synapse. J Biol Chem 279:9673-9676.
- Prybylowski K, Chang K, Sans N, Kan L, Vicini S, Wenthold RJ (2005) The synaptic localization of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors is controlled by interactions with PDZ proteins and AP-2. Neuron 47:845-857.
- Qiu S, Zhang XM, Cao JY, Yang W, Yan YG, Shan L, Zheng J, Luo JH (2009) An endoplasmic reticulum retention signal located in the extracellular amino-terminal domain of the NR2A subunit of N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptors. The Journal of biological chemistry 284:20285-20298.
- Queen SA, Sanchez CF, Lopez SR, Paxton LL, Savage DD (1993) Dose- and agedependent effects of prenatal ethanol exposure on hippocampal metabotropicglutamate receptor-stimulated phosphoinositide hydrolysis. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 17:887-893.
- Quinn JJ, Oommen SS, Morrison GE, Fanselow MS (2002) Post-training excitotoxic lesions of the dorsal hippocampus attenuate forward trace, backward trace, and delay fear conditioning in a temporally specific manner. Hippocampus 12:495-504.
- Rauner C, Kohr G (2011) Triheteromeric NR1/NR2A/NR2B receptors constitute the major N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor population in adult hippocampal synapses. The Journal of biological chemistry 286:7558-7566.
- Redila VA, Olson AK, Swann SE, Mohades G, Webber AJ, Weinberg J, Christie BR (2006) Hippocampal cell proliferation is reduced following prenatal ethanol exposure but can be rescued with voluntary exercise. Hippocampus 16:305-311.
- Reyes E, Wolfe J, Savage DD (1989) The effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on radial arm maze performance in adult rats. Physiol Behav 46:45-48.
- Rhodes JS, Best K, Belknap JK, Finn DA, Crabbe JC (2005) Evaluation of a simple model of ethanol drinking to intoxication in C57BL/6J mice. Physiol Behav 84:53-63.
- Rhodes JS, Ford MM, Yu CH, Brown LL, Finn DA, Garland T, Jr., Crabbe JC (2007) Mouse inbred strain differences in ethanol drinking to intoxication. Genes Brain Behav 6:1-18.

- Richardson DP, Byrnes ML, Brien JF, Reynolds JN, Dringenberg HC (2002a) Impaired acquisition in the water maze and hippocampal long-term potentiation after chronic prenatal ethanol exposure in the guinea-pig. The European journal of neuroscience 16:1593-1598.
- Richardson GA, Ryan C, Willford J, Day NL, Goldschmidt L (2002b) Prenatal alcohol and marijuana exposure: effects on neuropsychological outcomes at 10 years. Neurotoxicol Teratol 24:309-320.
- Riedel G, Platt B, Micheau J (2003) Glutamate receptor function in learning and memory. Behavioural brain research 140:1-47.
- Riley EP, McGee CL (2005) Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: an overview with emphasis on changes in brain and behavior. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 230:357-365.
- Roberts AC, Diez-Garcia J, Rodriguiz RM, Lopez IP, Lujan R, Martinez-Turrillas R, Pico E, Henson MA, Bernardo DR, Jarrett TM, Clendeninn DJ, Lopez-Mascaraque L, Feng G, Lo DC, Wesseling JF, Wetsel WC, Philpot BD, Perez-Otano I (2009) Downregulation of NR3A-containing NMDARs is required for synapse maturation and memory consolidation. Neuron 63:342-356.
- Roberts AJ, Heyser CJ, Koob GF (1999) Operant self-administration of sweetened versus unsweetened ethanol: effects on blood alcohol levels. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 23:1151-1157.
- Rodrigues SM, Farb CR, Bauer EP, LeDoux JE, Schafe GE (2004) Pavlovian fear conditioning regulates Thr286 autophosphorylation of Ca2+/calmodulindependent protein kinase II at lateral amygdala synapses. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 24:3281-3288.
- Rolls ET (1996) A theory of hippocampal function in memory. Hippocampus 6:601-620.
- Ron D (2004) Signaling cascades regulating NMDA receptor sensitivity to ethanol. Neuroscientist 10:325-336.
- Rondi-Reig L, Libbey M, Eichenbaum H, Tonegawa S (2001) CA1-specific N-methyl-Daspartate receptor knockout mice are deficient in solving a nonspatial transverse patterning task. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98:3543-3548.
- Rubio DM, Kraemer KL, Farrell MH, Day NL (2008) Factors associated with alcohol use, depression, and their co-occurrence during pregnancy. Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research 32:1543-1551.
- Sacktor TC, Osten P, Valsamis H, Jiang X, Naik MU, Sublette E (1993) Persistent activation of the zeta isoform of protein kinase C in the maintenance of long-term potentiation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 90:8342-8346.
- Sahay A, Scobie KN, Hill AS, O'Carroll CM, Kheirbek MA, Burghardt NS, Fenton AA, Dranovsky A, Hen R (2011) Increasing adult hippocampal neurogenesis is sufficient to improve pattern separation. Nature.

- Sakata-Haga H, Sawada K, Ohta K, Cui C, Hisano S, Fukui Y (2003) Adverse effects of maternal ethanol consumption on development of dorsal hippocampus in rat offspring. Acta Neuropathol 105:30-36.
- Sakimura K, Kutsuwada T, Ito I, Manabe T, Takayama C, Kushiya E, Yagi T, Aizawa S, Inoue Y, Sugiyama H, et al. (1995) Reduced hippocampal LTP and spatial learning in mice lacking NMDA receptor epsilon 1 subunit. Nature 373:151-155.
- Salter MW, Dong Y, Kalia LV, Liu XJ, Pitcher G (2009) Regulation of NMDA Receptors by Kinases and Phosphatases. In: Biology of the NMDA Receptor (Van Dongen AM, ed). Boca Raton (FL).
- Samudio-Ruiz SL, Allan AM, Sheema S, Caldwell KK (2010) Hippocampal N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit expression profiles in a mouse model of prenatal alcohol exposure. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 34:342-353.
- Samudio-Ruiz SL, Allan AM, Valenzuela CF, Perrone-Bizzozero NI, Caldwell KK (2009) Prenatal ethanol exposure persistently impairs NMDA receptor-dependent activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase in the mouse dentate gyrus. J Neurochem 109:1311-1323.
- Sans N, Prybylowski K, Petralia RS, Chang K, Wang YX, Racca C, Vicini S, Wenthold RJ (2003) NMDA receptor trafficking through an interaction between PDZ proteins and the exocyst complex. Nature cell biology 5:520-530.
- Sans N, Wang PY, Du Q, Petralia RS, Wang YX, Nakka S, Blumer JB, Macara IG, Wenthold RJ (2005) mPins modulates PSD-95 and SAP102 trafficking and influences NMDA receptor surface expression. Nature cell biology 7:1179-1190.
- Santos SD, Carvalho AL, Caldeira MV, Duarte CB (2009) Regulation of AMPA receptors and synaptic plasticity. Neuroscience 158:105-125.
- Sarantis K, Matsokis N, Angelatou F (2009) Synergistic interactions of dopamine D1 and glutamate NMDA receptors in rat hippocampus and prefrontal cortex: involvement of ERK1/2 signaling. Neuroscience 163:1135-1145.
- Saucier D, Cain DP (1995) Spatial learning without NMDA receptor-dependent longterm potentiation. Nature 378:186-189.
- Savage DD, Montano CY, Otero MA, Paxton LL (1991) Prenatal ethanol exposure decreases hippocampal NMDA-sensitive [3H]-glutamate binding site density in 45-day-old rats. Alcohol 8:193-201.
- Savage DD, Becher M, de la Torre AJ, Sutherland RJ (2002) Dose-dependent effects of prenatal ethanol exposure on synaptic plasticity and learning in mature offspring. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 26:1752-1758.
- Savage DD, Rosenberg MJ, Wolff CR, Akers KG, El-Emawy A, Staples MC, Varaschin RK, Wright CA, Seidel JL, Caldwell KK, Hamilton DA (2010) Effects of a Novel Cognition-Enhancing Agent on Fetal Ethanol-Induced Learning Deficits. Alcohol Clin Exp Res.

- Schiller J, Schiller Y, Clapham DE (1998) NMDA receptors amplify calcium influx into dendritic spines during associative pre- and postsynaptic activation. Nature neuroscience 1:114-118.
- Schmidt-Hieber C, Jonas P, Bischofberger J (2004) Enhanced synaptic plasticity in newly generated granule cells of the adult hippocampus. Nature 429:184-187.
- Selcher JC, Atkins CM, Trzaskos JM, Paylor R, Sweatt JD (1999) A necessity for MAP kinase activation in mammalian spatial learning. Learn Mem 6:478-490.
- Seress L, Abraham H, Tornoczky T, Kosztolanyi G (2001) Cell formation in the human hippocampal formation from mid-gestation to the late postnatal period. Neuroscience 105:831-843.
- Shimizu E, Tang YP, Rampon C, Tsien JZ (2000) NMDA receptor-dependent synaptic reinforcement as a crucial process for memory consolidation. Science 290:1170-1174.
- Shors TJ, Townsend DA, Zhao M, Kozorovitskiy Y, Gould E (2002) Neurogenesis may relate to some but not all types of hippocampal-dependent learning. Hippocampus 12:578-584.
- Shors TJ, Miesegaes G, Beylin A, Zhao M, Rydel T, Gould E (2001) Neurogenesis in the adult is involved in the formation of trace memories. Nature 410:372-376.
- Skeberdis VA, Lan J, Opitz T, Zheng X, Bennett MV, Zukin RS (2001) mGluR1mediated potentiation of NMDA receptors involves a rise in intracellular calcium and activation of protein kinase C. Neuropharmacology 40:856-865.
- Skelton RW, Scarth AS, Wilkie DM, Miller JJ, Phillips AG (1987) Long-term increases in dentate granule cell responsivity accompany operant conditioning. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 7:3081-3087.
- Slone JL, Redei EE (2002) Maternal alcohol and adrenalectomy: asynchrony of stress response and forced swim behavior. Neurotoxicol Teratol 24:173-178.
- Sluyter F, Jamot L, Bertholet JY, Crusio WE (2005) Prenatal exposure to alcohol does not affect radial maze learning and hippocampal mossy fiber sizes in three inbred strains of mouse. Behav Brain Funct 1:5.
- Smolen A, Smolen TN, van de Kamp JL (1987) Sensitivity of inbred and selectively bred mice to ethanol. Alcohol 4:57-62.
- Smothers CT, Woodward JJ (2009) Expression of glycine-activated diheteromeric NR1/NR3 receptors in human embryonic kidney 293 cells Is NR1 splice variant-dependent. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 331:975-984.
- Snyder EM, Philpot BD, Huber KM, Dong X, Fallon JR, Bear MF (2001a) Internalization of ionotropic glutamate receptors in response to mGluR activation. Nature neuroscience 4:1079-1085.
- Snyder JS, Kee N, Wojtowicz JM (2001b) Effects of adult neurogenesis on synaptic plasticity in the rat dentate gyrus. Journal of neurophysiology 85:2423-2431.

- Sood B, Delaney-Black V, Covington C, Nordstrom-Klee B, Ager J, Templin T, Janisse J, Martier S, Sokol RJ (2001) Prenatal alcohol exposure and childhood behavior at age 6 to 7 years: I. dose-response effect. Pediatrics 108:E34.
- Soriano E, Frotscher M (1994) Mossy cells of the rat fascia dentata are glutamateimmunoreactive. Hippocampus 4:65-69.
- Standley S, Roche KW, McCallum J, Sans N, Wenthold RJ (2000) PDZ domain suppression of an ER retention signal in NMDA receptor NR1 splice variants. Neuron 28:887-898.
- Stanfield BB, Trice JE (1988) Evidence that granule cells generated in the dentate gyrus of adult rats extend axonal projections. Exp Brain Res 72:399-406.
- Stone WS, Altman HJ, Hall J, Arankowsky-Sandoval G, Parekh P, Gold PE (1996) Prenatal exposure to alcohol in adult rats: relationships between sleep and memory deficits, and effects of glucose administration on memory. Brain Res 742:98-106.
- Storey GP, Opitz-Araya X, Barria A (2011) Molecular determinants controlling NMDA receptor synaptic incorporation. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 31:6311-6316.
- Streissguth AP, O'Malley K (2000) Neuropsychiatric implications and long-term consequences of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry 5:177-190.
- Streissguth AP, Barr HM, Sampson PD (1990) Moderate prenatal alcohol exposure: effects on child IQ and learning problems at age 7 1/2 years. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 14:662-669.
- Streissguth AP, Barr HM, Bookstein FL, Sampson PD, Olson HC (1999) The long-term neurocognitive consequences of prenatal alcohol exposure: A 14-year study. Psychol Sci 10:186-190.
- Streissguth AP, Sampson PD, Olson HC, Bookstein FL, Barr HM, Scott M, Feldman J, Mirsky AF (1994) Maternal drinking during pregnancy: attention and short-term memory in 14-year-old offspring--a longitudinal prospective study. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 18:202-218.
- Sutherland RJ, McDonald RJ, Savage DD (1997) Prenatal exposure to moderate levels of ethanol can have long-lasting effects on hippocampal synaptic plasticity in adult offspring. Hippocampus 7:232-238.
- Sweatt JD (2001) The neuronal MAP kinase cascade: a biochemical signal integration system subserving synaptic plasticity and memory. J Neurochem 76:1-10.
- Sweatt JD, Atkins CM, Johnson J, English JD, Roberson ED, Chen SJ, Newton A, Klann E (1998) Protected-site phosphorylation of protein kinase C in hippocampal longterm potentiation. Journal of neurochemistry 71:1075-1085.
- Tang YP, Shimizu E, Dube GR, Rampon C, Kerchner GA, Zhuo M, Liu G, Tsien JZ (1999) Genetic enhancement of learning and memory in mice. Nature 401:63-69.

- Terman GW, Wagner JJ, Chavkin C (1994) Kappa opioids inhibit induction of long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus of the guinea pig hippocampus. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 14:4740-4747.
- Thomas CG, Miller AJ, Westbrook GL (2006) Synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptor NR2 subunits in cultured hippocampal neurons. Journal of neurophysiology 95:1727-1734.
- Thomas GM, Huganir RL (2004) MAPK cascade signalling and synaptic plasticity. Nature reviews Neuroscience 5:173-183.
- Tilson HA, Harry GJ, McLamb RL, Peterson NJ, Rodgers BC, Pediaditakis P, Ali SF (1988) Role of dentate gyrus cells in retention of a radial arm maze task and sensitivity of rats to cholinergic drugs. Behavioral neuroscience 102:835-842.
- Titterness AK, Christie BR (2010) Prenatal ethanol exposure enhances NMDARdependent long-term potentiation in the adolescent female dentate gyrus. Hippocampus.
- Tong G, Takahashi H, Tu S, Shin Y, Talantova M, Zago W, Xia P, Nie Z, Goetz T, Zhang D, Lipton SA, Nakanishi N (2008) Modulation of NMDA receptor properties and synaptic transmission by the NR3A subunit in mouse hippocampal and cerebrocortical neurons. Journal of neurophysiology 99:122-132.
- Toso L, Poggi SH, Abebe D, Roberson R, Dunlap V, Park J, Spong CY (2005) N-methyl-D-aspartate subunit expression during mouse development altered by in utero alcohol exposure. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology 193:1534-1539.
- Tovar KR, Westbrook GL (1999) The incorporation of NMDA receptors with a distinct subunit composition at nascent hippocampal synapses in vitro. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 19:4180-4188.
- Tran DH, Gong R, Tang SJ (2007) Differential roles of NR2A and NR2B subtypes in NMDA receptor-dependent protein synthesis in dendrites. Neuropharmacology 53:252-256.
- Treves A, Tashiro A, Witter ME, Moser EI (2008) What is the mammalian dentate gyrus good for? Neuroscience 154:1155-1172.
- Tronel S, Fabre A, Charrier V, Oliet SH, Gage FH, Abrous DN (2010) Spatial learning sculpts the dendritic arbor of adult-born hippocampal neurons. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107:7963-7968.
- Tsien JZ, Huerta PT, Tonegawa S (1996) The essential role of hippocampal CA1 NMDA receptor-dependent synaptic plasticity in spatial memory. Cell 87:1327-1338.
- Valenzuela-Harrington M, Gruart A, Delgado-Garcia JM (2007) Contribution of NMDA receptor NR2B subunit to synaptic plasticity during associative learning in behaving rats. Eur J Neurosci 25:830-836.
- Valenzuela CF, Morton RA, Diaz MR, L. T (2012) Does moderate drinking harm the fetal brain? Insights from animal models. Trends Neurosci In press.

- van Praag H, Shubert T, Zhao C, Gage FH (2005) Exercise enhances learning and hippocampal neurogenesis in aged mice. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 25:8680-8685.
- Varaschin RK, Akers KG, Rosenberg MJ, Hamilton DA, Savage DD (2010) Effects of the cognition-enhancing agent ABT-239 on fetal ethanol-induced deficits in dentate gyrus synaptic plasticity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 334:191-198.
- Vasuta C, Caunt C, James R, Samadi S, Schibuk E, Kannangara T, Titterness AK, Christie BR (2007) Effects of exercise on NMDA receptor subunit contributions to bidirectional synaptic plasticity in the mouse dentate gyrus. Hippocampus 17:1201-1208.
- von Bohlen und Halbach O (2011) Immunohistological markers for proliferative events, gliogenesis, and neurogenesis within the adult hippocampus. Cell and Tissue Research 345:1-19.
- Wagner AF, Hunt PS (2006) Impaired trace fear conditioning following neonatal ethanol: reversal by choline. Behav Neurosci 120:482-487.
- Walf AA, Koonce C, Manley K, Frye CA (2009) Proestrous compared to diestrous wildtype, but not estrogen receptor beta knockout, mice have better performance in the spontaneous alternation and object recognition tasks and reduced anxietylike behavior in the elevated plus and mirror maze. Behav Brain Res 196:254-260.
- Walsh TJ, Schulz DW, Tilson HA, Schmechel DE (1986) Colchicine-induced granule cell loss in rat hippocampus: selective behavioral and histological alterations. Brain research 398:23-36.
- Wang CC, Held RG, Chang SC, Yang L, Delpire E, Ghosh A, Hall BJ (2011) A Critical Role for GluN2B-Containing NMDA Receptors in Cortical Development and Function. Neuron 72:789-805.
- Wang S, Scott BW, Wojtowicz JM (2000) Heterogenous properties of dentate granule neurons in the adult rat. J Neurobiol 42:248-257.
- Ward GR, Wainwright PE (1989a) Prenatal ethanol and stress in mice: 1. Pup behavioral development and maternal physiology. Physiol Behav 45:533-540.
- Ward GR, Wainwright PE (1989b) Prenatal ethanol and stress in mice: 2. Development and behavior of fostered offspring. Physiol Behav 45:541-549.
- Watson DJ, Stanton ME (2009) Intrahippocampal administration of an NMDA-receptor antagonist impairs spatial discrimination reversal learning in weanling rats. Neurobiology of learning and memory 92:89-98.
- Watson DJ, Herbert MR, Stanton ME (2009) NMDA receptor involvement in spatial delayed alternation in developing rats. Behavioral neuroscience 123:44-53.
- Weeber EJ, Savage DD, Sutherland RJ, Caldwell KK (2001) Fear conditioning-induced alterations of phospholipase C-beta1a protein level and enzyme activity in rat hippocampal formation and medial frontal cortex. Neurobiol Learn Mem 76:151-182.

- Weeber EJ, Atkins CM, Selcher JC, Varga AW, Mirnikjoo B, Paylor R, Leitges M, Sweatt JD (2000) A role for the beta isoform of protein kinase C in fear conditioning. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 20:5906-5914.
- Weinberg J, Sliwowska JH, Lan N, Hellemans KG (2008) Prenatal alcohol exposure: foetal programming, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and sex differences in outcome. Journal of neuroendocrinology 20:470-488.
- Weitemier AZ, Ryabinin AE (2003) Alcohol-induced memory impairment in trace fear conditioning: a hippocampus-specific effect. Hippocampus 13:305-315.
- Weitemier AZ, Ryabinin AE (2004) Subregion-specific differences in hippocampal activity between Delay and Trace fear conditioning: an immunohistochemical analysis. Brain Res 995:55-65.
- Whitlock JR, Heynen AJ, Shuler MG, Bear MF (2006) Learning induces long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Science 313:1093-1097.
- Willford JA, Richardson GA, Leech SL, Day NL (2004) Verbal and visuospatial learning and memory function in children with moderate prenatal alcohol exposure. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 28:497-507.
- Witter MP (2007) The perforant path: projections from the entorhinal cortex to the dentate gyrus. Prog Brain Res 163:43-61.
- Woodside BL, Borroni AM, Hammonds MD, Teyler TJ (2004) NMDA receptors and voltage-dependent calcium channels mediate different aspects of acquisition and retention of a spatial memory task. Neurobiology of learning and memory 81:105-114.
- Xie CW, Lewis DV (1995) Depression of LTP in rat dentate gyrus by naloxone is reversed by GABAA blockade. Brain research 688:56-60.
- Xu Z, Chen RQ, Gu QH, Yan JZ, Wang SH, Liu SY, Lu W (2009) Metaplastic regulation of long-term potentiation/long-term depression threshold by activity-dependent changes of NR2A/NR2B ratio. J Neurosci 29:8764-8773.
- Yang L, Mao L, Tang Q, Samdani S, Liu Z, Wang JQ (2004) A novel Ca2+-independent signaling pathway to extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase by coactivation of NMDA receptors and metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 in neurons. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 24:10846-10857.
- Yao Y, Mayer ML (2006) Characterization of a soluble ligand binding domain of the NMDA receptor regulatory subunit NR3A. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 26:4559-4566.
- Yao Y, Kelly MT, Sajikumar S, Serrano P, Tian D, Bergold PJ, Frey JU, Sacktor TC (2008) PKM zeta maintains late long-term potentiation by N-ethylmaleimidesensitive factor/GluR2-dependent trafficking of postsynaptic AMPA receptors. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 28:7820-7827.

- Yashiro K, Philpot BD (2008) Regulation of NMDA receptor subunit expression and its implications for LTD, LTP, and metaplasticity. Neuropharmacology 55:1081-1094.
- Yassa MA, Stark SM, Bakker A, Albert MS, Gallagher M, Stark CE (2010) Highresolution structural and functional MRI of hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus in patients with amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment. Neuroimage 51:1242-1252.
- Yoshihara T, Ichitani Y (2004) Hippocampal N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated encoding and retrieval processes in spatial working memory: delay-interposed radial maze performance in rats. Neuroscience 129:1-10.
- Young SL, Fanselow MS (1992) Associative regulation of Pavlovian fear conditioning: unconditional stimulus intensity, incentive shifts, and latent inhibition. J Exp Psychol Anim Behav Process 18:400-413.
- Zhang GR, Liu M, Cao H, Kong L, Wang X, O'Brien JA, Wu SC, Cook RG, Geller AI (2009) Improved spatial learning in aged rats by genetic activation of protein kinase C in small groups of hippocampal neurons. Hippocampus 19:413-423.
- Zhang S, Edelmann L, Liu J, Crandall JE, Morabito MA (2008) Cdk5 regulates the phosphorylation of tyrosine 1472 NR2B and the surface expression of NMDA receptors. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 28:415-424.
- Zhang WN, Bast T, Feldon J (2001) The ventral hippocampus and fear conditioning in rats: different anterograde amnesias of fear after infusion of N-methyl-D-aspartate or its noncompetitive antagonist MK-801 into the ventral hippocampus. Behav Brain Res 126:159-174.
- Zhao MG, Toyoda H, Lee YS, Wu LJ, Ko SW, Zhang XH, Jia Y, Shum F, Xu H, Li BM, Kaang BK, Zhuo M (2005) Roles of NMDA NR2B subtype receptor in prefrontal long-term potentiation and contextual fear memory. Neuron 47:859-872.
- Zhou Y, Takahashi E, Li W, Halt A, Wiltgen B, Ehninger D, Li GD, Hell JW, Kennedy MB, Silva AJ (2007) Interactions between the NR2B receptor and CaMKII modulate synaptic plasticity and spatial learning. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 27:13843-13853.
- Zorumski CF, Izumi Y (2012) NMDA receptors and metaplasticity: Mechanisms and possible roles in neuropsychiatric disorders. Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews.